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PREFACE.

NE of the first proposals of the Council of the New

Spalding Club was to undertake the issue of a series

of histories of ancient northern families, and it was hoped the

“ Memorials of the Family of Skene of Skene,” the first

volume issued by the Club, would shortly after be followed by
“The Family of Burnett of Leys.”

In the second report of the Editorial Committee, printed in
the volume above referred to, the following statement appeared :
“Mr. George Burnett, LL.D., Lyon King of Arms, has con-
sented to compile for the Club a volume on the ancient baronial
family of Burnett of Leys, amplified and illustrated by materials
of great interest existing in this country and on the Continent.
Sir Robert Burnett, in the most liberal and gratifying manner,
has consented to give the Lyon unreserved access to his family
papers. At the hands of the last-named gentleman as Editor,
we need scarcely point out that we may look for a work peculiarly
acceptable to our members.”

Dr. Burnett intimated to the Secretary in May, 1887, that
he would require at least three years to complete the work.
He lost no time in proceeding with his researches into the history
of the family—he had already collected a good deal of material
suitable for the purpose. He selected many documents from the
Crathes Charter Chest, which were carefully copied by the late
Mr. James Anderson, M.A. These form a large part of the
Appendix of the volume. The great mass of memoranda
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and notes of searches made by Dr. Burnett show how thoroughly
he had gone into a subject which was after his own heart.
Unfortunately he was unable fully to uilize the data he had
collected, and the history is incomplete.

To the great regret of the Council of the Club, Dr. Burnett
fell into bad health long before the time he had stipulated
for had expired. He had not nearly completed the work he had
evidently sketched out in his own mind—he left no notes as to
his intentions—and his untimely “death, on the 23rd January,
1890, was deplored as a heavy loss, not only by his many friends,
but by all the members of the Club.

His MS. was made over to the Club, for whose use it had
been undertaken, and it was hoped that ere long an Editor
would be found for it. After ten years, as no one was forth-
coming, | consented, with no little diffidence, to edit the papers.
The task has turned out to be a much more difficult one, and it
has occupied more time, than [ could have anticipated. On
careful examination it became evident that the MS. was not in
the state in which Dr. Burnett would have sent it to the
printer. Several branches of the family had not been reached,
for no extended notes regarding these were to be found. It was,
however, considered desirable that what had been written out by
him should be printed, and 1 consented to become the Editor.

The materials existing on the Continent, referred to in the
report quoted above, Dr. Burnett had decided not to examine
—he meant to restrict himself to what was available in the
family records, ”

In submitting to the members of the Club the history of the
ancient family from which the late Lyon was descended, and
as nearly as possible just as he left it, it has seemed to me to
be fitting that a short notice of that most excellent and
accomplished man should appear in the Preface of a work to
which, had he lived, he would have done every justice ; and, at
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my request, Sir James Balfour Paul, Lyon King of Arms,
who succeeded Dr. George Burnett in that office, has most
kindly contributed the following memoir. It will be read with
much interest :—

‘“George Burnett was born in 1822, and was admitted a
member of the Scottish Bar in 1845. The Parliament House,
during the eighteen years he walked its boards, was the resort
of many men whose names are intimately connected with
Scottish history and literature. When Burnett first joined the
Bar, Aytoun had just been made Professor of Rhetoric in the
University of Edinburgh, Cosmo Innes in the year following
was elected to the Chair of Constitutional History in the same
University, Hill Burton was publishing his Life and Corres-
pondence of Hume, and giving evidence of that industry and
ability which afterwards made him famous as a historian. Not
only so, the systematic study of records and of family history
was ‘in the air.’ Joseph Robertson, an Aberdeenshire man like
Burnett himself, had founded the Spalding Club for illustrating
the history of the north-east counties, a task in which he was
ably seconded by another Aberdeenshire man who was also to
make a name for himself as a Record scholar, John Stuart:
David Laing, the indefatigable secretary of the Bannatyne
Club, was constantly adding to our knowledge of Scotland and
its people from the deep stores of his learning. William Fraser,
with whom Burnett was destined often to cross swords in after
life, had not yet begun to write his series of histories of the
noble families of Scotland.

“It will be understood that in conditions like these a
young man with a taste for historical research was in no
want of encouragement—and there can be no doubt that the
bent of Burnett's mind was always in that direction. History
does not record whether his fee-book, during the years in

2
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which he attended the Parliament House, ever showed any
substantial total at the end of the session. Probably it did
not: to earn the reputation of being literary, and to be thought
capable of reading anything beyond the works of the Institu-
tional writers and the authorised reports is fatal to a man’s
hopes of practice at the Bar, except in some very exceptional
cases, like that of Jeffrey. Besides, Burnett had not the forensic
aptitude : he was not of that smart, ready-witted, agile-minded
and thick-skinned type to which the successful counsel belongs.
He could argue strongly and hit hard when occasion arose, but
to do it effectually he required to have a pen in his hand, and
to arrange his thoughts in the quietness of his study. But the
years which he spent in the Parliament House were by no
means wasted. It would take a duller man than Burnett was
to fail to appreciate the immense advantages which lay at his
hand in the shape of the Advocates' Library. And so he
worked on quietly and steadily, a shy and studious man, not
much given perhaps to partaking in much of that rather
boisterous humour which is characteristic of the junior bar,
but esteemed by his contemporaries for his gentle nature and
unassuming manner.

“That he did not waste his early years at the Bar is
evident from the fact that, in 1863, after the death of Mr.
James Tytler of Woodhouselee, a brother of the historian of
Scotland, he was appointed Lyon Depute; in this position he
was practically the head of the heraldic executive in Scotland.
His titular chief was the Earl of Kinnoull, whose father had
got a grant of the office for two lives, as was then occasionally
the practice, so far back as 1796, The second holder of the
position under the patent then granted had been in possession for
nearly sixty years, but had not taken any active interest in the
work. On his death, three years later, the Lyon Office was
re-organised on a new footing, and Burnett was appointed Lyon
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King of Arms. His work in this capacity is well known to all
searchers in genealogical byeways who had occasion to seek his
assistance. It was an office for which he was pre-eminently
qualified, and he did much to restore the prestige of a position
which, owing to a variety of circumstances, had to some extent
lost the confidence of pedigree scholars. For nearly a quarter
of a century he administered the office wisely and well. Several
important Peerage cases were decided during that period, and
his assistance and advice were gladly sought and given in many
of them. Few persons were so intimately acquainted with the
Mar case as Burnett was, and in that and other instances his
trenchant pen was always ready to defend what he considered
to be the right. Two articles which he contributed to the
Journal of Jurisprudence in 1883 and 1885 conclusively show
what a profound knowledge he had of Peerage Law, and how
clearly and incisively he could communicate his knowledge. The
article on Jurisdiction in Scottish Peerages, which appeared in
the first mentioned year, is a review of Mr. Hewlett's book on
that subject, and points out with vigour and emphasis, though
with perfect courtesy, the errors into which that author fell. The
other, on the Earldom of Mar Restitution Act, which appeared
in 1885, is an excellent resumé of the history of the title, and
the circumstances which made it expedient that such an Act
should be passed.

“ But perhaps the most readable and brilliant of anything
that Burnett wrote was the little book published in 1865,
entitled « Popular Genealogists, or the Art of Pedigree Making,’
which was a scathing exposure of several perfectly mythical
pedigrees which had appeared in some of Sir Bernard Burke's
volumes, in the days when the productions of that accom-
plished and amiable Herald were not so carefully compiled
as at a later date they began to be. It is safe to say that
no more readable book on a somewhat dry subject was ever
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written than the one just mentioned. Quiet and almost timid
as Burnett appeared to the ordinary observer, he was never
more at home than when, pen in hand, he could pitch into his
adversary and rend his arguments and conclusions to tatters.
He never shirked controversy, though he never invited it. In
his ‘Red Book of Menteith Reviewed' he turned the whole
power of a pen that was epigrammatic and forceful against the
errors of that redoubtable compiler of family histories, Sir
William Fraser, in a manner which it is doubtful if the latter
ever forgot—or forgave. Another very determined controversy
was that with Mr. Joseph Foster on the subject of the Marjori-
banks pedigree. Whatever the merits of the case may have
been — it is useless to re-open the question now — Burnett
defended himself against all attacks with a vigour which never
failed to leave its mark, and often carried the war into the
enemy's camp. But it would be unfair to represent him as a
mere controversialist : he could, as we have said, hit, and hit
hard, when occasion required, but his was the eye, not of an
antagonist but of a patient scholar and expert. The Lyon
Office is expected to be a kind of encyclopadia : people come to
it from all quarters of the earth, expecting all sorts of questions
to be answered. It was seldom that they were sent empty
away. Beyond his strictly professional knowledge of pedigrees
and heraldry the Lyon possessed a vast amount of varied
information : it is said that the only time he ever confessed
himself nonplussed was when an individual entered the office
bearing a horoscope, and asked his interpretation of it. He was,
amongst other things, an accomplished musician, and much of
the musical criticism in one of the leading Edinburgh news-
papers of the day was, it is believed, from his pen.

“ Burnett left his mark on the Lyon Office, and made it once
more an efficient and reliable Heraldic Court. He would have
made it still more useful had he left more permanent records of his
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presence there ; but, like many other men, he trusted to his own
ability, memory and power of research to guide him through
each day’s work, and did not leave on record so many memoranda
as he might have done for the use of his successors in office.
Not only in the Lyon Office, but in all public offices, it is of
unspeakable importance to have recorded precedent to fall back
on in time of need. But busy men have little time for such
considerations, and Burnett was a busy man. Amid all his
strictly professional work—work of an engrossing and arduous
nature—he yet found time to undertake a task which, in itself,
would have been no light one. Shortly before his death, in
1877, Dr. John Stuart had undertaken to edit the series of the
Exchequer Rolls of Scotland, which were to be published by the
Treasury in the Lord Clerk Register’s series of Chronicles and
Memorials. On Dr. Stuart’s death Burnett was asked to under-
take the task. In 1878 the first volume was published, prefaced
by an introduction of 184 pages from his pen, and such was his
industry and enthusiasm in the work that, at the time of his
death, twelve years after, he had produced a like number of
these very interesting volumes. It is not too much to say that,
on the long period which they cover, 1264 to 1507, his introduc-
tions throw a light which has illumined the dark places of history
in a way which has enabled subsequent writers to treat of the
incidents which occurred as could not possibly have been done
before. If it were for nothing else, Burnett has placed all
students of Scottish history under a profound debt of gratitude
to him for these prefaces.

“ Holding as he did the appointment of Lyon for so long a
period, it was not to be expected that Burnett would not make
some contribution towards the literature of that department of
which he was the head in Scotland. The bent of his mind was
more towards Genealogy than Heraldry, pure and simple, but of
the latter he possessed more than a mere competent knowledge.
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He had not, perhaps, a great appreciation of what may be called
its artistic side ; of the decorative effects which may be produced
by the noble and vigorous rendering of an armorial achieve-
ment. But this is merely to say that he was not in this respect
in advance of his age. It is only in very late years that this
side of Heraldry has come to receive the appreciation which it
deserves, and that the splendid examples shown to us in the
work of the artists of the 14th and 15th centuries are beginning
to be followed. But as regards knowledge of arms, and especially
the arms of Scottish families, few were superior to the late Lyon.
Of his contributions to the subject, two may be mentioned here :
to Chambers' Encyclopedia he contributed an admirable article
on Heraldry, which, within the limits he had at his disposal, is
a carefully thought out and excellently expounded summary of
the ‘Science.

* His other work demands more emphatic notice : for long
he had been collecting material for a systematic treatise on
Heraldry, but his death occurred before he was able to put
this into shape. His MS. was then put into the hands of the
Rev. Mr. Woodward, with the view of its being prepared for
publication. This gentleman apparently found that there was
not so much matter available as had been expected, and ultimately,
according to his own statement, the MS, was handed over to
him to be utilised in any way which he might think desirable.
The result was the production of two large volumes, with a
selection of Burnett's work (in brackets), and a great deal of
Mr. Woodward’s work (without brackets). The scope of the
book was widely extended, and was really an introduction to
general European Heraldry—the editor having made Continental
armory a special study., It must be confessed that when the
book appeared it gave rise to some feeling of disappointment in
the minds of Burnet’s friends. No doubt much of his work
was there, but it was overlaid and interwoven with so much
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work that was not his that it largely lost its value as an individual
piece of exposition. It was published in 1892, with a somewhat
patronising preface (in which the very year of Burnett’s recent
death was wrongly given), and with a cover which drew forth
the scorn, not only of the critics in the press, but of all who
had elementary notions of what was fit and proper for the
clothing of such a work. Not to speak of a dreadful trophy of
helmets and spears, which made the book look more like a
popular Sunday School prize than a serious work on Heraldry,
in the top corner appeared a shield, with what were supposed to
be Burnett’s arms on it, but which were really something very
different! On the titlepage itself the name of him in whom the
inception of the book lay, and on whose foundation it was built,
was relegated to the second place, and the work appeared as
‘Woodward and Burnett's Treatise on Heraldry.” In the next
edition of the book, which appeared in 1896, Burnett’s name
disappears altogether, his special work was eliminated from the
pages, and Mr. Woodward became wholly responsible for the
contents. This he had a right to do, whatever may be thought
of the taste shown in doing it, and he gives his reasons, satis-
factory no doubt to himself, for it in his Preface, but many of
Burnett's friends felt a not unjustifiable regret that in this way
his work on Heraldry, which, though incomplete, was, so far as
it went, scholarly and interesting, should so completely disappear.
As an instance, may be mentioned the account of Heraldry in
the Highlands, and the marshalling of Scottish arms, as illus-
trated in the Douglas seals, which is found in Chapter XVI. of
the first edition, but which was omitted in the next.

“ Another, though smaller and less important, piece of literary
work which he did was the writing a series of biographical
notices of the members of the Scottish Bench and Bar, whose
portraits, sketched by Robert Scott Moncrieff of Fososway,
appeared in a volume entitled ‘ The Scottish Bar Fifty Years
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Ago.” The notices are necessarily slight, but are accurately and
carefully done.

“ A student, and almost a recluse, Burnett never sought for
honours ; but it was felt by all his friends to be only a fitting
acknowledgment of his labours when the University of Edin-
burgh conferred the degree of LL.D. on him in 1884.

“ He died—after a strenuous and useful life—on the 23rd

January, 1890."

The families which Dr. George Burnett's MSS. embrace
are those of Leys the chief line, of Balmain paternally Burnetts,
of Craigmyle now extinct in the male line, of Kemnay and of
Crimond. The Monboddo branch had not been reached, but
a genealogical table of that family had been drawn up by the
late Lyon, and particulars obtained from family papers have
been added to make the account of this branch correspond, to
some extent, with what had been written regarding the others.
As regards Lord Monboddo, perhaps the most remarkable man
of the race, his biography has yet to be written. 1 have
referred in a foot-note to various works where a short sketch
of his history is given. It will be noticed in the account of
Bishop Burnet, of the Crimond branch, that his eldest son
became Governor of New York, but left no male descendants.
It is well known, however, that there are many families of the
name in America who claim descent from Burnetts in the north-
east of Scotland, and it is matter of regret that, for the reasons
already given, none of the descendants of Burnetts who have
settled in America came within the scope of Dr. George
Burnett's researches.

For the use of the portrait of Lord Monboddo, of which
a beautiful reproduction will be found amongst the illustrations,
.l beg to thank Capt. Burnett of Monboddo, whe kindly placed
it at my disposal.  The other illustrations of the volume have
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been presented by Sir Thomas Burnett, Bart., to whom the
Club is much indebted, and to whom my own thanks are
especially due for the great assistance he has rendered me.

I desire to record my obligations to the Secretary of the
Club for the ready help at all times given me, and also for his
kindness in furnishing abstracts of the various Latin documents
which appear in the Appendix.

For the Index I am indebted to my daughter, Miss Mabel
D. Allardyce.

The editing of such a MS. as has fallen to me to deal with
can scarcely be satisfactory. I trust the members of the Club
will make allowances for the difficulties that had to be met.

J. A.

CULQUOICH, 20tk June, 1901.
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THE FAMILY OF BURNETT OF LEYS

CHAPTER L
SOUTHERN ANCESTORS.

HOUGH the reign of Robert Bruce is the period when the

Burnards (afterwards Burnetts) began first to be connected

with the district of Scotland whose history and antiquities the New

Spalding Club is intended to illustrate, it is hardly inappropriate to

begin by touching briefly on what genealogical research has brought to

light regarding the progenitors of the family in an earlier age in England
and the South of Scotland.

There is proof, amounting to moral certainty, that the Saxon family
of Burnard, which flourished in England before the Conquest, were the
progenitors of the first Alexander Burnard who settled on Deeside.
With the help of the Domesday Survey, the Chartulary of St. Neots,
(MS. Cotton. Faust A. iv.), and certain Charters of the Abbey of Waltham,
relating to their portion of the Manor of Alrichesey or Arlesey in Bedford-
shire, we have materials for giving a genealogy of the family from the
Conquest to the thirteenth century. A number of possessions, in different
counties, which had belonged in the reign of Edward the Confessor to
Athelstan of Boscombe (in Wiltshire), a thane of that king (including a
portion of the above-named Manor of Arlesey), were transferred by the
Conqueror to William de Ow, whose name is in various entries in the
Domesday Survey, coupled with that of Burnard as his mesne tenant.
Burnard held of the same lord the above-named Manor of Arlesey; in
Hampshire an unnamed manor, in Rodedic hundred ; in Wiltshire the

B
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Manors of Cholderton (Celdraton, Chalvertoun), and Codford ; and at
Haneslawe, in Bedfordshire, he is named as the holder of a hide of land
from Azelina, wife of Ralph Taillebosc.

The son in all probability of the Domesday tenant, “ ROGERUS
FILIUS BURNARDL” bestowed, in the reign of Henry I, on the monks
of St. Neots various portions of the Bedfordshire and Wiltshire manors
held by his father. The St. Neots Chartulary has preserved the Christian
names of his two wives, Rohays, who predeceased, and Elita, who
survived him. Two younger sons of this Roger are alluded to in the
Waltham Charters, Gilbert and Stephen (with his sons, Walter and
Nicholas), and from the St. Neots Chartulary we learn that another
younger son founded a branch of the family seated at Beston, in the
county of Bedford,

RoGER BURNARD, eldest son of this Roger, was at least equally with
his father a benefactor to St. Neots, on-which he bestowed the churches
of Boscumbe, Cheldreton, Cotford, and Eddeworth, for the souls of his
father and mother, whose bodies rest there. His wife’s name is given as
Margaret. Roger's son—

Opo BurNArD, confirmed the above gifts, granted various charters
to Waltham, and was alive in 1192 ; and in Odo’s seals attached to the
Waltham documents lies the chiefl evidence that the Burnards of Wilt-
shire and Bedfordshire were progenitors of the Burnetts of the North.
Armorial seals were then a novelty, and only used by families of more
than ordinary consideration. Two seals of Odo are extant, the earlier
has the device of a leaf not within a shield, but in the later seal of
strictly armorial character are three leaves placed on an escutcheon.

RoOGER BURNARD, Odo's son and successor, had, we learn, remonstrated
against the presentation by the Prior of St. Neots of an incumbent to the
church of Eddesworth, and a letter has been preserved from his mother,
Matilda Burnard, withdrawing his objection on becoming aware that that
church had been bestowed on St. Neots by her husband’s predecessor.

In 1230, we find in the St. Neots Chartulary, Matilda, widow ot
William Burnard of the Beston branch, and Robert and Richard, her sons.

Further mention is found inthe Testade Nevill (p.247) of Roger Burnard,
holding various feus, partly those above-mentioned, in Bedfordshire and
Wiltshire, of the Earl Marshal, who had come in place of William de Ow.
Material may possibly exist for tracing the pedigree of those Burnards
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further. For a long time past the name Burnard has not been connected
with land in the counties alluded to: but it is still to be found in the
common walks of life.

The most learned Scottish genealogist of the present century, John
Riddell, referring to an article on the Arlesey estates of the Abbey of
Waltham in the Collectanca Topographica et Genmealogica (Nol. 6), from
which much of the foregoing information is derived,* expressed himself
thus in a letter of 1oth February, 1857, to the late Sir James Burnett :—
“These English authorities carry the family back to a more ancient
period than that of the Norman Conquest, and earlier than in Scotland
as yet known by existing vouchers. I have little doubt that, as stated in
your pedigree, Burnard is of Saxon origin, and hence even prior to the
Conquest, the surname first appearing in England.”

In the twelfth century Burnards appear among the numerous English
who came to Scotland in the train of David I. They are found owning
the very considerable barony of Farningdoun, or Fairnington, in the
county and parish of Roxburgh, and figure during the 13th century as
benefactors of Melrose and other religious houses. About the year 1200,
Roger Burnard made two grants from his lands of Farningdoun to the
monks of Melrose, one of them witnessed by his sons, Geoffrey, Ralph,
Walter and Richard (Cart. Melr., 75, 76). These grants were afterwards
confirmed by Alexander II. and Alexander III. About 1208, Ralph
Burnard, son and heir of Roger, granted to the Bishop of Glasgow fuel
from his peateries of Farningdoun for his house of Alnecrumb (Reg.
Episc. Glasg., pp. 99, 100).

Walter Burnet occurs in the reign of William the Lion as witness to
a charter of Stephen de Blair to the monks of Cupar (Rental Bk, i, 333).
Sir Richard Burnard, and Symon of Fard, Steward of Farningdoun, witness
a charter in 1250 (Cart. Melr., p. 306). A Patrick Burnard, probably onc
of the family, held lands near Gordon in Berwickshire in 1250. In 1252
(Zbid., p. 299), Richard Burnard, “dominus de Farningdoun,” sold to the
Abbey of Melrose his meadow of Farningdoun, called Eastmeadow, a sale
which was confirmed the same year by Alexander III, the charter of sale
having appended to it a seal with a single leaf, like the earlier seal of

*The reader who is specially interested in this subject is recommended to peruse, in
detail, this valuable article, the writer of which seems to have known nothing about the
Scottish Burnetts, who are never alluded to.
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Odo Burnard. In 1264, one Henry Burnet, whose connection with the
family is not known, was serviens justiciarii (Exch. Rolls, i., 4). The fact
that we know this roll, and also the charter to the monks of Cupar, only
from a copy of later date, may in both instances account for the modern
orthography of the name.

The Rotuli Scotiz [1., 10] contains a grant by Edward, as Superior of
Secotland, to the Bishop of Glasgow, of date rith September, 1292, of
the custody of the lands of the deceased Roger Burnard of £10 15s. 9d.
per annum extent till the majority and marriage of his son and heir, and
the marriage of his widow.

In 1338, 1354 and 1358 the name of John Burnard, “dominus de
Farningdoun,” appears as witnessing charters. After that date we lose
any trace of the connection of Burnards with Farningdoun. In 1381,
Richard 11. claimed the barony of Farningdoun as his own, and in 1581
and 1585 James V1. ratified an infeftment of Francis, Earl of Bothwell,
in Farningdoun. In 1647 it became the property of Rutherfords.

The surname of Burneville appears in Scotland in the 12th century,
and the Burnevilles have sometimes been wrongly supposed to be
ancestors of the Burnetts, This idea seems to have originated with
the Burnetts of Barns, in Peebleshire, who at one time contested the
chieftainship with Leys. As far back as the 15th century this branch of
the Burnett family possessed a small portion of land in the parish of
Manor, in that county, named after them Burnetland, of which local name
the Burnevilla occasionally appearing in charters (once only under the
form of Burnetvilla) has been regarded as a translation. Such a
latinization is, however, hardly accordant with analogy. Or Burneville
was probably the equivalent of Burntoun. William of Burntoun was
Mayor of Berwick-on-Tweed from 1333 to 1336. Nisbet alludes to the
foundation of a chaplainry in the church of Manor of 1400 by John
Burnet “of that 11k" the founder being undoubtedly John Burnet of
Burnetland, and the progenitor of the Burnetts of Barns. The lands of
Barns, which seem to have belonged to this family from at least the
closing part of the 15th century, and eventually became their principal
possession, were alienated by the late representative, James Burnett of
Barns, in 1838. His last surviving son, Mr. Montgomery Burnett, who
di?d igth March, 1887, was the author in 1843 (2nd ed., 1882) of a
privately printed and carefully compiled account of the Burnetts of
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Barns, which, excepting only the blemish in the adoption of the untenable
Burneville theory, is an excellent family record.

The Burnetts of Burnetland and Barns were beyond reasonable
doubt an offshoot from the Burnards of Farningdoun. The arms borne
by them were those of the English Burnards, and we find them down to
a late date (1585) called from time to time Burnard.

The house of Barns, like that of Leys, produced a prelate of some
note, Alexander Burnett, who was Bishop of Aberdeen, 1663 ; Archbishop
of Glasgow, 1664 ; of St. Andrews, 1679 ; and died 1684.

Before quitting the Burnetts of the South of Scotland, allusion may
be made to one, John Burnard, probably of the Farningdoun family,
owner of half Ardrop in Fife, and a third of Currie in Midlothian, who
accompanied David II. in that ill-advised and unfortunate march south-
wards, which culminated in the crushing defeat of Durham and captivity
of the King. In the course of the expedition David captured the fort of
Liddell, held against him by Walter Selby. Burnard was severely
wounded during the assault, and had to be left behind in a dying state at
Roxburgh, The disaster at Durham was immediately followed by the
surrender of Roxburgh Castle to the English—in which fortress Burnard
died. In the disorganization of public affairs that followed, it came to be
believed that Burnard was a traitor, who had voluntarily joined the
enemy, and his estates were forfeited and bestowed on Alexander
Manteland or Maitland (Robertson Missing Charters, 31, 39; 36, 40).
On the true state of matters being represented to David after his return
from captivity, the grant to Maitland was revoked, and the lands in
question restored to Burnard’s kinsman and nearest heir, William of
Dishington. (Reg. Mag. Sig,, L, p. 62, No. 197. Acts of Scots Parlia-
ment, [, p. 172.)



CHAPTER II.
DEESIDE BURNETTS.

. ALEXANDER BURNARD.

S soon as Bruce was firmly established in his kingdom, he began

to recompense those adherents who had been faithful to him

in the struggle for independence, both from the forfeited estates of the
partisans of England and from what had hitherto been the Crown
possessions, In Aberdeenshire and Kincardineshire there was a large
inversion in the ownership of land, and among other new settlers were
the ancestors of two families whose early history is, for a time, somewhat
intermingled, and who are remarkable as having continued down to the
present time to flourish side by side on the banks of the Dee, in posses-
sion to a large extent of the lands originally granted to them, namely,
William of Irvine and Alexander Burnard. The former came from the
south-west of Scotland, where his surname was a local one, and where a
separate branch of his family has continued to survive at Bonshaw in
Dumfries-shire. The latter, doubtless, was a member of the Farningdoun
family, perhaps one of the sons of the Roger, the custody of whose lands
had been committed to the Bishop of Glasgow ; but we know little of
his history, and can only judge by the extent of land granted him that
he had rendered considerable services to the King, in other ways besides
those about to be alluded to connected with the park of Drum. Of
Irvine it is known (from the Exchequer Records) that he held the office
of Clerk Register (clericus rotulorum et register). He is also believed to

have been the King’s secretary, and a man of unusual learning and
culture for a layman,
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Drum had been a royal forest before the War of Succession, and part
of that forest had been converted into a park soon after Bruce's peaceable
settlement. Another portion of this forest had been bestowed on Burnard
before 1st February, 1322-3, as appears by a grant of that date in the
Drum charter chest of that portion of the forest which is not included in
the park to William of Irwyn and his heirs, “exceptis terris per nos
datis Alexandro dicto Burnardo de eadem foresta” (Antig. Ab, Banff,
III., 292). 'On 28th March, 1323, a charter was granted to Alex-
ander Burnard proceeding on the narrative that the custody of the
Forest of Drum, at first granted to Burnard, had been transferred to
William of Irwyn: and the King grants to Burnard for his aid in
making the aforementioned park Killenachclerach, and certain other
lands in the said forest, described by boundaries set forth at length ;
also, in compensation for the loss of the forestership, the six merk lands
of Easter and Wester Cardney, also described by their boundaries. The
reddendo is a chalder of oatmeal to be paid to the King for the keeping
up of the park.

The name of Killenachclerach survives in Collonach and Canneglerach,
Of the lands in the forest here conveyed, the Dee was the southern
boundary from the ford of Durris to the mouth of the stream (now
called Bennie), issuing from the Loch of Banchory (the now drained
Loch of Leys). The west boundary, following the course of this stream,
in¢ludes the loch and island of Banchory (Leys), and, though some of
the landmarks given can no longer be identified, the northern boundary
adjoins the marches of Tillibothville. Easter and Wester Cardney,
extending towards the Loch of Skene, are a little disjoined from the other
subjects, and are not distinctly asserted to have been royal property.®

Two years later, on 2gth January, 1324-5, Alexander Burnard had a
second charter, conveying apparently lands that had come into the
King’s hands by the forfeiture of the Cumyns, namely, Tullibothil, in
the Sheriffidom of Kincardine, and the barony of Little Culter in that of
Aberdeen, described as formerly belonging to John of Walchope, “pro
homagio et servicio.”

* A (ranscript exists of a Charter by Robert Bruce to Sir Alexander Fraser of Cluny,
dated 18th June, 1325, of our lands of the Cardneys, with the tenandry in the same, helonging
to Alexander Burnard, and the fishing on the Loch of Skene belonging to these lands (Antig. of
Aberdeen and Banff, I11L, 316, rom Gordon Charter Chest). .
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Tullibothil, whose ancient boundaries are alluded to in the previous
charter, is shewn by later charters to be identical in whole or in part
with Kilduthie, lying two or three miles north of Crathes Castle. Little
Culter, again, lay castward of the lands conveyed to William of Irvine.
A family of Wauchope can be traced as landholders on Deeside in the
reigns of the Alexanders, and there are at Crathes several transcripts
of a charter by Alexander 1I. to Robert of Walchope, son of Alan
Walchope, for homage and service of the lands of Tulimacboythne.
The boundaries are minutely described and extended, even as far as
the Loch of Banchory.

The heiress of the Wauchopes married Comyn of Inverallochy,
whose family, though unlike most of the Comyns, allowed to retain
a large share of their possessions, seem to have had the portion taken
from them which was bestowed on Burnard. There is, however, some
obscurity as to the continued possession of Tilleboy and Little Culter by
the Comyns as heirs to the Wauchopes, which will be alluded to below.

Neither of these two charters to Alexander Burnard has been preserved.
Their exact tenor is known by confirmations of each granted by David I1.
to the same Alexander Burnard in 1358, quoting the original at length.
The confirmation of the earlier writ is in the Crathes charter room, that
of the latter is in existence only in a notarial transcript in the same
repository.  Both are printed in the Appendix, and the former fac-
similed. King Alexander’s charter to Robert Wauchope will also be
found in the Appendix,

The only mention of Alexander Burnard in the extant Exchequer
accounts of that date (which are very defective) is the note of a gift to
him by the King of £13 4s. 8d. (in Account of Customs of Aberdeen,
Jan,, 1327.8, Exch. Roll, L, p. 9g).

Incidental mention has been made of the island in the Loch of
Banchory, which, with the loch itself, was conveyed in the charter of
1323. The loch, which had already been curtailed of its old dimensions
in the earlier part of the last century, was completely drained in the year
1850. The foundations were then laid bare, both of the island itself and
of an ancient building on it. The island was artificial, constructed of
earth and stones laid on a substratum of oak and birch trees, a circuit of
oak piles having been driven in to protect it from the action of the water.
It measured about 200 feet by 100 feet, and rose about 10 feet from the
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bottom of the loch, and had on it the foundations of the ancient dwellings
called crannogs.

The word crannog may to some readers suggest only a structure of
prehistoric times, but there is clear evidence that these ancient buildings,
altered and modified so as to meet the requirements of later times,
continued to be used as fortresses and habitations, not in Ireland only,
but in some parts of Scotland, to as late a period as the seventeenth
century. Directions are contained in an Act of the Scottish Privy
Council in 1608 for the surrender to the King of the “haill houssis of
defence, strongholds and ¢ranafkss in the Ylis,” pertaining to McConnell
of Dunyvaig and McLean of Dowart (Reg. Priv. Coun,, viii., 737).

The building in question has been conjectured to have been a fortalice
of the Wauchopes before the time of Bruce’s wars, a supposition which
there is some difficulty in reconciling with its inclusion in the charter of
lands within the Forest of Drum, though Wauchope’s lands as defined
in a charter of Alexander II. certainly adjoin it.

An interesting account of the crannog was given in a paper by the
late Dr. John Stuart in the Proceedings of the Society of Antiquaries of
Scotland, Vol. 6. (see Appendix). But, whatever its early history, there is
strong reason for believing that a building on the site of the old crannog
was the seat or stronghold of Alexander Burnard and his successors
down to the middle of the sixteenth century, when Crathes Castle was
begun. Its occupation during that period was proved by the fact that in
the course of the draining operations there were found buried below the
bottom of the lake some bronze pots or cooking utensils, of which several
were presented to the Society of Antiquaries, and four are now at Crathes,
Those in the Museum of the Society of Antiquaries have been pronounced
by archzological experts to be not earlier than the fourteenth, nor later
than the sixteenth, century.

The successor and probably eldest son of Alexander was—
I

SYMON BURNARD, whose son—
II1.

WILLIAM BURNARD, had, on 26th December, 1378, a charter from
Robert II. (now at Crathes and facsimiled), on the resignation of his
C
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father, Symon, of all the lands held by the said Symon in the Forest of
Drum, * faciendo inde servicium debitum et consuetum.” The records of
Parliament allude to a dispute between David of Graeme and William
Burnard about the possession of Kynnater, in which Burnard was in
February, 1369-70, not found to have had lawful sasine,

The chalder of meal which is the reddendo in the charter of 1323
seems to have been assigned by the King to John Moygne. Among the
Drum writs is a charter by Moygne to his friend, Alexander Irwyn of
Drum, of a chalder of meal, payable by William, called Burnard, of date
1393, The name of William Burnet occurs in 1417, as one of the assize
on a perambulation of marches between Tarves and Udny (Reg. Nig. de
Arbr, p. 50), and in 1418 as one of the assize on the service of Murdoch
Glaster in Glack (Reg. Episc. Aberd,, 1, 216), but this William, in one or
both of these writs, may possibly be William Burnard of Gask.*

The next representative of the family—

IV.

ROBERT BURNARDE, very probably son of William, who in 13901
renders an account as Deputy-Sheriff of Kincardine, the principal
Sheriff being Sir William Keith (Exch. Rolls, 111, 264). Robert Burnat
(probably the same) was on 24th April, 1400, one of the Assize on an
inquest before the bailie of the regality of Arbroath on the succession of
Alexander of Ouchterlony to his father (Reg. Nig. de Arbr., p. 47).

V.

JouN BURNET “of Leyis” was present at a deposition of date
22nd September, 1446, regarding the mortgaging of Easter Skene to
Sir William Keith Marischel (Antiq. Ab. Banff, I11., 321). The designa-
tion of Leyis is met here for the first time—and Leys in charters from

*That John Burnard, macer, who was made a connecting link in the pedigree in Burke’s
/'4'.011;‘{, may have been a son or grandson of Alexander Burnard, is rendered probable from his
hrxfng mentioned in connection with this district. He had an annuity from the Two Carnousies
which was struck at (nominally) by David’s revocation of 1367 (Acts of Parliament of Scoll:\nd'
L, p. 144). ,Tht same annuity was, in 1370, granted on his resignation to Richard Comyr;
(Reg. Mag. Sig., L., 74, No. 257). In the account of the bailies of Aberdeen, dated roth

Feb., 1372-3, a payment of 26s. 84, is made Iy i
, s . 8d, ade mandate of the K i
clavigero (Exch. Rolls, I1,, oy ¥ ¢ of the King, Johanni Burnard,
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this date onward is applied sometimes generally to the lands in the
Forest of Drum, called Killenachclerach, in the charter of 1323, some-
times more specifically, to the portion of them immediately adjoining the
Loch of Banchory. From about this date the surname of the family
becomes less uniform—Burnat, Burnet, Burnate, and Bornat being all
frequently found. John died between Whitsunday and Martinmas, 1454,
and was succeeded by (probably his son)—

VI

ALEXANDER BURNARD of Leys, who continued in possession for
half-a-century (1454-1505), and was, as will be seen, the first “ Baron of
Leys” during the reigns of James IIL., III,, and IV. Lord Keith, in his
account rendered oth July, 1455, debits himself with £6 13s. 4d., being
one term’s fermes, “liberi tenementi de Leyis,” in the King’s hands at
the Martinmas term preceding, sasine not having been yet recovered,
and with two chalders of meal as double blench ferme of Leyis on his
sasine, the Sheriff being directed by the Exchequer Auditors to certify
whether the blench ferme of one chalder meal was really the reddendo of
Leyis, or a larger blench ferme that had been paid in times past (Exch.
Rolls, VI, 83).

The blench ferme of a chalder of meal had, as has been seen, come
to be paid by the Crown to Irvine of Drum as keeper of the Park of
Drum ; but, three years after his succession, on 2nd March, 1457-8, this
laird of Leys acquired for himself a right to the chalder in question by
the surrender of a portion of land to Drum. Among the Leys writs is
a charter of excambion of date 2nd March, 1457-8, by Alexander Irvine
of Drum, conveying to his dearest cousin, Alexander Burnet of Leys, a
chalder of meal of annual rent due from Wester Cardney and Leys,
belonging to the said Alexander, in exchange for a piece of land and
water then belonging to the south side of the Park of Drum. The
precept for Burnard’s infeftment of the same date has also been preserved.

The fatal conspiracy by which James I11. lost his throne and his life
is trite matter of history. The Earl of Angus and other chief actors in
the émeute at Lauder Bridge, persuaded that, whatever outward recon-
ciliation had been effected between them and the King, their conduct
was really past forgiveness, set themselves, in 1488, with the help of
England, to organize a fresh revolutionary movement; and gaining,
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through the treachery of Schaw of Sauchy, the posséssion of the young
Prince, now in his 15th year, inflamed his ambition with the prospect of
a crown, and used every artifice in their power to poison his mind against
his father. Abetted by the Humes and Hepburns, and Lord Gray, Lyle,
and Drummond, Angus proclaimed war in the Prince’s name against the
King, and the southern part of the kingdom soon became a scene of
violence and revolt. The northern nobles, however, were, as a rule,
faithful and loyal: and James, by a sudden move, made his way through
Angus to Aberdeen, where he found himself at the head of a large
following, with whom he returned southwards. The sequel is well
known ; negotiations at Blackness, followed by a new outbreak, and the
death of the King at the hand of one of the insurgents on the fatal St.
Barnabas day, 11th June. Equally well known is the devotedness, after
the disastrous day of Sauchie, of the people of Aberdeenshire to the
cause of their late Sovereign—and Lord Forbes' progress through the
country, displaying the bloody shirt of James IIL to incite the multitude
to rise against his murderers, The Crathes charter room contains
evidence that when James thus retired northwards, the laird of Leys
was among his friends and supporters. At Aberdeen, on 23rd April,
1488, Alexander Burnet resigned his whole lands into the King’s hands,
and two days later he received a charter under the Great Seal (then in
the possession of Bishop Elphinstone, who had been appointed Chancellor
in supersession of Argyll) uniting the lands of Leys, Killenaglerach,
Cullonach, The Hill, Candahill, Crathes with mill, and Drumsallach with
Loch of Banchory and Island, in the Sherifidom of Aberdeen, with
Wester Cardney, into one free barcny, the reddendo being one penny
silver at the head messuage of the lands and barony of Leys at the
Festival of Whitsunday. There is a precept of the same date directed
to the Bishop of Aberdeen, and an attestation in place of sasine, infefting
him in the barony of Canegleroch, in the Sheriffidom of Kincardine, and
Wester Cardney, in the Sheriffidom of Aberdeen, united into one free
bt'm)ny in terms of the King’s charter and precept, and dated apud
villam de Leyis.”

This charter of barony, like others of its date, is not in the extant
l(chstfar of the Great Seal—but it was not (as will be seen) treated in
;nflcn.' times as if struck at by the Act of the first Parliament of James 1V,
rcscllndllng all gifts of James 111, subsequent to 2nd February, 1487-8, in
prejudice of “the crown that now is.”
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It was about this time that we first find a close connection subsisting
between the Burnets and the Abbey of Arbroath, In former times the
Burnards on both sides of the Border were best known by their bene-
factions to the monasteries—but the relations of the Burnets of the 15th
century to the church were somewhat different in kind, The age of
munificent church endowments was past; the Abbeys had reached their
climax of wealth and influence ; the period of the decline of their power
being not far off. The monastery of Tyronensian monks, founded in
1178 at Arbroath by William the Lion, had been, during the pre-Bruceian
period, gradually adding to the large possessions with which the King had
endowed it by private benefactions, and held the whole in free regality,
with Sovereign power over the people, and immense emoluments derived
from criminal jurisdiction. One of the twenty-four churches with which
its original founder had endowed it was Banchory-Ternan. The lands of
this Abbey, which comprised a large part of Angus and Mearns,
extended at one point as far northwards as Donside, and bordered on
the possessions of the Burnets. They included various acquisitions from
Thomas of Lundin, the Doorward, including the forest land at the
junction of the Dee and Canny, known then, as part of it now is, as the
“nemus de Trostauch.” It was the policy of this religious house to be
on friendly terms with the magnates of the district, the greatest of whom
were, during the ffteenth century, numbered among the vassals and
tenants of the Abbot of Arbroath, the barons obtaining, on evidently
favourable terms, the lands which they held on free charter or lease.

Incidental mention is made of this Alexander Burnet in the Arbroath
Chartulary as early as 1460, as on an inquest regarding the multures of
the Mill of Conweth belonging to the Abbey (Reg. Nig. de Arbr, p. 115),
and in 1472, when, along with Alexander Fraser of Durris, he is bailie of
the Abbot to execute a precept of sasine in Banchory (/bid, p. 167).
In 1482 the same Alexander Burnet has a nine years tack from the
Abbot David * of the greater tithes of the church of Banchory-Ternan,
for a tack duty of £15 (/4id, p. 192). In 1485 he has a lease for life,
from the same Abbot David, to himself and Elizabeth, his wife, of the
lands and mills of Glenfarquhar (near Bervie Water, in the parish of
Fordoun), of which he is said to have been in possession *temporibus

* The friendly relations with Abbot David Lechton (1482-1502) were cemented by the
marriage of one of the Lechton family to Ley’s grandson and heir.
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retroactis " (/bid, p. 218). This lease is renewed in 1497 for the joint
lives of himself, Alexander, his eldest son, and Alexander, his grandson,
the tack duty being £8, to be raised after his death to £10, with other
services and burdens, “ac eciam ducet sex onera equorum de lignis
cinctoriorum, videlicet le gyrthsteyngis granitario nostro . . . vasis
nostre brasine aptis” (/4id.,, 304).

From 1483 onwards we find Alexander Burnet of Leys witness to
various charters, 2,2, in 1491, to a rather curious agreement regarding the
bell of St. Ternan at Banchory, between the vicar and one John Stalkare
(Reg. Episc. Aberd, 1, 327); in 1487, to the marriage contract of one of
the Drum family with a Gordon of Midmar; and, in 1493, along with his
eldest son, to a provision made by the laird of Drum for his children by
one Nanny Menzies (Drum Charter Chest, and Selections from the Burgh
Records of Aberdeen, Spalding Club, [, 51). In 1490 he has a transac-
tion with the same laird of Drum about water supply to a mill. A mill
of Burnet's, near his march with Irvine, had—as frequently happened in
those days—been destroyed by floods. Instcad of rebuilding it, he
agreed that Drum should erect on his own grounds a mill at Newhall,
which was to come in its place, Drum giving a grant of common pasture
for 16 oxen and cows and 32 sheep, at a reddendo of 1d,, in return for
the water supply to this newly-built mill. It is stipulated that if Drum
or his heirs contravene, he is to pay a penalty of £40, and allow the
water to run towards Burnet’s old mill.

Elizabeth, the lady of Leys, mentioned in the 1485 tack of Glen-
farquhar, seems to have been a Forbes of Echt* and widow of one
Alexander Riock. The omission of her name in the later Glenfarquhar
lease suggests that she was dead before 1497. Alexander Burnet died
shortly before 15th July, 1505 (Antiq. Ab. Banff, 111, 341), leaving issue,
besides his heir Alexander, a son Andrew, witness to a sasine in 1507
(/bid., 1V, 740), and a daughter, Christian, who in 1480 or 1481 married,
in terms of a papal dispensation on the ground of propinquity, Alexander
Cumyn, eldest son of William Cumyn of Culter.t Notwithstanding this

* [Daughter of Alexander Forbes, and of Echt, as appears from a MS. genealogy of the
Forbeses of Echit in possession of the Editor,—]J. A.]

1 Nisbet gives the following account of this marriage, Appendix, p. §7. Cumin of Coulter.
. \ \.\'I“L’llll Cumin, who married Elizabeth Meldrum, daughter to Sir William Meldrum of
“ Fyvie, Knight, and with her begot Alexander, his eldest son, and William Cumin his second !
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marriage, and the previous propinquity alluded to in the dispensation,
the relations between the two families seem to have been by no means
friendly. It has been seen that Tilliboy and Little Culter are described
in the charter of 1324-5, conveying them to Alexander Burnard, as
formerly the property of John of Walchop. It is rather left to be
understood, than distinctly specified, that they had come into the King’s
hands by forfeiture, and it is not specified by whose forfeiture, A
bounding charter was, as already noted, granted to Robert, son of Alan
of Walchop, by Alexander II. in 1247 of Tilliboy, Culter, and Ardboik,
including the lands in question, The heiress of the Walchop family
had, late in the 13th century, married Comyn of Inverallochy, and the
forfeiture may have been in his time, or his son’s. But it is clear that—
by some transaction of which we are ignorant—the Comyns soon
recovered Culter and Tilliboy, the "Burnets, however, not thoroughly
acquiescing in their possession of these lands. William Comyn of
Inverallochy and Culter was, at all events, so dissatisfied with his eldest
son for uniting himself with a daughter of a family with whom he was
at feud, that he threatened to disinherit him, and devolve both his
paternal estates and those derived from the Wauchopes on a younger
son, William. To defeat his father’s purpose, Alexander Comyn entered
to a Bond of Manrent and Maintenance with Alexander Irwyn of Drum,
of date 19th August, 1478, That document set forth how his father had
“shaped him of evil imagination and false suggestion” to disinherit him
both as to his “auld heritage and new conquests,” and Drum as his
“chief,” binds himself to defend him in both as he would defend his own
heritage of Drum, and “fortify him both late and air in judgment as he
should defend his man and kinsman.”* As the price of this protection,
Drum was to get 100 merks, the first payment to be made out of his
“marriage gudis,” and his marriage is “to be completed, God willing, in

““the eldest married Christian Burnet, daughter to the Laird of Leys, his near kinswoman, and
‘““for the consanguinity procured a dispensation from the Pope, dated 11th January, 1480, now
““in the hands of Cumin of Coulter. His father, William, disliking the marriage, did dispose
‘“to his second son, William, the lands of Inverallachie and others he then had in Buchan, and
““reserved only the barony of Coulter with the pertinents to his eldest son,”

* Alexander Comyn’s grandmother had been an Irvine. Drum, as has been previously
observed, calls Leys as well as Comyn his kinsman. If the mother or grandmother of the
latter had been an Irvine, the consanguinity between the Comyns and Burnets would be accounted
for, which made the papal dispensation necessary.
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all possible haste.” There is a further provision that on the death of his
father, and his entry to Tilliboy and Culter, he is to infeft Drum in these
lands (Antiq. Ab. Banff, II1,, 338).

Alexander Comyn'’s father died soon after this bond was entered into,
but had, in his lifetime, succeeded, in despite of Drum, in alienating
Inverallochy to his younger son. Christian Burnett’s husband, however,
got Tilliboy and Culter, and transmitted them to his son, another
Alexander Comyn, who was served heir to him on 1st February, 1504-5
(Ibid, 111, 340). On sth July following, this younger Alexander Comyn
made a formal protest before Alexander Bannerman of Waterton, Sheriff-
Depute of Aberdeen, that his charter of the baronies of Culter and
Tilliboy, under the seal of Alexander II, had been deposited for security
in the custody of his lately deceased grandfather, Alexander Burnet of
Leys, and had, when in his possession, the seal abstracted, to his serious
prejudice, a fact of which the Bishop of Aberdeen (Elphinstone) had
made him aware.

Following a little further the fortunes of this Alexander Comyn, he
resigned Culter and Tilliboy into the hands of James IV, just before
Flodden, for a new charter incorporating them into the barony of Culter
Cumyn, the precept being directed to the then lairds of Leys and Drum
and their respective sons—and we hear of no more assertion of right to
Culter by the Burnetts.

VIL

ALEXANDER BURNET of Leys (1505-1520), son of the last, is found
in inquests and on services in his father’s lifetime in 1493, 1495, and 1498
(Antiq. Ab, Banff, 111,, 301, 335; IV, 78). Beforc 1481 he was married
to janet Gardine, and had from his father on 28th May of that year a
grant to himsell and his wife of Canneglerocht, a pendicle of Leys, of
which for some generations it became the practice to put the eldest son
in possession. (A crown confirmation of this charter followed on 2nd
June, 1481, Reg. Mag. Sig.) Both in his father’s lifetime and afterwards
his name is of frequent occurrence as witness to charters, and as on assize
in services, [IHis sasine in the barony of Leys, of date 1oth November,
1505, on retour and precept, is at Crathes. He retained all his father’s
acquisitions by way of tack from the monastery of Arbroath, and added
to them. He had Glenfarquhar under the lease of 1497 for his own life
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and that of his eldest son. The tack of the tithes of Banchory was
renewed to him in 15035, 1525, 1528, for terms 19, 11, and 19 years
respectively (Reg. Nig. de Arbr., pp. 352, 449, 488). The tack duty was,
as in his father’s time, £93 6s. 8d.; but he was taken bound to keep in
repair the church and choir of Banchory. In the renewal in 1525 his
sons, Alexander and “Master” Duncan, were conjoined with him ; that
of 8th October, 1528 (shortly before which date his eldest son had died,
leaving issue), was taken to Alexander Burnet of Leys, Master Duncan
Burnet, his son, and Alexander Burnet of Canneglerocht, his grandson.
Another subject held by him was Pettinkerry, in the barony of Banchory-
Ternan, of which he had on 2oth July, 1505, a 19 years’ lease from the
Abbot of Arbroath (/éid., p. 353). He died shortly before October,
1529.

The wife of this laird of Leys, Janet Gardine, belonged to a then
flourishing family in Angus, Gardine of that Ilk, who had been notable
benefactors of the monastery of Arbroath.

A younger son of the marriage, named Duncan, a churchman, has
been mentioned in connection with his father’s tacks of the tithes of
Banchory. In 1529 (29th April) he gets a 19 years’ renewal of his
father’s tacks of Pittenkerrie, as also tacks (16th July) from the Abbot
of Arbroath of Brathenche and of Kinneskie, both in the parish of
Banchory, one for seven the other for two merks, in each case conjointly
with his nephew, Alexander Burnet of Canneglerocht, who is said to have
before occupied Kynnesky, and a few weeks later became laird of Leys, and
was the builder of Crathes Castle (/674., pp. 490, 494). Duncan had been
vicar of Kirkintilloch in the Lennox ; and on 8th July, 1529, he was pre-
sented by King James V. prospectively to the rectory of Methlick, which
was a canonry or prebend of Aberdeen Cathedral, as soon as a vacancy
should occur by the resignation of the then incumbent, Master James
Lyn (Privy Seal Reg.). As early as 1537 his name often occurs in the
chartulary of the Diocese of Aberdeen as canon of Aberdeen and rector
of Methlick. In virtue of his office he had a mause in Old Aberdeen,
which, according to Orem’s Hizstory, was situated on the west side of the
Chanonry, next to the manse of the rector of Kincardine. As a church-
man, Duncan seems to have left a good repute behind him. The
chartulary of Aberdeen contains a letter from James V., of date 23rd
December, 1540, praying the Bishop to consent to a mortification of two

D
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marks yearly from the prebend of Methlick for mass to be said for the
King and for the said Master Duncan ; also, of date 29th April, 1541,
the charter of a foundation in favour of the choral vicars and chaplains
of two marks yearly out of the manse, canonry, and prebend of Methlick,
for an annual mass to be said from the day of his death. The fee of the
chaplain is to be 24s.; of the sacrist for ringing the bells and placing the
wax candles on the altar, 2s.; and of the “praco,” 8d.* (Reg. Episc.
Aberd,, I, 417). In the Obituary of Aberdeen Cathedral, probably by a
nearly contemporary hand, the 22nd June, 1552, is given as the anniver-
sary for the souls of Master Duncan Burnet and his parents, the emoluments
of which are stated as above (/4id, 11., 214). Due honour is done to
Master Duncan in the Obituary of the Franciscan Convent at Aberdeen,
where it is said that he was the pater specialis of the Minorite Friars,
and every year, when he was rector of Methlick, presented ten merks to
the Convent, with altarcloths for the high altar and other altars of their
church (Spalding Miscellany, 1., 64). In 1550 John Elphinstone, rector
of Innernochtie, was brought to trial for various offences, including,
besides murder and adultery, a charge of having assaulted and several
times felled to the earth Master Duncan Burnet, rector of Methlic, © with
roungis and battounis,” within the Cathedral of Aberdeen, while he was
celebrating matins and divine service (Pitcairn’s Criminal Trials, 1, 356).
The date of Duncan Burnet’s death is given in the Obituary of the
Franciscan Convent on gth March, 1552 (7e, 1552-3). The mention of
the name of “ Duncan Burnet of Methlik ” as one of the canons present
on 31st March, 1563, at a collation by the Bishop of Aberdeen, following
a presentation of one John Kennedy to the bursary of Civil Law in the
University (Fasti Aberdonenses, p. 127), is probably a clerical slip, for
“Thomas Burnet of Methlick” succeeded his grand-uncle, Duncan, in
his prebend. In the Breviary of Aberdeen, of date 1 575, mention is
made of a mass for the soul of Duncan Burnet, rector of Methlick, and
his parents,
VIIL

ALEXANDER BURNET, younger of Leys, is mentioned in many
documents of the time. He was, along with his wife, Agnes Lechtoun,

* The personality and function of the preeco™ in the ease of an exactly similar foundation

by Canon Hamilton is described as the common bellman of the town going through the strects
with his bell, calling on the people to pray for the deceased.
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put in possession by his grandfather of Collonach and The Hill, in the
barony of Leys, of which they had sasine on 3th May, 1501 (Leys
Charters). The previous year, on 27th-July, 1500, he added to the
always accumulating lands held by the Burnets from the monastery of
Arbroath, Invercanny and its mill, with half the town of Banchory, with
its ferryboat, the tack being for his lifetime and that of Agnes Lechtoun,
his wife, the ferme paid for Invercanny being £3 6s. 8d.; for the half of
Banchory, 13s. 4d. (Reg. Nig. de Arbr, p. 331). On 17th June, 1525,
the tack is renewed for 19 years to himself and his sons, Robert and
Symon, the rent being the same (/é:d., p. 448). The Symon here
mentioned was perhaps the Symon Burnet who, on 8th January, 1558-9,
appears in the Aberdeen Burgh Records as objecting (along with Menzies
of Pitfoddels, the Provost, and others) to the proposal—soon afterwards
carried into effect by some of the barons of the Mearns and townsmen
of Aberdeen—of pulling down the Convents of the Black and the White
Friars, and appropriating their property to the town, a purpose charac-
terized by them as “manifest treason” (Burgh Records of Aberdeen,
Spalding Club, 1., p. 316).

Alexander was alive 2nd September, 1525, but died before 11th
February following.

IX.

ALEXANDER BURNET of Leys (1529-1574). Alexander Burnet of
Canneglerocht, as heir to his father, Alexander Burnet of Colonach, had,
on 11th February, 1525-6, sasine on a precept from his still surviving
grandfather, Alexander Burnet of Leys, of Colonach and The Hill
Under the same designation, “ of Canneglerocht,” he had on 1st October,
1520, sasine of the barony of Leys on a retour to his grandfather and
crown precept. He had by some means re-acquired Kilduthie (Acts
and Decreets, 128, p. 378). This representative of the family lived
through the period immediately preceding the Scottish Reformation,
and during the crisis of that movement ; and his history shews that the
friends of the old church, as well as the zealous reforming Lords,
occasionally reaped temporal benefit from its downfall.

The circumstance that the laird of Leys had an uncle a prebendary
of St. Machar’s Cathedral naturally brought him into friendly relations
with the other members of the Chapter of Aberdeen. One of these
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Robert Hamilton, held the wealthy prebend of Kincardine,* and
belonged to the influential Sorne and Sanquhar branch of the house
of Hamilton. It is on record, to his credit, that he built an altar in the
Cathedral dedicated to St. Andrew, and that on 27th April, 1541, he
founded a chaplainry for a yearly mass to be said after his death, the
sums payable to the vicar, sacrist, etc.,, being similar to those mentioned
in connection with Duncan Burnet’s mortification, and the foundation
also including some benefactions to the poor (Chartulary of Aberdeen,
i, 417). But the laudable efforts of Bishops Elphinstone and Dunbar to
reform the laxity of church discipline had been crowned with only partial
success, Prebendary Hamilton had a daughter, and, that lady being
richly endowed, it seems to have been thought no scandal that she
became wife of the baron of Leys. It was about that period that the
dignified clergy, foreseeing the coming storm, began systematically to
dilapidate their benefices whenever they could command interest to
obtain Crown confirmations of these gifts. The marriage of Alexander
Burnet and Janet Hamilton must have taken place as far back as 1540.
In 1542 good Bishop Dunbar was dead, and Hamilton’s kinsman, the
Earl of Arran, being regent, it is perhaps not wonderful to find Leys’
father-in-law dealing with the rich prebend of Kincardine as if it had
been his private property.

On sth November, 1543, Canon Hamilton conveyed to Alexander
Burnet of Leys and Janet Hamilton, his wife, in liferent, and Andrew,
their son, in fee, with further remainders to Archibald, brother of Andrew,
and John, son and heir apparent of Alexander and Janet, the lands of
Strondraff (? Stranduff), in the barony of Kincardine, to be held of the rector
of Kincardine. The reddendo was a feu-duty of £5 6s. 8d., with sheep,
geese, capons, poultry, etc, as also three suits at Kincardine O’Neil.
As a salve to the conscience of both parties, the condition was
imposed that each heir must swear to defend the orthodox faith, and
assist the prebendary in leading the tithes of Kincardine, Glentanner,
cte.  Another charter was the same day granted by Hamilton to

" A Hospital had been founded in the 13th century at Kincardine on the Dee by Alan the
|'4-mhr.1nl, and liberally endowed by that powerful lord : and both Hospital and Church of
Kincardine were, in 1330, with consent of the Earl of Fife as Doorward’s representative,
incorporated with the Cathedral of Aberdeen, the rector being a prebendary, and having a
manse on the west side of the Chanonry of Old Aberdeen at its south end.
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Leys and his wife, of Easter Slowy in the same barony, there being
successive remainders to their sons—William, Alexander, and John (the
heir apparent)—the feu-duty being £3 2s. 3d.; and the other conditions
the same. Both these charters were duly confirmed by the Queen, as
patroness of the prebend, on 24th February, 1543-4 (Reg. Mag. Sig.).

On 17th April, 1545, Cardinal David Beaton, Archbishop of St.
Andrews, who had been thirtieth and last Abbot of Arbroath, and styled
himself Perpetual Commendator of that Abbey, granted under the Seal
of the monastery to Alexander Burnet of Leys and his heirs male bearing
the arms and surname of Burnet, a charter of the various lands within
the regality of Arbroath and barony of Banchory-Ternan, which he or
the members of his family had hitherto held on lease, viz, Pittenkeiry,
Brathinch, Invercanny with mill, half the town of Banchory-Ternan with
boat, and Kinnesky, along with Deracroft not before mentioned, the feu-
duty for each corresponding to the rent in times by-past, that of Deracroft
being 10s., with additions of £5 16s. in lieu of grassums, £1 9s. of marts
and wedders formerly paid, and gs. 8d. by way of augmentation, in all
£20 18s., there being a further obligation to give three suits at the Court
of the Abbey. This charter was confirmed by the Crown on 25th May,
1545 ; on the following day the transaction acquired a further confirmation
from the Cardinal in his capacity of Archbishop, sealed with his seal as
legate and papal legate; and on 3oth June it received the approval of
three “judices commissarii et executores” appointed by the Cardinal,
namely, Patrick Mpyretoun, Archdeacon of Aberdeen ; Alexander
Galloway, rector of Kinkell ; and Alexander Kyd, succentor of Aberdeen
Cathedral, whose confirmation is printed in the Appendix. Assurance
had to be made doubly sure in all suchlike conveyances of church
property. (See Appendix.)

An important acquisition made by this laird of Leys was Invery, with
the remaining half of the town of Banchory. These subjects, described
as in the barony of Rescoby and regality of St. Andrews, were first let
on lease to Leys, by John Hamilton, Archbishop of St. Andrews, on
20th March, 1550-1, for a term of 19 years, at a rent of 53s. 4d. for Invery,
and 20s. for Banchory. On 26th November, 1554, they were conveyed
in feu-right to Alexander Burnet of Leys, and Janet Hamilton his wife ;
and there is at Crathes a receipt from Archbishop Hamilton for 400 marks
paid for this grant by Leys and his wife, of date 22nd November, 1554.
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From the same Archbishop, as Commendator of Arbroath, there is also
a charter of resignation of Pittenkeirie, dated 11th August, 1557, including
in the re-grant to Alexander Burnet, the Archbishop’s kinswoman, Janet
Hamilton, as well as Alexander, son of their eldest son; and also on 2gth
August,1573, shortly before Leys’ death,a renewed tack of the greater tithes
of Banchory for three years at the previous rent of £93 6s. 8d., containing
an obligation to maintain the choir of the church in buildings, covers,
books, and other things “ad eam ratione rectoris pertinentibus”; which
was confirmed under the Great Seal, 20th March, 1574-5.

Reference may be here made to two rather curious documents
regarding this laird of Leys, printed in the Appendix. One is a
testimonial by John Campbell of Lundy, justiciary depute, given under
his Seal in a Court held at Brechin, 18th February, 1552-3, ratifying and
approving the two charters produced before him by Alexander Burnet of
Leys, one, that by David II, of Killinachclerach and the two Cardneys,
with the reddendo of a chalder of oatmeal, the other the charter of barony
from James IIL, with blench reddendo there stated ; and ordering the
fine imposed on him for not giving suit for these lands to be deleted from
the books of adjournal. The other is a procuratory from John,
Commendator of Arbroath, of date 26th September, 1566, re-pledging
from the Sheriff’ Court of Kincardine to his Regality Courts Alexander
Burnet of Leys as tenant, possessor, and inhabitant of Pittenkerie, and
his son and heir, John, inhabitant of the town of Brathinche.

In the time of this laird it seems to have been felt that the modest
lake-dwelling on the Loch of Banchory was no longer adequate to the
requirements of the family, and that it was desirable that they should
have a residence in a more agreeable situation, and on a scale more
commensurate to the increased wealth and power of the Burnetts.
Crathes Castle was begun in the year 1553, twenty-one years before the
death of this Alexander, and finished under another Alexander, his great-
grandson, in 1596, only four years after this Alexander’s death. It stands
on a pleasant and well-wooded spot, looking down on the valley of the
Dee. Its harmony of design, marred only by an incongruous (if internally
commodious) addition on its east side, of the beginning of last century,
clearly proclaims it to be the conception of one architect, and not (what
Billings secems to have regarded it) the gradual accurnulation of additions
to an old square tower. The Scottish Castles of that date have a type of
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their own, differing in many respects from the contemporary buildings of
the same kind in France, which they most resemble. Crathes may be
described as one of the earliest, as well as most beautiful, of what Messrs.
McGibbon and Ross call the third period of Scottish castellatedarchitecture,
Improvements in artillery had cawsed the abandonment of the idea of
building castles strong enough to resist a regular siege. All that was
now aimed at was an amount of fortification sufficient for protection
against a sudden attack; and Crathes, like other castles of the same date,
was more an ornamental mansion than a proper fortress. It is, like other
contemporary residences, planned in the old traditional form of a keep,
but with the addition of a projecting wing to the east, giving a re-entrant
angle in the south-east corner. The wall runs up conspicuously plain to
a considerable height, breaking out in the upper stories into a profusion
of picturesque corbelled turrets, some round, some square, with slated
roofs, and finials and other elaborate decorations. So far it resembles
other Scottish buildings of its date: but a few special features will be
noted by an architectural eye, the rounding of the angles of the lower
part of the building, the division of the south gable into two parts, while
a corbelled turret, rising about half way up the wall, supports an em-
battled balcony. The ancient doorway on the east side and in the
re-entrant angle remains, though closed up (the iron grating which was
formerly the inner gate standing outside it), and to the left of it ascends
what used to be the principal staircase, which stops short at the third
floor, and is continued inside the already-mentioned turret which divides
the east wing.

The basement floor is vaulted, and a narrow round stair communicates
between the cellar and the hall. The great barrel-vaulted hall, 30 feet by
184 feet, on the first floor, now the dining-room, occupies the western half
of the old building. [t is lighted by a triple window at the south end,
but formerly had three windows on the west side, which were filled up
last century, but whose outline can still be traced on the outer wall.
Along with this change, the original fire-place at the north end of the
hall was removed, and the present one on the west side substituted for it.
The old stone pendents hanging from the vault have lately been deprived
of the whitewash, which had hid their armorial carvings, and restored,
and the whole room has been covered with a leather hanging in harmony
with its surroundings.
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The ceilings of three bedrooms in the third floor, known as the
Chambers of the Worthies, the Muses, and Green Lady, claim a special
notice.  In all, the joists and flooring of the upper story are exposed
to view, and in the former are painted a series of representations
of the nine worthies, Hector of Troy, Julius Caesar, Alexander, Joshua,
Judas Maccabaus, David, Charles the Great, King Arthur, and Godfrey
of Bouillon, with a traditional coat of arms assigned to each, similar to
what are to be found in some old illuminated armorial MSS. in the Lyon
Office and elsewhere, there being a great deal of scroll work with mottoes,
chiefly from Scripture, along the joists, e, “ As the dog turneth to his
own vomit, so the foole to his own foolishness”; “ Blessed is the riche
who is found without blemish, and hath not gone after money and
treasures.,” On the ceiling of the Chamber of the Muses are eleven
emblematic figures with mottoes. These ceilings, which had been for
more than a generation covered with lath and plaster, have been recently
exposed to view and carefully restored by Sir Robert, 11th Baronet.

Above the Chamber of the Muses, and extending along the whole
breadth of the building from east to west (44 feet 10 inches by 13 feet
3 inches) is a long gallery, popularly termed the “chapel.” The ceiling
extends into the roof, the slope of which is panelled in oak. In some
of the bosses are coloured armorial coats, including the Royal Arms of
Scotland ; the arms of the Marquis of Hamilton; of the Chancellor Seton,
Earl of Dunfermline (a nephew of Canon Hamilton); of Burnett impaled
with Gordon of Lesmoir (the wife of the laird of Leys who completed the
castle, Alexander Burnett [XIL]); and the holly leaf and hunting horn
of the Burnett coat are used as occasional decorative features.

The armorial carvings outside the castle indicate that of the different
ladies of Leys, Janet Hamilton, whether from the material wealth
which she brought the family, or from her personal worth, was held in
especial honour, but the arms impaled for her with the Burnett coat are
always the pure coat of Hamilton. Though the husband of Janet had,
as will be seen, a daughter of Lord Forbes for his second wife, no
armorial memento of the last-named lady remains. Above the old
doorway is a shield impaling Burnett with Hamilton, with the inscription,
“Anno 1553 " over it, and, near it, the monogram “A B K G,” with the
date “1596"” On the south gable we have, surrounded by a label
moulding, Burnett impaled with Hamilton, and Burnett impaled with
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Gordon of Lesmoir, with the same two dates, 1553 and 1506. These
cannot be the dates of the respective marriages with Janet Hamilton
and Katherine Gordon, and can only be, what is almost proved by other
evidence, the years when the castle was begun and completed. In the
Chamber of the Muses is the date 1599.*

Janet Hamilton was alive, as has been seen, in 1557. Before 1567
she was dead, and her husband had entered into a second marriage with
Marjory, daughter of John, 6th Lord Forbes, and widow of Forbes of
Brux.f Of the second marriage it does not appear that there was any
issue ; but of Alexander Burnett and Janet Hamilton there is evidence
of there having been seven sons and four daughters, viz. :—

I. JoHN, his father’s heir.

II. Master THOMAS, who was presented on 12th March, 1550-1, to
the canonry of Aberdeen and rectory of Methlick, when it
should be vacant by the death, resignation, or demission of
Master Duncan Burnet (Reg. Secr. Sig.). Duncan died two
years later, and Thomas entered on his grand-uncle’s benefice.
His career curiously illustrates the gradual steps by which the
new faith supplanted the old in the north-eastern parts of
Scotland. In 1556 he witnessed, as one of the chapter and
rector of Methlick, a feu-charter of the mill of Murtle by the
Bishop of Aberdeen (Antig. of Abd. and Banff, IIL,, 354). The
reformed religion was established and the exercise of the offices
of the old religion prohibited by Parliament in 1560. Neverthe-
less, we find the pre-Reformation Bishop, William Gordon (son
to the 3rd Earl of Huntly), continuing to exercise his functions,
temporal and spiritual, till his death in August, 1577, and Thomas
Burnet continuing to act with him as one of the chapter and
parson of Methlick in 1566, 1570 and 1571 (Antiq. of Abd. and
Banff, IIL., 255, 381; Fasti Aberdonenses, 129). This was the
period of the so-called “Tulchan” Bishops — presbyterian
ministers who got the titular office of Bishop on the condition

* Further particulars, with illustrations of these interesting rooms, will e found in the Appendix.

t This is stated on the authority of a MS. note by that most accurate Scottish genealogical
antiquary, Mr. John Riddell, who quotes a mention of that marriage in the Acts and Decreets,
Vol. 39.
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of their assigning the temporalities of the see to some lay
magnate ;* and, four months after Gordon’s death (as we learn
from the Chronicle of Aberdeen, Spald. Misc., IL, 46), Master
David Cunningham is “ consecrated " Bishop of Aberdeen, and
collated by Master John Craig, Knox's former colleague, “ in
presence of the haill congregation of Aberdeen.” Thomas
Burnet, under this new order, still continued parson of Methlick,
and is, under that designation, party in 1579 to a lease of the
Vicarage Tithes of the Mains of Leslie by John Leslie, perpetual
vicar of Premnay, with the consent of the “ precedent and chapter
of Aberdeen,” to John Leslie of that Ilk, the signature “ Aber-
donensis Episcopus” being followed by that of “Mr. Thomas
Burnet, personn of Methlik” (Antiq. of Abd. and Banff, I11., 400).
Thomas Burnet held from 1565 till his death the office of Com-
missary of Aberdeen, On 8th February, 1565-6, he had as
Commissary of Aberdeen a grant of one-fifth of the “coitts”
(rates due according to the value of the legacies), given him on
the narrative that these “coitts” have been diminishing, and the
collection of them greatly neglected, particularly within the
diocese of Aberdeen. In 1580 he is one of the examiners of
candidates for the office of teacher in the Grammar School of
Aberdeen ; and the Chronicle of Aberdeen tells us that he
died in Old Aberdeen, probably in the manse of his prebend,
24th February, 1582-3 (Spald. Misc, I, 55).

I, ANDREW, who, under the charter of Robert Hamilton of 1543,
had the fee of Stronduff, held from the rector of Kincardine.
In 1560 he had a charter from Thomas Fraser of Durris of
Cowcardie, also held from the parson of Kincardine, in exchange
for Stronduff.  He married Elizabeth Melville, widow of an
Erskine, apparently of the Drum family, and was the first of a

" A tulchan, an old Scots word of unknown origin, was applied to a stuffed calf skin
which was brought into the presence of a recently-calved cow. It was an agricultural doctrine
of 1‘h.\1 age, and of later times, that the presence of this changeling induced the bereaved mother
easily to part with her milk. To draw what remained of the bishops’ revenues, it was expedient
that there should be bishops; but the revenues were not for them, but for the lay lords who
milked the ecclesiastical cow.” (Burton’s History of Scotland, V., p. 320.)
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line of Burnetts of Cowcardie, who can be traced for about four.
generations.

IV. WILLIAM, who had the fee of Easter Slowy under Robert Hamilton’s
charter of 1543. A dispensation was granted 19th August, 1558,
by John Hamilton, Archbishop of St. Andrews, papal legate a
latere, to remove a double impediment to his marriage with
Janet Chalmers of the Cults family.* They are said to stand
within the fourth degree of consanguinity on either side, besides
which, William’s mother (Janet Hamilton) was godmother to
Janet Chalmers. It is stated in the dispensation that after
promise per wverba de futuro children had already been born to
them. The direct posterity of William Burnet of Slowy and
Janet Chalmers can be traced in a somewhat decadent state till
the beginning of last century. Some Burnets of better position
(Warriston and Inverleith) seem to have been descended from
one of William’s younger sons.

V. ALEXANDER, to whom there is a remainder in Hamilton’s charter
of Easter Slowy. He married Elspeth, daughter of Alexander
Chalmer of Cults, sister of his brother William’s wife, probably
without dispensation, and was put in possession of Kynneskie,
which his posterity inherited for three generations.

VI. ARCHIBALD, mentioned in several documents in the Leys charter
chest, also married a Chalmers (Janet) of the Cults family.

VII. JAMES, designed “in Cardney,” was witness with Alexander Burnet
of Leys and William Burnet of Slowy to the marriage of his
niece, Margaret, and George Forbes, her second husband, in 1580.

1. ISABEL, married in 1555 Robert Arbuthnot of Pitcarlies and Little
Futhes, grandson to Sir Robert Arbuthnot of that Ilk, and elder
brother of the famous and learned Principal of King’s College,
Alexander Arbuthnot.+ Alexander Burnet of Leys and his sons,

* This document, curious as being one of the latest of its kind in Scotland, is printed in the
Appendix.

+¢ A chief among that small section of the Kirk who, themselves most learned, felt the
necessity of reforming education as a means of religious reformation.” —C. Innes’ Preface to
Fasti Aberdonenses, p. xxxii.
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John and Thomas, were bound by the contract to pay 500 merks
for her tocher (Register of Bonds, Vol. 1.).
1. JANET, married Master James Skene of Wester Corse and Ramore.
(Skene Mem.,, p. 102.)
IT1. AGNES, married, in 1551, Alexander Blackhall of Barra.

IV. A fourth daughter married, 1st, Craigmyle of that Ilk; zndly, John
Forbes of Sonnahinny, grandson of Sir John Forbes of Pitsligo
(Lumsden’s Forbes MS., Adv. Library).

X.

JouN BURNET oF LEVS (1574-75). In 1546, John Burnett, younger
of Leys, was one of the assize in the service of Thomas Charteris of
Kinfauns (Chancery Records), and, under the same designation, he, on
11th August, 1569, grants, as tutor testamentary of Alexander and
Robert, sons of Alexander Jaffray, a lease of fishings on the Dee to one
John Ewen (Aberdeen Register of Deeds). When re-pledged with his
father in 1566 by the Commendator of Arbroath, he is called * dweller in
Brathinche.”*

His father being dead, he, on 2nd September, 1574, signed the Bond
of Allegiance of the Barons of the north (Privy Council Register). On
the 15th of the same month, he, as “John Burnet of Colonach,” had
sasine of the barony of Leys as heir to his father (Leys Charters), and he
died less than a year afterwards.

* The younger Alexander Jaffray here mentioned afterwards married his guardian’s niece,
Christian, daughter of Alexander Burnet of Kynneskie, and purchased the estate of Kingswells,
a few miles west of Aberdeen, in 1587, and the family of Jafiray of Kingswells seem to have
been made gentlemen of coat armour as early as 1613.  Of that date their arms (Paly of six',
argent and sable on a fess of the first three mullets of the second) appear on the seal of Alexander
Jafiray, bailic of Aberdeen (Laing's Catalogue, Vol. 11., p. 01), either that Alexander or his son.
Alexander Jafiray, son of Leys’ ward, was elected Provost of Aberdeen in 1636 and on several
subsequent occasions, was a prominent covenanter, and represented Aberdeen in the Scottish
Parlinment of 1639. Notwithstanding his armorial stalus and his maternal Burnet descent, and
his being married to a daughter of Erskine of Pittodrie, Jaffray was, in respect of his paternal
origin, looked down upon as a parvenn by some of the town aristocracy. ‘‘Mony,” says
Spalding, in allusion to his first clection as Provost, *lichtleit both the man and the electioun,
not being of the old blood of the toun, but the oy of ane baxter, and thairfor was set down in
the provostis deas before his incuming to sermon ane bakin pye. This was dune divers times
hfu he miskenit all and never querellet the samen.” This Alexander died in 1646 (his son’s
diary informs us), in the house of his cousin, Alexander Burnet in Aberdeen (a Burnet of the
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By his wife Elizabeth, daughter of John Lumsden of Cushnie, he had
a son Alexander, who succeeded him, and a daughter Margaret, who
married (by contract dated 2z4th September, 1509) Alexander Forbes,
son of the laird of Echt (who had formerly been married 5. to Elizabeth
Lyon, daughter of the laird of Glammis, and widow of John, Master of
Forbes). George Forbes is mentioned in a contract of date 16th Nov.,
1580, in the Leys charter room. Her son by her first husband was
Robert Forbes of Echt.

XL

ALEXANDER BURNET OF LEYS (1575-78). This laird of Leys was
almost as short a time in possession as his father. He was, as “ Alexander
Burnet of Canneglerocht,” retoured before the Master of Marischal in the
old castle of Kincardine as heir to John Burnet, his father, in the barony
of Leys, on 3rd October, 1575, and had sasine on Chancery Precept on
sth November following. Next year he made up titles on Precept of
Clare Constat from John, Commendator of Arbroath, to the lands held
from that Abbey, and he was dead before May, 1578. A passing allusion
to him in a letter of his son Duncan (see Appendix), indicates that one of
his ambitions was that his sons should be men of learning and culture, an
aim in which it will be seen that he was successful with some, though
not all, of them. He married his cousin-german, Katherine, daughter of
Robert Arbuthnot of Pitcarlies ; and we have in the Heralds’ Visitation
of Norfolk in 1613, and of Essex in 1634, a full enumeration in order of

Camphill line, whose mother was a sister of Provost Jaffray). .His son, also named Alexander,
was obnoxious to the Cavalier party for his connection with the death of Gordon of Haddo, as
one of the charges for which Haddo was executed was the imprisoning of Jaffray in Auchindoun
Castle in 1644. On the occupation of Aberdeen by Montrose in 1644, the younger Jaffray took
refuge at Dunnottar. In the following year, he relates in his diary, on returning from a visit to
Crathes in company with his brother and Andrew Cant (whose daughter he soon afterwards
married), the party were encountered by the young laird of Harthill on his way home from the
battle of Kilsyth. Harthill’s party carried him prisoner to the garrisoned house of Pitcaple,
whence he was released by his friends after seven weeks’ confinement. He represented Aberdeen
in the Covenanting Parliament of 1649, and was twice named as one of the Commissioners to
negociate with Charles II. for his return. In his later days he became a member of the Society
of Friends, and has left a characteristic diary, edited 1833. Like Quaker diaries generally, it
abounds in retrospections, including deep compunction at his share in forcing the Covenant on
those who would not have it, and for zeal even unto slaying against both Prelatists and Friends,
many of whom were men of a far more religious spirit than himself. A note by the editor
(p. 568) states somewhat incorrectly his relation to the Burnets.



30

THE FAMILY OF BURNETT OF LEYS.

seniority of his six sons, some of them men of mark in their day, and, in
the 1613 Visitation, of his three daughters also. His children were :—

5
1L

I1L.

ALEXANDER, his heir.
RopeRT, alluded to as a “divine” in a letter of his brother, Duncan

Burnet, given in the Appendix.*

Trnomas, M.A. of Cambridge, a physician of eminence, practising

at Braintree in Essex at the time of the Visitation of 1634. He
married Jane, daughter of John Foys+ of London, and had two
sons, Thomas, born 1612, and Alexander; and a daughter,
Frances, who married the Rev. Thomas Templer, rector of
Weston, Co. Northampton.

. GILBERT, Professor of Philosophy at Basle, afterwards at Montauban.

He was, according to Middleton's Zearned Men and Writers [of
Aberdeen], in such esteem that a National Synod of the Protestants
in France appointed his philosophical writings to be printed at
the expense of the clergy ; but, he dying before his MSS. were
put in order, only his book of Ethics was printed. His “ Ethica
Dissertationes, quibus perfecta et soluta philosophica moralis
idea modo accuratissime exhibetur,” forms a small octavo volume,
printed at Leyden in 1649. In the Visitation pedigree of 1634 he
is said to have had no issue.

V. DUNCAN was, like his brother Thomas, a physician, and practised at

Norwich. He was, according to Middleton, a “learned, holy and
good man” A series of his letters, preserved at Crathes, fully
bearing out the character which Middleton gives him, afford a
delightful glimpse of the private life of the family at that period,
and of the pleasant relations subsisting between Duncan and his
kindred on Deeside.  He married Jane, daughter of Robert
Marsham of Little Melton, Co. Norfolk. In the Visitation
pedigree of 1613 his arms are impaled with those of his wife ;

" In 1608, Herbert Abercromby had sasine on a charter of New and Old Westhall from
Robert Burnet, brother-german to Alexander Burnet of Leys (Aberdeen Register of Sasines).

.’f So in the original MS, of the Visitation in the College of Arms. In the Harleian Society’s
edition of the Visitation, ** Foys " is misprinted *‘ Coys,"” and Jane is married, not to Thomas,
but to his brother Duncan.

% In the Harlcian Society's edition, Gilbert’s name is omitled,
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and he had at that date had issue, Robert, who was dead, and
Mary, there called his “sole daughter and heir.” The latter, as
his letters inform us, was born on Michaelmas day, 1609. It
must have been soon after this Visitation that he had another
son, named Thomas, who, when not more than fourteen years of
age, visited his cousin, Sir Thomas, at Crathes ; as we find in the
Aberdeen Burgh Records that on the 2gth September, 1629,
“Thomas Burnet, filius legitimus venerabilis viri magistri Dun-
cani Burnet, medicine doctoris, admissus fuit in liberum
burgensem et fratrem gilde” The arms of this Thomas, as
Thomas Burnet of Wood Dalling, Co. Norfolk, are on 3rd June,
1640, exemplified by William Le Neve, Clarenceux, in the books
of the English College of Arms, with the middle holly leaf
charged with an annulet, for difference, and the usual crest.
Seven of Duncan Burnet’s letters are given in the Appendix,
one addressed to Duncan’s eldest brother, the laird, and the
rest to his nephew, afterwards Sir Thomas Burnet.

VI. JouN. It would seem, from an allusion to him in one of Duncan
Burnet’s letters, that his father’s efforts to make him a learned man
like his brothers had failed of success. His name occurs in the
Privy Council Records in 1593 as cautioner, along with his
brother Leys, that Alexander Gordon of Lesmoir should not
reset with the Earl of Huntly or the murderers of the Earl of
Moray. He married (contract at Crathes, dated 3oth April, 1603)
Helen Wood, widow of Alexander Cumyn of Culter, In 1608
his eldest brother, Alexander Burnet of Leys, had once more
acquired Tilliboy (and Kilduthie?) by purchase from Cumyn of
Culter; and the same year Leys wadsetted Kilduthie to his
brother John for 3000 marks. John Burnet and Helen Wood
had a son, Master Alexander, who would seem to be the “ Master
Alexander Burnet in Edinburgh” alluded to in one of Duncan’s
letters. This Alexander, in 1642, under the designation of
“minister of God’s word at the Kirk of Buckingham Fence in
the County of Norfolk in England,” made up his title by Precept
of Clare Constat from his cousin, Sir Thomas Burnet of Leys,
as superior of Kilduthie, which he thereupon resigned to Sir
Thomas.
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I. JANET, married (contract dated 10th February, 1578-9) Gilbert
Keith of Auquhorsk.
II. MARGARET, unmarried in 1613.
111, EL1ZARETH, married her cousin-german, Master Gilbert Skene, son
and heir-apparent of Master James Skene of Wester Corsc and
Ramore (charter to him at Crathes, of date 15th December, 1592).

XIL

ALEXANDER BURNET of Leys (1578-1619). This Alexander
succeeded his father in 1578, made up his title to the barony of Leys by
service (sasine in Leys charter chest, dated sth May, 1578, where he is
called “ providus adolescens ”); to Pettenkeiric and other lands held from
the Abbot of Arbroath by Precept of Clare Constat of date 26th
October, 1581, from Esmé, Duke of Lennox, who had obtained the
Abbey in commendam on the attainder of the Hamiltons ; and to Invery
and half Banchory in September of the same year, by Precept from
Patrick Adamson, the titular Archbishop of St. Andrews, To the last
named lands he obtained a more unquestionable title, by the King
confirming to him, on 21st May, 1585, Archbishop Hamilton’s feu-charter
to his great-grandfather.® He married soon after, if not before, his
succession, Katherine, daughter of Alexander Gordon of Lesmoir, by
whom he had a numerous family, He had a tack of the vicarage tithes
of Banchory for life and nineteen years after his death, from the minister,
James Reid, with assent of David, Bishop of Aberdeen, of date April,
1584. On 13th October, 1598, “venerabilis vir Alexander Burnet de
Leyis” was made an honorary burgess of Aberdeen (Aberdeen Burgh
Records).

This laird completed Crathes Castle, begun, as has been seen, by his
great-grandfather, to whom he almost immediately succeeded. That
Crathes was inhabited a few years before 1596 appears by the mention
in the Record of the Privy Council of a bond exccuted at Aberdeen and
Crathes on the 3rd and 4th September, 1588, in which Alexander
Burnet of Leys became surety for Master Gilbert Keith in Auquhorsk
(his brother-in-law), and others, in £200, that Janet Buchan, her tenants

* See Charter printed in Appendix.
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and servants, shall be skaithless of him. In January, 1594-5, Alexander
Burnet resigned the barony of Leys to the Crown, and obtained a charter
regranting it to himself and his heirs male, in which the tower, manor,
and fortalice of Crathes are made the principal messuage of the barony.

Considerable additions were made by this laird to the family estates.
In 1605 he had a Crown charter on a conveyance by “Sir Henry
Lindsay alias Charteris”* of lands in the parishes of Lumfannan and
Kincardine O’'Neil, described as “ Easter Camphill, Blairhead, Wester
Camphill, Alehouse Croft thereof, Cormoir, Craigour, Fordye, Mill of
Craigour, Milltown of Camphill, Croft in Lumfannan called Milcroft,
Alchousecroft, presently occupied by Arthur Adam, and pasture of that
part of the Hill of Fare formerly granted by John Charteris of Kinfauns
to the late James Skene of that Ilk.” Also feu-duties or annual rents of
424 Scots from these lands, The subjects, or great part of them, had
been held for some time from the Charteris family by certain persons
who, after this transfer, became vassals of Leys. The most considerable
of these feu-holders were Alexander Burnet of Craigour and William
Burnet of Camphill, grandsons of one William Burnet of Tillihaikie, who
had held part of these lands from the Charteris family, under a title
which had at first been a redeemable one, from the first half of the 16th
century. This branch of the Burnet family will come to be considered
later. Of half of Cormoir, Leys in the following year, by resignation of
Elizabeth Lay, wife of Duncan Jaffray, obtained the property, as well as
the superiority ; and, in 1609, he obtained the two halves of Tillihaikic
by Crown charter, on resignation of Robert Hunter and of Thomas
Burnet of Craigmyle.

In 1608, Tilliboy or Kilduthie, one of the subjects conveyed to his
ancestor by Robert Bruce, was re-acquired by Alexander Burnet, by
purchase, for 8000 merks, from Cumyn of Culter, to whom he assigned
Wester Cardney.

*The ancient, and once powerful, family of Charteris of Kinfauns, in addition to their
possessions of Kinfauns in Perthshire, and Canglour in Stirlingshire, had, from the 14th century,
owned Lumfannan, of which these lands formed part. John Charteris of Kinfauns, in 1584,
adopted Sir Ienry Lindsay of Carriston (who, in 1621, became 13th Earl of Crawford) as his
heir, making over his whole estates to him on condition of his taking the name and arms of
Charteris of Kinfauns, a transaction ratified in Parliament three years later. By this means
there was brought into the possession of the Leys family a very interesting set of fitles, to Le
noticed in the Appendix.

F



34 THE FAMILY OF BURNETT OF LEYS.

The most important new acquisition, however, was Muchalls, in the
parish of Fetteresso, purchased from Francis, Earl of Erroll, of which he
had, on 24th June, 1606, a Crown charter to himself and the heirs male
of his body, whom failing, to his heirs whatsoever bearing his name and
arms.  In 1609, he resigned Leys and Muchalls, and other lands held by
him of the Crown, and, by a charter of novodamus, had the latter
incorporated into the barony of Leys, the reddendo being ‘1d. blench for
Leys, £20 taxed ward for Muchalls, 1d. blench for Camphill, Craigour,
cte., and 20s. feuferme for Tillihaikie. (See Appendix.)

Among the many vicissitudes through which the Abbey of Arbroath
had passed, it was on 6th July, 1606, erected into a temporal lordship in
favour of James, 2nd Marquess of Hamilton, with the dignity and title of
a Lord of Parliament. By two charters, granted in 1614, James, Marquess
of Hamilton, Ear] of Arran, Lord Aven and Aberbrothock, in considera-
tion of a sum of money received, commuted the feu-duty of £20 3s. 4d.
paid by Leys for Pettinkeirie, Brathinche, Banchory, Kynnesky and
Deracroft, into a blench duty of 1d., the greater tithes of Banchory being
conveyed in addition, under the burden of paying the minister’s stipend.*
Then, in 1617, on a resignation by the Marquess and Burnett, the same
subjects, property and superiority were reconveyed to Alexander Burnet
of Leys for a blench duty of 6s. 8d. The charter alludes to the grantee’s
signal services to the King, and, in respect of his having, at great
expense, built, repaired and decorated the Church of Banchory, and
shewn in many other ways his zeal for the glory of God, and the
propagation of the true religion, confers on him the patronage of that
church.  The whole of the lands formerly held of the Abbey of Arbroath
were now held directly of the Crown.

In 1619, the year of his death, Alexander Burnet began a new castle
at Muchalls, which, eight years later, was completed by his son and
successor, Sir Thomas Burnet, 15t baronet.

In July, 1613, Leys had a charter of Blackhall, in the Garioch, with
the offices of Coroner and forester of Garioch, lands and offices having
been recognosced to the Crown by Alexander Blackhall of that 11k, ze.,
forfeited by him through the breach of some feudal obligation, a

* At an earlier date, when he was only lessee of the fithes of Banchory, we find him

engaged in a law plea regarding them with the parishioners of Banchory, against whom he had
decree, on 6th July, 1587.
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transaction to which rather too much importance has been attached,
inasmuch as it has been surmised to have been the reason of the
assumption into the family arms of the hunting-horn, which is found
“sculptured on the walls of Crathes Castle fifty years carlier. The then
laird of Blackhall was, from facility or profession, under that sort of
legal restraint called interdiction, his interdictor being John Leslie of
Balquhain. Three years earlier, in 1610, he had, with Leslie’s concurrence,
conveyed the same lands and offices to his kinsman, Alexander Blackhall
of Barra, also a near relation of Leys. Whatever may have led to the
Burnet possession of Blackhall and the offices connected with it, it was
very short-lived : in a few years they were again in possession of the
Blackhalls. On 4th April, 1620, we find Alexander Blackhall of that
Ik conveying to his son, William Blackhall, and Christian Strachan, his
wife, the lands of Blackhall, reserving his coronership and forestership
(Reg. Mag. Sig.), and, on 29th September, 1643, John Blackhall is
retoured heir male of William Blackhall of that Ilk, his father, in the
same lands and both offices.

Like other people of position in these troublous days, Leys had often
to undertake the obligation of suretyship in connexion with the misdeeds
of his neighbours, relatives, and dependants. In November, 1536, for
example, we find him surety for one Robert Burnet, in Drumneachie, and
his son Thomas, against whom a serious complaint had been made to the
Privy Council by Master Robert Lindsay, minister of Birse, and Janet
Farquhar, his wife. On 4th July of that year, the Council record tells us,
these two Burnets, regardless of Lindsay’s sacred calling, came “ by way
of hamesucken, under cloud and silence of night, to the dwelling-place
of the complainer, at the Kirk of Birse, where the said Jonnet then wes
for the tyme in peceable and quiet maner, and there maist cruellie and
unhumanlie invadit and pursewit her, and did strike her with ane battoun
upon the head and otheris partis of her body, to the effusion of her blood
in great quantitie, without any occasion of offence or injurie.” Then, on
the 2oth July, the said Robert and Thomas Burnett, with some thirteen
or fourteen other persons, armed with prohibited weapons, “came to the
kirk glebe of Birs, quhair the said complenare was for the tyme in quyet
manner of his study, trusting to have ressaved trouble nor injurie of na
persone, and thair maist cruellie and unmercifullic invadit and persewit
him for his bodily harme and slauchter, struke him upon the heid with
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ance Jedburgh Stalff, and clave his harne-pan therewith, like as the said
Thomas brake ane Jedburgh Stalff upoun him, and left him for deid, surelie
beleiving he had been deid, utherwayes they had not left him quhill they
had bereft him of his lyffe.” The same persons are said to lie continually
in wait for the minister and his wife, so that he cannot repair to the
kirk to discharge his office for fear of his life. Leys became surety in
1000 merks for Robert Burnet and 500 for Thomas, that they shall
abstain from molesting the incumbent of the parish, also in £200 that
they shall answer for their offence. The assailants of the minister,
however, seem to have been in dread of reprisals at his hands, for, two
days later, John Lindsay of Covington has to find security in 500 merks
for his namesake, a relative of the minister, that Robert Burnet in
Drumneachie, his tenants and servants, shall be harmless of him. On
another occasion Leys had to answer for the peace being kept between a
large number of Burnetts and others, and the magistrates of Aberdeen,
in a dispute regarding their right to fish in Dee and Don, Leys himself
was engaged in contentions with the town authorities regarding the
fishings in these rivers; and, in September, 1604, George Gordon of
Inverie became his security that he would abstain from slaying salmon
in these rivers within certain limits. Other quarrels, in which the laird
of Leys was engaged, have left their trace in the Privy Council Records.
In August, 1607, William Hay of Urie was bound over in 42000, and
his brother, Alexander, in £1000, that they should not harm Alexander
Burnett of Leys; and, in October of the same year, John Gordon,
apparent of Lesmoir, and Alexander Burnet are bound over with their
respective sureties not to harm Hay of Urie and his brother.

But the most acrimonious contention in which Leys was engaged was
one handed down to him from his great-grandfather, the husband of
Janet Hamilton, a controversy with the laird of Drum regarding the
marches of their respective lands and mosses, There had, ever since
1562, been much bad blood between these two neighbours. There was,
in 1586, communion for a perambulation of marches between the two
neighbours, but no final settlement was come to, A paper in the Crathes
archives contains the names of sixteen of the principal gentry of the
district as friends of one side or the other. The Privy Council Record
tells us that Alexander Burnet of Leys, the Master of Forbes being his
surety, had, on 12th August, 1587, to find caution to the amount of
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£2000 that Alexander Irving of Drum and Henry Irving at the Mill of
Drum shall be skaithless of him. In 1611, however, Leys, now a man in
mature age, and desirous of re-establishing friendly relations with his
neighbour, with the advice, it is said, of the Master of Forbes, Ogilvy of
Findlater, and Wishart of Pitarrow, rcsolved to refer the whole matters in
dispute to Drum himself and his son. The reference by Leys, says the
Inventory of Tithes at Crathes, “ is well drawn, and is strong evidence of
a peaceable disposition, and the folly of continuing their disputes at law.”
To students of heredity it is interesting to find that the father of three
sons (the first baronet, the laird of Craigmyle, and Lord Crimond) whom
friends and foes alike describe as peacemakers and peace-lovers, should
have been noted for the like qualities in the ruder age in which he lived.

We find this laird’s name occasionally mentioned in connection with
matters ecclesiastical. In 1607 we find the lairds of Leys and Muchalls
(the latter probably his eldest son) Commissioners named to see that
constant moderators be received by the presbyteries (Reg. Privy Council),
and, a year earlier, his evidence on a question connected with the Kirk
was of material service to the Lord Chancellor Seton.

There existed a warm friendship between Leys and one of the most
prominent public men of the time, the Chancellor Lord Dunfermline.
Their estates lay not far off from each other, and they were kinsmen
through the Hamilton side of the house. Lord Dunfermline’s arms, as
well as those of the Marquess of Hamilton, are prominent on the ceiling
of the “Chapel” at Crathes. One good turn which Leys did the
Chancellor was connected with the General Assembly held at Aberdeen
in 1604. That Assembly, whose time and place of meeting had, according
to the usual fashion, been appointed by its predecessor, was interdicted
by the King, who resolved to make his right to regulate the meeting of
Assemblies a trial of strength between him and the Kirk. The high
party assembled in defiance of the royal prohibition. Mr. John Forbes
and some others of them were committed to prison, and it was alleged
that Lord Dunfermline, unaware how far James was disposed to push
matters, had compromised himself somewhat in a conference with some
of the ministers. The matter came before the Privy Council in 1606,
and the evidence of Burnet of Leys, who was present at the conference in
question, was considered conclusive against Forbes’ account of what had
passed, and in favour of the Chancellor’s innocence.
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The following letter from Lord Dunfermline, of a little later date,
preserved at Crathes, shews the footing on which Leys stood with the
courtly and scholarly Chancellor :—

“Right traist freynd and Loving Gossope my hairtiest commenda-
tiounes premitted, I ressauit your Letter from Muchalls of ye 30 aprile,
whairby ye Latt me knaw of the greatt contentment ye haiff of my
fortunat and happie returne hayme whairoff I thank God, and how
willing ye ar to be Imployed efter ye auld maner As I shall haiff adoe to
charge yow, I thank yow maist hartely ytfoir, and will heirbye geiff yow
assurance yat howlang 1 Leiff I will be laith to giff yow Anye other
occasioune bot to esteyme of me as your most affectionat freynd In the
auld maner The Marqueis of hammiltoun is Indeed werye schortlye
efter I come hame returned, and went by yis Toun, to hammiltoun onlye
vpon Tysday Last the first of yis instant. I renewit my acquentance
withe him when I was with him Laitlie at Court, And I think I haiff
ressonablie good fassiounes of him, Alwayes Anent thatt mater of ye
Parochins of fyvie and tarwes, and Informatioune yroff, It is not good
yat 1 be ouer haistie or sudden in that mater, It shall be sufficient that
ye haiff a parfyte Informatioune of ye Estaitt yToff to be send heir to me
Efter our Sessioun sitt doun be some of your sonnes giff ye haiff no good
erand of your awin that will not require your presens heir, I desyre yow
also to Learne and to knaw parfytelye of ye Estaitt of ye superioritye of
ye few Lands, yat Lyes wtin the twa kirks, yat at yat tyme also when ye
send Informatioune of Ane ye may do the same of baithe, And I doubt
not bot I will gett that mater weill aneuche done. And what ewir I doe
y'in for myselff your kirk of banchrie shall be alsweill done as Myne,
And be As my erand As to the charge gewin be the Sreiff Murray to
your good sone for payment of the dewteis of ye Tugnet I can not
merwell aneuche yroff, for not onlye Is your good sone denudit bot I
haiff continuallye sen T had (rycht) maid payment yroff to the Exchecker
and hes ye Clerk registrars Kque and discharge yearlye, Swa yat your
goodsone shall be in no perrell, flor albeit yat ye Sreiff hes nae powar to
putt men to ye home be vertew of yat charge yit I shall be ye first
occasioune I can haiff of Anye gaes to Murray, Wryte to him And
discharge him thairoff, As to that wheire syndrie your freynds and
Fenents ar summoned for contravening ye acts of parliament In taking
more nor ten for ye hundrethe &c., It is most certaine It is a mater not
Inventit nor Usit for a boast or brage or that My Lord burleyt or anye
In his nayme be yis meanes may stapp or seik geir aff pairteis and
compone w* yame, Bot be ye contrair, he being constitute In this caice
agent to his Ma¥ be his meanes seiks out and Caussis summond all that
hes contraveynit ye actis, whome his Mate will haiff pwnishit In thair
goods thairfoir, Thair is for this effect Ane commissioune Sett doun be
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his Matie, To my selff to ye President aduocat and St Jhone Arnote, And
to the said Lord Burleyght wha maun alwayes be withe us, To compone
and agrie wt sic As ar conwict be ye Law, or wha shall Come In
willinglye and compone for transgressing the act, qlk I assure yow his
Matie As he will not haiff ye rigor of ye act put in executioune Sua his
highnes Intentioune Is yat yaj shall not goe away vnpunisheit wtout a
good part of yair moyens, It is best yrfoir that wha ar summoned or
guyltye of your freynds and tenentis Come rather or send and agrye for
remissiounes for bygaynes, lyk as at ye granting yroff, Cawtioune maun
be found yat yaj shall not contraveyne the actis heirefter. Giff yis yaj
Doe not And that decreitts be renderit agaynes yame I assure yow great
extremitye will be vsit agaynes thame, Bot ye may be assurit I will Doe
for anye belanges yow what I may, As I shall ewir remayne
“Your werye Loving freynd

“and gossope at command
“From Edinburgh ye 4 of Maij 1611.” “ DUNFERMELJNE.”

Alexander Burnet of Leys married, soon after, if not before, his
father’s death, Katherine, eldest daughter of Alexander Gordon of
Lesmoir. Allusion is also made to her in one of Duncan Burnet’s letters.
The records tell us that she was, in 1605, infeft by her husband in the
liferent of Tillydrine and the west half of Tillihaikie (Reg. of Sasines ),
and there is among the Leys charters a renunciation by her of her terce
ot certain lands. Mention has already been made of her arms, impaled
with those of her husband on the outside wall of the castle, and depicted
on the ceiling of the chapel. The principal bedchamber contains a large
carved oak bedstead, on the roof of which, with the date 1594, is both the
coat of Burnet simply and that of Burnet impaled with Gordon of
Lesmoir, also the initials A. B. and K. G,, figures taken from the armorial
coats being introduced here and there in an ornamental form.

Alexander Burnet of Leys died at Muchalls (perhaps the old house
superseded by the new one which he had lately begun) on sth July, 1619
(St. Andrews Commissary Record). He seems to have had six sons, who
reached manhood, and eight daughters, who married, viz. :—

I. ALEXANDER, who (according to the account of the family in
Douglas’ Baronage) “died in France, before his father, without
issue.”

I1. THOMAS, first baronet, of whom below.
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James, of Craigmyle, of whom and his descendants below.

iV. Ronert, Lord Crimond, of whom and his descendants below.

V. GEORGE, died s.p.

VI

111

VI.

VIL

VIIL

Joun, in whose name, along with those of his brother, Robert, and
sister, Mariot, the confirmation of his father’s testament is taken
out in 1619. A Scottish factor at Campvere, he seems to have
married late in life, and had an only son, Obadiah, who first
settled in Rotterdam as Scots factor, and was afterwards a
merchant in London, and correspondent of his cousin, Thomas
Burnet of Kemnay, in whose letters to Mrs. Cockburn he is
mentioned as alive in 1701. Obadiah Burnet died in New
Jersey without issue, and, in 1786, long after his death, Alexander
Burnet of Kemnay made good a claim to some American
property which had belonged to him.

, married George Baillic of Jerviswood.

. KATHERINE, married (Contract at Crathes, dated 27th September,

1607), Patrick Maitland of Auchincreef. Her tocher was 5000
merks.

HELEN, married, 1st (Sasine on Marriage Contract, dated 3rd

September, 1617), John Allardyce of Allardyce; 2nd Sir Robert
Graham of Morphie.

. BARBARA, married Robert Innes of Balveny. She had sasine from

her husband of the liferent of Ardgathan, 1619, and of Buchrome
in 1623 (Banffshire Register of Sasines).

. ISABEL, married (Contract at Crathes, dated 1615) James Cheyne,

younger of Arnage.

, married Robert Forbes of Echt (Lumsden’s Forbeses, and
Douglas" Baronage).

JANET, married, 1st, Alexander Skene of Skene (Skene Mem.,
p- 37); 2nd, c. 1642, Sir Alexander Cumyn of Culter. Her
portrait is at Crathes. As widow of Skene, and intended wife
of Sir Alexander Cumyn, she had, on 24th March, 1641-2, sasine
of Robertstoun (Aberdeenshire Sasines).

MARrIOT, is confirmed one of her father's executors in 1619. She
married George Symmer of Balyordie.
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XIIL

SIR THOMAS BURNET OF LEVS, 1st BARONET (1619-53). “ Thomas
Burnaetus de Leyes” appears in the Records of University and King’s
College, Aberdeen, as a matriculated student, in 1603. The designation
given him seems to indicate that his elder brother, who is said to have died
in France, was not then alive ; and he is expressly designed as “son and
heir apparent” as a witness to sasines in 1604 and 1606. He succeeded
his father in 1619, made up his titles to the now extended barony of Leys,
and Pittenkeirie, Invercanny, half Banchory, with the tithes and patronage
of Banchory, all held of the Crown, and to Invery and the other half of
Banchory by Precept from John Spottiswood, Archbishop of St. Andrews,
as superior. In 1619 he was made an honorary burgess of Aberdeen,
and in 1620 he was knighted. He represented Kincardineshire in
Parliament in 1621. He was one of the earliest recipients of the dignity
of Baronet of Nova Scotia. His patent, dated Holyroodhouse, 21st
April, 1626, grants to Sir Thomas Burnet of Leyis, knight, the usual
quantity of lands in New Scotland, under the designation of the barony
and regality of Leyisburnet “et heredibus suis masculis et assignatis
quibuscunque hereditarie,” and confers the dignity of Knight Baronet
on him “suosque heredes masculos quoscunque de tempore in tempus
perpetuo omni tempore futuro.” The dates of the signature, and of its
registration are 21st April and 8th May, 1626 ; the date of sealing the
patent, 12th June, 1626 ; and of the sasine thereon, 13th June, 1626.

In the Act of 1621, for the plantation of new kirks, mention is made
of Burnet of Leys having petitioned for the erection of a church at
Fetteresso, the parish in which Muchalls lay.

The castle or mansion house of Muchalls, begun by his father, was
completed by Sir Thomas Burnet in 1627. Standing on a rising ground,
on the rather bleak tableland which forms the coast of Kincardineshire,
but surrounded by a few ancient trees, such as are rare in the district, it
is a favourable specimen of the smaller baronial residences of its date.
It has happily escaped being modernized, and, though little cared for for
a length of time, the strength of its walls and stone roof preserved it
from falling into ruin. It has in more recent times been repaired in a
reverential spirit; is the now summer residence of Mr. J. P. B. Robertson,

G
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M.P.,, Lord Advocate,* and is kept in beautiful order. It is built in the
not unusual form of two wings at right angles, forming two sides of a
courtyard, of which the other two are surrounded by a wall. The crow-
stepped gables are flanked by round and square turrets, with ornamental
corbels ; and the courtyard wall, in barmony with the rest, is in perfect
preservation. The ground floor is roofed with groined vaulting. The
ceilings of the great hall and the withdrawing room, on the first floor,
are of the sort of renaissance plaster-work common at that date, the
panels containing reliefs of scriptural and classical heroes. A large
Egyptian figure stands on either side of the great fireplace of the hall
On a tablet on the outer wall are inscribed these words :—“ This work,
begun on the east and north by Ar. Burnet of Leyis, 1619, ended be Sir
Thomas Burnet of Leyis his sonne, 1627.”

Sir Thomas also did much to improve and beautify the surroundings
of Crathes. Robert Gordon of Straloch, his contemporary, whose son
was married to Sir Thomas’ daughter, in describing Crathes, says :—“ In
qua [parochia de Banchory] non longe a ripa arx Crathes sedet: Thomas
Burnetus baro loci dominus cura et operibus loci ingenium wvicit ;
consitis enim abietibus, aliisque multifariam arboribus, horridas cautes
vestivit, hortis instruxit, voluptatem paravit.” (Collections for the Shires
of Aberdeen and Banff, p. 25.) The noble fir trees in the woods of
Crathes still challenge admiration, as do the old-fashioned but beautifully
kept up gardens, with the almost unique hedges, 250 years old ; and the
“horrida cautes,” with the trees and shrubs growing in their interstices,
are among the most beautiful features of the fine western approach.

[n 1620, Sir Thomas Burnet acquired the lands of Wester Slowy and
Haugh of Slowy, Over and Nether Tillydrine, Cardno, Borrostoun of
Kincardine, the fishings of Wester Slowy, two-thirds of the fishings of
Borrostoun and Cardno, and the fishings of Potarch, held by Master
John Strachan, parson of Kincardine, as superior. On 6th May, 1625,
Thomas Watson, “polentarius,” conveyed to him a subject in New
Aberdeen. In 1636, he acquired Arbeadie and Inchmarlo, and, in 1640,
he apprized Cluny, in the parish of Banchory (which he had before had
in wadset), from Alexander Burnet of Cluny, for a debt of 5255 marks.
On 22nd August, 1642, he had a Crown confirmation of a charter of June
preceding, from William, Earl Marischal, of Strachan and Culpersie,

" [Lozd President, 1891.]
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with fishings in Dee, Dye, and Feugh, patronage of the archdeaconry of
Brechin or parish of Strachan, within the lordship of Inverugic (by
annexation) and sheriffdom of Kincardine. The lands which he held of
the Crown at his death were:—the barony of Leys, with a reddendo of
1d. blench; Muchalls, £20 taxed ward; Campbell, Craigour, &c., 1d.
blench ; Tullihaikie, &c., 20s. feu ferme; Pittenkeirie, 6s. 8d. blench ;
patronage of Banchory, 1d. blench ; Invery, £5 6s. 8d. feus, and Strachan
and Culpersie, £60 taxed ward.

In 1646, a question was raised in Parliament as to whether Canneg-
lerocht (part of Leys) was in Kincardineshire or Aberdeenshire (Acts of
Parliament of Scotland, I., 518), and soon afterwards the lands of Crathes,
which locally lay in Aberdeenshire, were, by Act of Parliament, annexed
to Kincardineshire, on the ground that the laird of Leys had other lands
and another residence in the Mearns.

When about ninetcen years of age, the heir apparent of Leys had, as
has been seen, visited his uncle at Norwich, when both Duncan Burnet
and his wife were greatly attracted by the pure, earnestly devout, gentle,
and yet manly, demcanour of their nephew : and the correspondence that
followed affords some insight into his early life. Duncan’s letters
(see Appendix), though often touching on religious topics, give no
indication that the changes just then going on in the Church polity of
Scotland had any interest for either uncle or nephew.

In 1618-9, the year of his father’s death, we find Thomas Burnet,
younger of Leys, one of a body of Commissioners named by James
VI, at the instance of Bishop Patrick Forbes, to visit the Universities
of Aberdeen (Fasti Aberd., p. 274). Patrick Forbes of Corse, of a
Presbyterian family, had been a pupil of Andrew Melville for
philosophy at Glasgow, and for theology at St. Andrews. While he
had imbibed his master’s love for learning, mature reflexion had led
him to conclusions, both political and theological, opposed to the
Presbyterianism of his day. He was made Bishop of Aberdeen in 1618.
Spottiswood describes him as the best Scottish prelate since the days of
Bishop Elphinstone; and he interested himself almost as much as
Elphinstone in the welfare of King’s College, of which, as Bishop,
he was Chancellor. He had been no sooner appointed to his See
than he obtained the Royal Commission alluded to, to enquire into its
condition, in which he was conjoined with Lord Dunfermline, the Earl
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Marischal, Sir James Skene of Currichall, Thomas Burnet of Leys,
and others. The reports of the Commission, made in 1619 and 1621,
give by no means a favourable picture of the discipline of the University,
the administration of its finances, or the condition of the fabric of King’s
College.  Bishop Forbes undertook the task of reform with zeal and
energy, and, during his episcopate, introduced into the theological and
other chairs of the University, and into the pulpits of the town churches,
a group of men distinguished alike for erudition, picty, and general
accomplishments. The assumption by this prelate of Thomas Burnet
as a coadjutor in schemes of University reform, in which the theological
clement had especial prominence, would suggest that there was then no
very pronounced difference in their views on church topics ; and we find
Burnet's name appended to the Report of the Commission of date 1621.
About 1618, elements of religious contention, which before had been
smouldering, became greatly intensified. The introduction of Bishops
had been generally acquiesced in; but the Five Articles of Perth
produced quite a popular ferment. These Articles proposed to sweep
away certain forms and practices of worship introduced in the first heat
of the Reformation, apparently from no higher principle than antagonism
to every usage of the Church in past times. However little many of the
more devout and thoughtful of both clergy and laity might be disposed
to object to a more reverential posture at the Holy Communion and the
observance of the days of the birth and passion of our Lord, popular
prejudice was strong against what was regarded as an infringement of
the liberties of the Kirk, more especially in respect that these liberties
were being infringed by innovations imposed at the instance of the
King. The general issue soon became political as well as religious, and,
as events progressed, the one side became more and more associated
with absolutism, the other with resistance to lawful authority. Sir
Thomas Burnet sat in the Parliament of 1621, in which the Five Articles
were passed amid great excitement outside, and during a thunderstorm
of unusual violence, which was taken to be a manifest token of Divine
displeasure. During the thirteen years that followed the strife steadily
gained strength. The Articles, though sanctioned by General Assembly
and Parliament, could with difficulty be enforced ; and the dissatisfaction
was increased by King Charles’ disregard of public feeling on this subject
at the time of his coronation visit of 1633, by the trial and conviction of
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Lord Balmerinoch for presenting a mildly-worded petition against the
unpopular novelties, and then by the highly impolitic introduction of a
Book of Canons and Service Book imposed by royal authority, and at
the instigation of an English prelate. Evidence is wanting of Sir
Thomas Burnet's view of the situation between 1621 and 1637 ; but when
the general excitement following the Edinburgh tumults began we find
him a decided opponent of the Court party, and supporter of the
Covenant, a document, it may be remarked, whose avowed respect for
the royal office led many to join it who would otherwise have stood aloof.

The influence of Bishop Forbes and the learned and accomplished
society which had grown up around the Cathedral and Universities
of Aberdeen had made that town a little centre of loyalty and
Episcopacy ; and the University culture, with its Episcopal bias, had
leavened that large district of the north-east of Scotland which looked
on Aberdeen as its capital. A separate cause why the Covenant was
looked on with disfavour in both town and county was the position held
by the chief potentate of the district, the Marquis of Huntly. The first
Marquis, an avowed Roman Catholic, could not have much weight in
Church matters. But George, second Marquis, who succeeded in 1636,
had been brought up a Protestant in the household of James VI. His
loyalty was unbounded, and his open, chivalrous character rendered him
a general favourite. Tempting offers were made by the leaders of the
Covenant to secure him as an ally, which were courteously, but firmly,
declined. “You may take,” said he, “my head from my shoulders, but
not my heart from my king.” A minority of the gentry of these parts,
including the Keiths, Forbeses, and Frasers, were, from motives of
expediency, favourably disposed towards the Covenant, as an instrument
for breaking down the Gordon ascendency, of which they were envious.
But it would be a mistake to class with them Sir Thomas Burnet, who
had given his adhesion to the same side on purely conscientious grounds,
and in opposition to his political instincts. Spalding describes him as
“a faithful lover and follower of the house of Huntly, ane gryte
Covenanter also,” an anomaly which evidently caused much perplexity
to the good Town-Clerk of Aberdeen,

Immediately on the subscription of the Covenant in Edinburgh, the
powerfully organized body, known as the “Tables,” made arrangements
for enforcing its acceptance throughout the whole country, It being
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resolved that the district north of the Grampians, which was expected to
offer most opposition, should be first dealt with, a Committee, consisting
of some of the most distinguished adherents of the cause, lay and clerical,
was despatched to Aberdeen. Of these the Baronet of Leys was one,
his personal character, conciliatory disposition, and local influence being
doubtless relied on to further their design. Some of the Commissioners,
including Leys, paid a preliminary visit to Aberdeen in the beginning of
July, 1638, when they were met by a polite declinature on the part of
both magistrates and citizens, on the ground that their visitors had no
legal authority to exact the subscriptions demanded. The deputation
returned in greater force on the 20th of the same month, headed by the
Earl of Montrose, newly returned from abroad, who, whether carried
away with the prevailing enthusiasm, or induced, as Mr, Mark Napier
supposes, by the persuasions of persons craftier than himself, was at that
time to all appearance one of the most earnest of the Covenanting Lords.
Along with Montrose were Sir Thomas Burnet, Sir Arthur Erskine of
Scotscraig, Lord Couper (brother of the Lord Balmerinoch whose trial
may almost be said to have sealed the fate of the King’s cause in
Scotland), the Master of Forbes, and Sir Robert Graham of Morphy.
Joined with them, as clerical delegates, were Alexander Henderson, one
of the foremost organizers of the party ; David Dickson, prominent in
the polemical literature of the time ; and Andrew Cant, then minister of
Pitsligo,® the apostle of the Covenant, whose earnest zeal and fiery
cloquence had already won great successes for the cause in Moray and
Ross.  On the arrival of the Commissioners the Aberdeen Magistrates,
agrecably to use and wont, offered them the “ Cup of Bon-Accord,” of
which every visitor to the good town was expected to partake, but they
somewhat unceremoniously declined the proferred collation, holding that
they would compromise themselves by drinking with any who had not
yet subscribed the Covenant. The sequel was, as the Town-Clerk tells
us, that the Provost and Magistrates “caused deal the wyne in the beid
hous amongis the poor men, quhilk they so disdainfully had refusit,
whereof the like wes never done to Aberdein in no man’s memorie.”

* Cant’s eldest son, Andrew, afterwards married a danghter of Sir Thomas Burnet. He,
however, deserted his father’s colours, embracing Episcopacy, and was, at the time of his
marriage, minister of Liberton, and afterwards Principal of Edinturgh University, The younger
son, Alexander, minister of Banchory, steadfast to his father's principles, was ejected in 1662,
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Next day, being Sunday, the Covenanting ministers had hoped to occupy
the pulpits of the city churches, to which, however, the Magistrates and
ministers refused them access. Not to be baffled, they betook themselves
to the town residence of the Earl Marischal, where “ the ladie of Petslego,
his sister, was there dwelling, ane rank puritan,” and there, from
extemporized galleries, Henderson, Dickson, and Cant held forth in
succession to large audiences. On Monday they preached again, and
obtained a few signatures, including, Spalding tells us, “ Mr. Alexander
Jaffray, sindrie of the name of Burnet, and utheris burgesses of Aberdeen.”
Dr. William Guild, one of the Aberdeen ministers, and Mr. Robert
Reid, minister of Banchory, subscribed, with limitations and restrictions
to the effect that they condemned not the Articles of Perth, nor
Episcopal government, and retain all loyal subjection and obedience to
the King.

The chief incident of this covenanting visit was a formal dis-
putation between the clerical members of the Commission and the
theological professors of the University and ministers of Aberdeen,
beginning with a challenge from the Aberdeen doctors, and proceeding,
according to the scholastic usage of the day, by way of demand, answer,
and duply. The Covenanting ministers were somewhat overweighted by
their opponents, who included, among others, the learned and saintly
Dr. John Forbes of Corse, son of Bishop Patrick Forbes, and professor
of theology in King's College, and Dr. Barron, little behind Forbes in
learning, and a man of the most blameless life, on whose theological
works the highest possible encomium has been pronounced by Bishop
Jeremy Taylor* The doctors took up and stood by the not very assail-
able position that, granting the National Covenant to be as excellent a
document as its adherents regarded it, the Commissioners had no right
or authority to force it on those who loved it not. In the course of the
proceedings, Henderson and Dickson, on whom it chiefly devolved to
conduct the controversy, made, as the parson of Rothiemay tells us, a
temporary retreat to the “ Castell of Muchells in Mearnes, the dwelling-
house of Sir Thomas Burnett of Lyes, . . . and in that conveniencye

* In 1640, after Barron’s death, on the plea that there were unsound passages in his writings,
his widow was made prisoner by order of the General Assembly, and dragged in custody of a
body of military from her retreat in Strathilay to enable them to search for her husband’s letters
and manuscripts.
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(he being one who was aeqwally zealouse towards the puritye of the
reformed relligion and the advauncement of the Covenant at that tyme)
they took some dayes leisour for to draw upp an ansuer to the doctors of
Aberdeen’s replyes, which they lyckewayes were necessitated to cause
printe, but not without a complainte to the reader (as they had good
cause) that they were brought upon the stage, and, contrary to ther
expectation, putt in print. And leaving a coppy therof to the doctors,
they went south, without ever expecting or calling for a duply, or tacking
notice of the duplyes of the doctors of Aberdeen to ther second answers,
which not long afterwards the doctors of Aberdeen printed in ane booke
by themselves, of about sixteen sheetes of paper. But ther the dispute
ended, for these duplyes gott never an answer to this daye” It was
with other than forensic weapons that the strife had now to be carried
on.

But there was first a short interlude of negotiation. The Marquis of
Hamilton was appointed King’s Commissioner, and Charles had been
gradually and no doubt unwillingly induced to issue a proclamation
which conceded the demands of the Covenanters to the extent of re-
calling the innovations that had given most offence, and appointing a
day for the convening of a General Assembly and of a Parliament. The
Covenant of the “ Tables” was to be superseded by the King’s Covenant,
namely, the Confession of Faith of 1581, without the postcript lately
appended to it, and with an obligation superadded to defend his
Majesty’s person.  To this Covenant the King’s Commissioner was
enjoined to obtain subscriptions. The King’s Covenant had a more
favourable reception at Aberdeen than elsewhere ; but even there, the
doctors would only sign it with reservations in favour of Episcopacy and
the Articles of Perth. All hopes of compromise were ended by the
attitude assumed by the Assembly that met in Glasgow in November,
which, continuing its sittings in defiance of the Royal Commissioner’s
orders to disperse, proceeded to depose and excommunicate the Bishops
and abolish their office,

The Tables resolved that a Committee should be sent to Aberdeen to
publish the Acts of Assembly at the Market Cross, and also to “ visit the
College of Old Aberdeen and repair the faultes thairof” As has already
been noticed, Sir Thomas Burnet of Leys was on the most friendly
footing with Huntly; and Spalding tells us of an interview between them
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on this subject “ To whome the Marques gave no contentit ansver as done
aganes the King’s command. Then Leyis ansuerit, I feir thir thingis
wilbe done be ane army.”

The note of war was already sounded. Numerous Scots who had
fought in the German wars offered their services to the Covenanting
lords ; and in every county a Committee of War was formed to raise and
discipline troops under the German veterans. Some 4000 men under
Montrose and Leslie were told off to reduce the northern districts to
subjection. On the 12th March the following letter (among the Crathes
papers) was written by Argyll, Montrose, and the other leaders of the
party to Sir Thomas Burnet :—

“ Most honorabill
“This trustie beirer will impairt vnto yow such conclusiones
as are agried heir by commone advyse to be nccessarie for the good of
our commone caus, whose relatioune we are confident yow will not only
beleive But lykwayes follow the wayes he will impairt vnto yow as verie
expedient for preventioune of imminent dangers, and accordinglie will
joyne your best assistance in the executioune of what is determined, as
yow wald give tymous prooff of your affectioune to religioune, the King’s
honor and liberties of the Kingdome ; So we shall evir rest
“Edr 12 March 1630. “Your loving friendes
“ ARGYLL MONTROSE
“ BALMERINO J. BURGLEY
“Mr HARIE POLLOK Mr GIBSONE DURIE
“ ALEX. HENDERSON SHEPBURNE.”

On 16th March a Commission which Huntly had reccived some time
before as King’s Licutenant in the north, but which he had been desired
to keep secret till some emergency occurred, was proclaimed at the Cross
of Aberdeen, and all men from sixteen years old to sixty were ordered to
join his standard. But owing to the supineness (some say treachery) of
Hamilton some considerable succours expected by Huntly were with-
held ; and Montrose, whose activity had been greater than Huntly’s, had
collected a force of 11,000 men, too powerful to be resisted. James
Burnet of Craigmyle, Leys’ brother, likewise a Covenanter, but a friend
of moderate counsels, made a strong representation of the sfafus quo both
to Huntly and to the town of Aberdeen, the result of which was that the
Marquess dissolved his army and retired to Strathbogic, and the Aber-
donians came to the resolution that they would do best to admit the

H
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Covenanting army peaceably into their town, and allow them every
accommodation. Most persons of rank on the non-Covenanting side
having fled, Montrose entered Aberdeen in triumph on the 3oth March,
when the inhabitants were compelled to subscribe the Covenant, but no
great damage was inflicted on the town. Sir Thomas Burnet was one of
a tribunal that sat in the Greyfriars Church on 2nd April and following
days, before which the doctors and citizens and the “ malignants ” among
the nobility and gentry were arraigned, and required to subscribe under
pain of confiscation of their goods. The Covenanting ministers too at
their diets of worship required the assembled audience to declare with
uplifted hands that they subscribed willingly from their hearts and not
from fear or force. “The Lord knowis,” remarks Spalding, “that the
toune’s people were brocht under perjurie for plane feir, and not from a
willing mynd, by tyranny and oppressioun of thir Covenanters, who
compelled them to sweir and subscrive, suppose they knew it was aganes
thair hairts.”

Montrose on the afternoon of the day of his arrival in Aberdeen had
started for Inverury with a body of 1500 men in pursuit of Huntly, The
latter, finding his position desperate, opened negotiations, when a hollow
truce was concluded, Huntly and his people subscribing the old Covenant
with an equivocal docquet which might be interpreted as binding them
equally to Presbyterianism and to Episcopacy. Montrose, however, on his
return to Aberdeen, sent for Huntly, no longer on his guard, to have a
friendly consultation about future plans ; when Huntly, to his surprise,
was first watched, then kidnapped and carried off by the Covenanting
leader to Edinburgh, where he was kept for some time in durance, an act
of bad faith in which there is no reason to believe that the laird of Leys
was implicated,

Huntly’s seizure, as might be expected, roused his friends to action.
His second son, James, Viscount Aboyne, assembled a body of men from
the Gordon country ready for revenge.  After attacking and dispersing a
body of the adherents of the Covenant at Turriff, they marched into
Aberdeen, where they made a few days’ stay, plundering the houses of
those citizens who had become converts to the Covenant. The “Barons,”
as Huntly’s party were called, apprehensive of a hostile move on the part
of the Earl Marischal, were resolved, unless they had assurances of his
friendliness, to waste his lands. The two most moderate men however
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on either side, Burnet of Craigmyle and Gordon of Straloch, anxious to
avoid bloodshed, endeavoured to bring about a peaceful settlement, and
for that purpose had an interview with the Earl Marischal. Over con-
fident in the success of the negotiation, the Barons disbanded their army;
and next day Aberdeen was occupied by the Earl Marischal, immediately
followed by Montrose, their combined force numbering 6000 horse and
foot, besides artillery. Montrose, who had obtained written evidence that
the citizens were ready on the first opportunity to repudiate their accept-
ance of the Covenant as having been obtained by force and fear, imposed
on them a fine of 10,000 merks, and gave his soldiers free permission to
pillage. A rumour having arisen of an invasion by sea of the King’s
party, the authorities were commanded to block the harbour by sinking
ships on the bar ; but the order was recalled in consequence of a strong
remonstrance made by a few of the nobles and gentry of the county and
inhabitants of the burgh, one of the signatories being “ Alexander Burnet
younger of Leyis.”

On the 6th June, Aboyne, with a commission as King’s lieutenant,
arrived by sea with a body of followers at Aberdeen, which had been
previously evacuated by Montrose. His army, of course, plundered the
houses of citizens believed to be Covenanters. Several leading Covenan-
ters were captured in the Mearns by his “ outwatchis,” among them James
Burnet of Craigmyle, who, however, got his liberty on taking the oath of
allegiance. Aboyne’s army, marching out of Aberdeen, encamped on
the 14th at Muchalls, which house, says the parson of Rothiemay, “was
rifled by them the next day in ther returne ; and the night that they lay
ther the cornes abused and anything else, as ther humors served them,
whereupon they could lay their handes, for many of the countrye people
were fledde, and ther best goods transported into the stronge holde of
Dunnoter, fiot far distant.” Next day a battle was fought near Stone-
haven, where Montrose was victorious ; and four days later he was again
master of Aberdeen, after a fierce struggle at the bridge of Dee.
Montrose had a warrant from the Tables to give up the town to
indiscriminate pillage, and reduce it to ashes, and while he hesitated to
give effect to it, news arrived of the pacification of Berwick, on receiving
which he restored the keys to the magistrates, and, after exacting a
tribute, took his departure.

The peace was of short duration, and the Covenanters preserved their
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ascendency. In the early part of 1644 Aberdeen was visited first by a
Cavalier army under Huntly, who, as usual, pillaged both the town and
the country around. Young Irvine of Drum, who was one of the more
fiery spirits of the party, “plunderit his own cusing John Irving of
Kincouseis armes out of Auchquhorties, and James Burnett of Cragmyllis
armis out of Blackhillis.” Craigmyle also figures at this time as one of
four Commissioners from the Committees of War for Angus and Mearns,
whose mission was to bring pressure on Huntly to disband his troops,
The Cavalier army had hardly left the town when a Covenanting force
arrived under Argyll and the Earl Marischal, a visitation which brought
still further miseries in its train. During that occupation, a Committee
of the Estates for Northern Business met at Aberdeen, to which a
petition was presented by Lord Fraser, Sir Thomas Burnet of Leys, his
brother of Craigmyle, Patrick Leslie, provost, and Alexander Jaffray,
bailie of Aberdeen, and the provosts of Banff and Montrose, complaining
of their losses in victual, horses, household plenishing, etc, by the
quartering of troops, and desiring redress out of the first and readiest
effects of the “malignants” that should come to hand. The matter
was remitted to the next meeting of the same Committee at Aberdeen,
which took place on 25th July following, but with what result does
not appear.

Later in the year Montrose, now a Marquis, and devoted to the
King, marched northwards, no longer to enforce the Covenant, but to
suppress it, the Covenant, however, not being now that of 1638, but the
Solemn League and Covenant, one of whose provisions was that a Scots
army should be despatched into England against the King. After
fording the Dee at Mills of Drum, on 11th September, he encamped at
Crathes, and, as the Aberdeen Town Clerk informs us, “ with his gaird
soupit with the laird of Leyis, after he had summoned him to render
his house.” He did no harm, but took some arms and horses and
promise of some men. “Leyis offerit him som five thousand merks of
money, which he nobly refused.” Lord Airlie and his sons, Lord
Dupplin and the Master of Spynie, we elsewhere learn, were of the party.
Again, a month later, Montrose, with his forces, arrived by the same
route at Crathes, spent the night with his hospitable opponent, and the
same chronicler tells us that the laird of Leys “gave contentment to
Montrose”  We next find Montrose passing through Aberdeenshire,
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burning, spulzieing and plundering the lands of the supporters of the
Covenant, but “on Saturday, the roth October, he dined in Monymusk
with the lady,” this lady being Sir Thomas Burnet's daughter, “and,
upon fair conditions, he spared him at this time” He then went on
his way, harrying the lands of the Covenanters. On Montrose's visit
next year, it is also said that “he spairit be the way the laird of
Monymusk and Leyis' lands unplundered upon some privie conditions.”
Leys and his son-in-law, be it remarked, are the only Covenanters who
are thus protected and defended ; and it is quite clear that it was the
instinct of old friendship and personal regard, creditable to both parties,
that led the Marquess to single them out for exemption from the rigorous
treatment dealt to others,

But in the distracted state of these northern parts, occupied alternately
by hostile Irish and Highland forces, it was not to be expected that
Sir Thomas Burnet's domains should be exempt from plundering and
harrying. Spalding alludes to highlanders from Cromar, Birse, Strachan,
and Aboyne plundering the lands of the laird of Drum and other
enemies of the Covenant; but there is evidence at Crathes that the
lands of Leys were subject to like visitations, and that Sir Thomas
armed and organised half of his retainers to put down their depredations
(Leys Barony Court Book; Spald. Club. Misc, v,, 227). The Estates
meantime found it necessary to impose an excise and other heavy taxes
for the maintenance of the army to be sent in terms of the new Covenant
into England, exactions which produced much discontent among the
adherents of both sides; and we find Sir Thomas Burnet petitioning for
an exemption from these imposts, and for aid against the highlanders.
General Middleton, commander of the intended expedition, by order of
the Committee of Estates, writes to him as follows :—

“By Major Generall Middletone Commander of the forces for the
Present expedition.

“Wheras thair wes ane supplicatioun gevin in to the parliament be
St Thomas burnet of Leyes and others heritours and gentlemen within
the parochines of banchory straquhan and kincardyne Shewing the hard
estate of that Countrey by the continewall dounfalling of the neighbouring
hiclanders of birss Cromar glentanner aboyne Strathdone And desyring
the estates of Parliament To consider thfof and to prouyd remeid thrto
for tht security And withall undertaking vpon thf exemptioun from other
publict leavies and birthens to put out the Just haiff of th® wholl men both
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horse and foote for tht effect As at length is contenit in the supplicatioune
Quhilk being remitted be the parliament to the Committee of estates and
the said desyre being found reasonable be the said Committee and
recommended be you to me for thr liberatioun from new leauvies and
securing of the countrey from Infalls of the forsaids hielanders and
rebells 1 do heireby declair that the forsaid horse and foote put out be
you for the effect hes beine and is necessar and expedient and hes beine
a powerful meane for quyeting that part of the countrey from the saids
hiclanders And thrfor doe exeeme and frie thame of any new leavies or
other publict denis furth of thr saids lands within the saids thric parochines
in tyme coming conforme to the Committeis reference to me theranent
and do heirby Discharge all officers and soldiers belonging to the Army
from troubling you thrfor as they will be ansuerable vpon thr perrel.
“Given at Aberdeen the 10 of June 1645.
“Jo. MIDDLETONE.”

It seems to have been about this time that Leys sent his whole silver
plate to Edinburgh to be melted down for the good of the cause, by way
of loan to be hereafter repaid, and, at the request of the Marquess of
Argyll, made other large advances in money, for which he next year
obtained the following promise of payment, a promise, however, which
was not followed by performance :—

“ Edinburgh 18th July 1646.

“ Anent the supplicatioun presented to the Commitie of Processes
and money be St Thomas Burnet of Leyes Maikand mentioun That
whair in his affectioun to the publict cause he did voluntarly without so
much as desyred send over to Edr his wholl silver worke and reseaved
two bands therfor extending to the sume of an thousand seven hundreth
threttie three punds And sensyn he has advanced to Johne Denholme
Commissary Conforme to his bands Nyne thousand merks And lately
advanced fourescoire sextein bolls of victuall partly to Generall Maior
Middletoun and partly to the Treasurer of the army off which soumes
and annuall rents therof he hes reseaved no satisfactioun Albeit an great
part of the siluer worke of the kingdome be payed and intended not to
have been trublesome at this tyme in the disyreing therof if necessity did
not vrge, his wholl lands being brunt and wasted by the rebells Which
forces him now for his present subsistence Humbly to desyre that sum
cffectual meane might be thought vpon for his satisfactioune and the
pryce of his victuall might be condiscended vpon With the quhilk
supplicatioun and desire therofi the said Committie being well and ryplie
advised And having appoynted some of thair owne number for fitting of
the supplicants accompts of his victuall They find that the supplicant
hath delyuired to Hew Sternour servitour to the Lord Humby in Junij
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1645 for the use of the army the number of fourscore bolls ait meall
conforme to his recept therof As also that he hath delivered for the use
of the forces under the command of Generall Maior Middeltoun the
number of sextein bolls ait meall in Aprile last as appeares vnder the
band of the said Generall Maior And the said Committie allowes for the
pryce of ilk boll of the said victuall the sume of fyve pund Scots,
Extending in the haill to the soume of four hundreth and fourescore
punds And declares that they will cause the samyn with such other
soumes as shall be fund restand to the supplicant for his siluer worke
And the bygane annuall rents of the forsaid soume of nyne thousand
merks advanced by the supplicant to the publict and for which soume
the supplicant hath two severall bands of john Denholme Commissary
be payed And for that effect with the first conveniency will grant precept
for the samyn.
“ Extractum per me
“JA. PRYMROSE.”

The story is well known of the episode called the “ Engagement,” a
proposal made in 1648 at Newport that Charles I. should become a
covenanted king over a covenanted people. It was unsupported by
Argyll and the more influential Covenanters generally, who feared being
brought by it into a questionable alliance with the Cavaliers and the
old parliamentary party in England. The engagers collected a force,
marched into England, headed by the Duke of Hamilton, but were
signally defeated by Cromwell. A few months later followed the
beheading of Charles, followed by the execution of the Duke of Hamilton
in London for the engagement invasion, and of Montrose and Huntly
in Scotland for treason to the Covenant.

Charles II. had been proclaimed King in Scotland as soon as the
news arrived of his father’s death; and a Parliament of the most
uncompromisingly covenanting character was assembled in his name,
In the records of this Parliament of 1649 occurs a complaint of Sir
Thomas Burnet to the effect that, a levy of horse and foot having
in 1648 been ordered to be raised from the disaffected and “engagers”
in each shire, an attempt had been made to include his lands in those
assessed, notwithstanding that he was one of the few gentry of the
Mearns who were well affected to the Covenant and opponents of the
engagement, and setting forth his losses already alluded to, and estimated
at £67,000, as a special reason why he should not be thus inequitably
dealt with, The result was an Act in favour of Sir Thomas Burnet,
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declaring his exemption from this levy, and recommending the
Committee of Money to take steps regarding his “lent money” and
“silver works ™ (Scots Acts, VL, ii,, 404). There seems to be no evidence
that this recommendation was carried into cffect more than the former one.
On 3rd July, 1650, Charles II,, having agreed to be the Covenanting
King of a Covenanting people, landed at Elgin,® and taking in his way
Huntly’s now garrisoned castle of Gight, he went on, by Aberdeen, to
Dunbar. In October following, the Earl Marischal writes the following
letter to Sir Thomas Burnet :—
“ Honored freind,

“I doubt not bot yow know his Matie is now in the feilds
and heath comanded me to caus all within this shyr to be in redines to
attend him therfor seing yow ar not abell your selph for the feilds I
disyr yow will send yowr best horses men and arms here to dunoter on
Munday be tyms wt S* Robert Duglas whoum 1 heaue particularly
aduertsed my selph lykwayes this expecting you will not feall I am

“ Dunoter 3 “Your affectionat and
“Octobor “asured freind
“1650." “ MARISCHALL.”

The next public events, which speedily followed each other, were
Cromwell’s defeat of Leven's army at Dunbar, the coronation in haste
of Charles II. on 1st January, 1651, the King's march with Leven’s army
into England, the defeat of Worcester, and Charles’ flight. Cromwell
had left General Monk in command in Scotland, with an army of
50000 men. Of date r2th April, 1651, the following holograph letter,
now at Crathes, was written by King Charles I, granting the land of
Leys an exemption from the quartering of soldiers :—

“Charles R.
“Wheras it hath beane represented vnto us in the behalfe of our
welbeloved the Laird of Leys Burnett that upon the pretence of ane
band given by him to Coll. Henry Mauld or to some of his officers to
produce some men were deficient to his regiment (which men were
afterwards really and effectively sent to the regiment and reeceaved into
it) you nowe quarter for the money contained in the said band which
il it be true as is averred in the name of the said Laird is a very greate
oppression Therefore and vntill the matter shall be hearde and considered
we apoynt and command you to widrawe and take off the soldiers soe

* Of date 5th July, 1650, in the records of Parlinment is an entry, *“ Report of laird of Leys
read and approved ' (Seots Acts, V1., ii., 606).
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quartered vpon the Laird of Leys his lands and not to trouble or molest
him or any of his Tennants vpon the pretence of the band and this as
you will answeare the contrary vpon your highest perril Given att our
Court att Dumfermelyne the 12 of aprile 1651.

“For Capt Inglish
“in Coll. Henry Maulds Regiment.”

Two days before the battle of Worcester, on 1st September, 1651,
Monk stormed Dundee, where, encountering a prolonged resistance, he,
contrary to his wont, slaughtered the garrison and a large number of the
peaceful inhabitants, and pillaged the town to such an extent that each
of his soldiers received nearly £60 sterling.

The Commonwealth was now established in Scotland, and an
ordinance of indemnity was passed by the Lord Protector, from which,
however, there were very wide exemptions made, including the Royal
family, the Earls Marischal, Lauderdale, and Loudoun, all the
“resolutioners,” all who had served in Hamilton’s army, who had
taken part in the coronation of Charles II, or taken arms for him. Sir
Thomas Burnet’s exemption was secured by the following letter from
Monk, dated from Dundee :—

“For my honoured friend Sir Thomas Burnett of Leys, Barronett
there.

“Sir, I thought good to assure you that your dwellinghouse shall not
be made garryson of, and assure yourselfe I shall be ready to doe you
all the lawfull favors that lyes in the power of him who is

“Your assured friend and servant,

“ GEORGE MONCK.”
“Dundee 26th December 1651.”

The following protection from another of Cromwell’s officers, Colonel
Overtoun, is also in the Crathes archives :—

“These are to require all officers and soldiers under Command of his
excellence the Lord Generall Cromwell to forbear to molest or trouble
the person of Sir Thomas Burnet his houses Lands or take away his
Corn, Cattell, or anything belonging to him, (except by order) and acting
nothing preiudiciall to the state of England.

“RT. OVERTON.”
In earlier days we found Sir Thomas Burnett co-operating with Bish_op
Patrick Forbes in removing abuses in King’s College and amending its
I
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discipline. There is no trace of his having had a hand in its “ purgation”
at the instance of the more violent spirits of the party in 1640, a measure
which happily was not altogether successful in extinguishing the
academical learning of the north. We find in the records of the
Parliament of 1649 the name of Sir Thomas Burnet as one of a proposed
Commission to visit Aberdeen University (Scots Acts, VI, ii, 509). His
continued love of his Alma Mater, notwithstanding its prelatic leanings,
is shewn by his endowing three bursaries of philosophy in King's College.
The deed of foundation,* dated 6th and r2th October, 1648, is in the
form of a contract mortifying four crofts near Aberdeen for the main-
tenance of the bursars, and providing that the presentation is to be in
the hands of himself and his successors, lairds of Leys. There is a
provision that these bursars are to be educated according to the same
manner in which the rest of the bursars of philosophy in the said College
already founded are educated and entertained. The yearly revenue of
the four crofts mortified was originally under £10, corresponding pretty
nearly with the income enjoyed by Bishop Elphinstone’s bursars alluded
to in the deed of foundation ; but in course of time, by the extension of
building operations about Aberdeen, an income of about 4300 was
derived from them. The increased rent, however, thus derived from the
crofts the University applied, not to improve the position of the bursars,
but for College purposes. In 1843, Sir Thomas Burnett, 8th baronet,
came forward with great public spirit to vindicate the right of the bursars,
of whom he was patron, to something better than what had become a
mere illusory provision, and raised an action in the Court of Session,
calling on the College authorities to pay over the whole of the improved
rents of the Leys crofts to the Leys bursars. The Court of Session on
23rd February, 1844, and the House of Lords on 28th August, 1846,
affirming the judgment of the Scottish Court, pronounced in favour of
Sir Thomas Burnett's contention, and the Leys bursaries, from being the
least valuable, are now one of the more valuable foundations of the kind
belonging to the University of Aberdeen.

Another educational foundation by Sir Thomas Burnett was an
endowment, by a bond dated 2g9th October, 1651, of 5000 marks to the
Grammar School of Banchory-Ternan.

*See Appendix.
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He had, on 15th January, 1614-15, been, with his father, a party to a
grant of annual rent of 200 merks to six poor men of the parish of
Banchory. At a later period he had built a hospital at Banchory for the
support of the aged dwelling on his own estates and elsewhere within the
parish, and, in October, 1651, he mortified 6300 merks secured on certain
lands held by him in wadset in the parish of Crimond, for the maintenance
of the inmates of that hospital.

Sir Thomas Burnett was twice married, and had a family by each
wife. His first wife, whom he married in 1610, was Margaret, eldest
daughter of Sir Robert Douglas of Glenbervie,* to whom allusions are
made in the letters of his uncle, Duncan. Excellent advice is contained
in these letters on the duties of a husband. In the same bed-chamber
at Crathes where is the large oak bedstead of Sir Thomas’s father and
mother, already described, there is a handsome wardrobe with carved
doors, which must have been of the date of the marriage of Thomas
Burnett and Margaret Douglas.. On one of the upper panels is the coat
of Burnett with the initials T, B.; on the other Burnett is impaled with
the quartered coat of Douglas (the heart uncrowned) and Auchinleck,
with initials M. D. On the two lower panels the four initial letters are
united in a monogram. The issue of this marriage were two sons and
two daughters.

I. ALEXANDER, Younger of Leys, admitted an honorary burgess of
Aberdeen in 1633, and in the same year married Jean, eldest
daughter of Sir Robert Arbuthriot of that Ilk, and sister
of the 1st Viscount Arbuthnot. Her tocher was 20,000
marks,} and her father-in-law gave her the life-rent of Pitten-
keirie, Brathinche and Invercanny, of Tillihaikie and Brigend,
and of Wester Slowie, Borrowstoun and Cowcardie. We have
found him in May, 1639, a petitioner against Montrose’s proposal
to block up the harbour of Aberdeen in order to oppose the
landing of a Royalist force, and his name appears on the

*Second son of the gth Earl of Angus, whose right of succession King James VL., in the
capacity of heir of law, unsuccessfully contested on the plea of the invalidity of the exclusion of
heirs female in the settlement of 1547, which the King stigmatised as ** against the law of God,
the law humane and of nature.”

+MS. note by John Riddell of discharge of the same by Alexander and his father in the
Arbuthnot charter chest, of date 24th September, 1633.
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Committees of War for Kincardineshire in 1644 and 1646. He
died in June, 1648 ; and his widow, in 1651, married Patrick
Gordon of Glenbucket. The issue of Alexander Burnett and
Jean Arbuthnot were three sons and two daughters, each
(except the eldest son) provided for by their grandfather, Sir
Thomas, to the extent of 40,000 marks, viz.:—

1. Sir ALEXANDER, afterwards 2nd Baronet.

. Trowmas, designed “in Pittenkeirie,” afterwards had Sauchen
in wadset from his uncle from 1668 to 1672 ; was made an
honorary burgess of Aberdeen, 1678 ; and in 1688, as “ Thomas
Burnett of Clerkseat,” subscribed £20 to the new buildings of
King's College (Fasti Aberd., p. 554). He died without issue,
and his nephew, Sir Thomas Burnett, was served heir in
general to him on 24th March, 1691.

3. Mr. RoBERT, at King’s College in 1664, where he graduated,

1668. In 1674 he was made an honorary burgess of Aber-

deen ; and in 1675 he purchased Glenbervie from his father’s

cousin-german, Robert, eldest son of Sir William Douglas,

Bart. (to whom Glenbervie had been conveyed by his father),

and a few years afterwards married Katherine, daughter of this

same Sir William Douglas (by Janet, daughter of Alexander

Irvine of Drum). On the death of her brother, Sir Robert

Douglas, at Sternkirk in 1692, Katherine became heir of line

of that branch of the Angus family. Mr. Robert died in

1699, having had by Katherine Douglas three sons and two

daughters.®* His eldest son, Thomas Burnett of Glenbervie,

married, 1701, Agnes, second daughter and co-heir of Mr.

Robert Burnet of Cowtoun, “tutor of Leys”; and died,

January, 1712, leaving two children under age, a son, Thomas,

who died shortly afterwards, and a daughter, Katherine, who

married, circa 1728, George Gordon of Buckie,. When a minor,

3]

* These were—1, Thomas, his heir. 2. John, alive 1704. 3. Robert, merchant, Montrose,
married, 17th December, 1724, Elizabeth Dunbar (according to the Montrose parish register,
which also contains the record of the baptism of the following children :—Elizabeth, 28th
September, 1725; Margaret, sth January, 1727; William, 16th June, 1729; Jean, 26th
December. 1729 ; Mary, jist October, 1731 ; and Christian, 2gth May, 1733). 4. Margaret,
5. Elizabeth,
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Katherine, with consent of her curator and under authority of
the Court of Session, sold Glenbervie (a transaction ratified
when she was of age) to William Nicolson, afterwards Sir
William Nicolson of Kemnay, Bart., who married Katherine’s
mother for his fourth wife. Glenbervie now belongs to the
descendant in the female line (but by a previous marriage) of
this Sir William Nicolson, who is married to a Burnett of
Monboddo.

I. MARGARET, mentioned in Sir Thomas Burnett’s will.

2. JEAN, married (sasine on marriage contract dated 2nd Septem-
ber, 1661) John Skene of Skene; “a lady of uncommon
conduct and frugality.” She “built the new midle part of the
house of Skene in her widowhood, and put the roof on the old
tower. She died at Crathes in harvest 1688, somewhat more
than eight years after her husband’s death” (Memorials of the
Family of Skene, p. 38).

II. Mr. ROBERT, who became a member of the Faculty of Advocates,
22nd June, 1642,* and was, like his father, attached to the
Covenanting party. In 1649 we find him a Parliament
Commissioner for visiting the University of St. Andrews. He
married on 16th February, 1643, Katherine, daughter of
Alexander Pearson, advocate, a senator of the College of Justice
from 1649 to 1656 under the title of Lord Southhall. The
Edinburgh parish register contains entries of the baptism of five
sons and three daughters of this marriage.

1. THOMAS, 31st December, 1646. On 15th April, 1676, Master
Thomas Burnet was served heir general of Master Robert

* Four advocates of the name of Robert Burnett, about whom there has been some confusion,
require to be carefully distinguished from each other.

1. Robert Burnett of Crimond, brother of the 1st Baronet of Leys, admitted to the bar, 1617;
raised to the bench as Lord Crimond, and died in 1661.

2. Robert (apparently one of the family of Barns), admitted 1622 ; seems to have died about
1634 ; called in respect of his juniority to Lord Crimond * Robert Burnet, younger.”

3. The present Robert, called “ younger” from 1634 to 1661, when he becomes simply
Robert Burnet, the addition of elder being given him after 1657.

4. Robert, son of Lord Crimond, admitted to the bar, 1657 ; inherited the designation of
younger in 1661 : died, 1662.
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Burnet, advocate, his father ; but there seems to be no further
trace of the continued existence of Robert Burnet's issue male.

ALEXANDER, 3oth December, 1649.

3. Another ALEXANDER, 2nd June, 1653.

4. WiLLiauM, 26th October, 1656.

ARCHIBALD, 2g9th April, 1660,

. JEAN, 6th February, 1644.

RACHEL, 4th Januvary, 1655. ,

3. ELIZABETH, 2gth September, 1658. Married William Hamilton,
writer in Edinburgh, as appears from his confirmed testament,
19th December, 1685, given up by her as executrix dative,
in virtue of marriage contract between her and said William,
with consent of Katherine Pearson, her mother.

I. JEAN, married, 1st, in 1632, Sir William Forbes of Monymusk,
2nd Bart., who died, 1654,* and by whom she had issue ; 2ndly,
Robert Cumyn of Altyre, s.p.

II. KATHERINE, married, in 1638, Robert Gordon of Pitlurg.}

B

- ln

[

Sir Thomas Burnett, having become a widower, remarried (contract
dated at Carnbee, oth August, 1621, as appears from Sir Thomas’
“ private register”) Jean, daughter of Sir John Moncreiff of that Ik, and
widow of Sir Simon Fraser of Inverallochy, 3rd son of Simon, 6th Lord
Lovat. Her arms are to be seen impaled with those of her husband on a
tablet, formerly at Muchalls, but now built into the outer wall of Crathes.
There are a huntsman and a dog for supporters, the usual crest, but for
motto Alterius non sit qui polest esse suus.} To this lady Sir Thomas

" 215t May, 1632, sasine lo Jean, eldest daughter of Sir Thomas Burnet of Leys, by Sir
William Forbes of Monymusk (her future husband) of Torrie. (Kincardineshire Sasines).

Farth April, 1638, sasine to Robert Gordon, eldest son of Mr. Robert Gordon of Straloch

and Katherine, daughter of Sir Thomas Burnet of Leys, his future spouse, of teinds of Straloch.
(Banfishire Sasines.)

+ This motto is referred to by Sir George Mackenzie :—* The Earl of Galloway has for his
crest & Pelican feeding her young ones in a nest, or ; and the motto is, Virescit Vulnere Virtus.
And yet Burnet of Burnetland, who has for his crest, a hand holding a pruning knife, pruning
a Hollin-tree all proper, hath the same motto : and having pursued Burnet of Lees before
Lindsay of The Mount, then Lyon, to change his motto, Lees did thereupon take for his motto,
Alterins non sit qui potest esse suus, alluding to the occasion.”  (Heraldry, Chap. xxxii.)
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seems to have been deeply attached, and there is no appearance of any
such slight matrimonial breezes as are hinted at in one of Duncan
Burnet’s letters in reference to the first wife. Honourable mention is
made of her in Samuel Rutherfurd’s letters. The minister of Anwoth
was banished to Aberdeen in 1636 by the Court of High Commission for
contravening the Articles of Perth ; and, though allowed to go at large
within the town, he found his surroundings most uncongenial ; but while
he knew of only “one pious family in the town of Aberdeen,” he had
evidently experienced comfort and sympathy from the excellent lady of
Crathes. “Madam,” says he, in writing to Lady Kenmure, “I have been
that bold as to put you and the sweet child into the prayers of Mr.
Andrew Cant, Mr, James Martin, the lady Leyis, and some others in this
country that truly love Christ.”

Of Sir Thomas’ second marriage there were three sons and four
daughters :—

I. THOMAS, of Sauchen. In February, 1642, when this Thomas
could not have been above seventeen years of age, his father was
party to a contract for his marriage (or that of one of his younger
brothers) on conditions which at the present day appear rather
singular. . (See Appendix.) The other contracting party is Mr.
William Burnet, laird of Sauchen and Cairnday, and parson of
Kinnerny (a parish now conjoined with Cluny), who had two
daughters, Bessie and Helen. The eclder of the two young
ladies is, when of a marriageable age, to be offered to Thomas,
and in the case of his refusal or of his predecease, to William,
next younger brother to Thomas, and on William’s refusal or
predecease, to the youngest brother, James. On the contingency
of the refusal or predecease of Bessie, Helen is to be substituted
for her, Whichever brother accepts the lady offered to him is to
get his father-in-law’s inheritance ; and in the case of the non-
acceptance of all the brothers, that inheritance is to go to Bessie,
or, failing her, to Helen, provided these young ladies marry in
accordance with Sir Thomas’ wishes. If the sisters die, the
whole is to go absolutely to Sir Thomas Burnett. Mr. William
reserves his own liferent of Sauchen, and his own and his wife’s
liferent of Cairnday. On 22nd March following Sir Thomas was
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duly infeft in Sauchen and Cairnday on a charter by Mr. William
embodying the terms of this contract. Thomas and Bessie were
duly married in 1648,* and the former was put in possession of
Sauchen, which he held from the Huntly family. There seems
to have been some litigation regarding Cairnday, probably with
his mother-in-law. Thomas also owned Tillicairn, formerly the
property of Matthew Lumsden, author of the “ Genealogie of
the House of Forbes" eventually wadsetted to and afterwards
approved by James Rose of Findrack. He seems to have acted
as factor for his father. His two younger sons, William and
Alexander, seem to have died young, and he had a daughter
married to Master Lodovic Gordon, minister of Aboyne.

1. ROBERT, the eldest son, at King’s College in 1664, and M.A.
1668, was in 1686 presented by his cousin, the 3rd Baronet
of Leys, to the incumbency of Banchory, from which he was
deposed by the General Assembly for non-jurancy in 1695.
Reponed three years later, he became parson of Fintray in
1699. The same year he became laird of Sauchen by his
father’s death, but survived him only two years. Half of his
tombstone is to be seen in the part of Banchory Churchyard
which formed the site of the old church. His male line
seems to have become extinct in the second generation.
By Jean Reid, his wife, daughter of his predecessor in the
incumbency of Banchory, he had issue :—

(1) ROBERT, last laird of Sauchen. He had sasine on
Precept from the Marquess of Huntly as heir to his
father in Sauchen, where he is called “generosus
juvenis.” The same year he married Jean, daughter of
John Barclay in Eslie He died in 1768, aged 84, and
his widow in 1780. His only son, Andrew, pre-
deceased him, unmarried ; his daughters were—Jean,
died unmarried, 1st July, 1801, aged 73; Mary, died
1784, aged 85,; Margaret, married James Martin,
merchant in  Aberdeen, afterwards in Rotterdam ;

* Thomas Burnet of Sauchen is on 6th Oclober, 1648, witness to the foundation contract of
the Leys bursarics,
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Katherine, married David Scott, factor on the estate
of Craigievar; and Janet, died unmarried, 1791. To
one of the descendants of Mrs. Scott, Mrs. Gibson,
wife of the Rev. J. W. Gibson, minister of Dysart, the
author has to acknowledge his obligations for leave to
inspect various papers of interest regarding the Sauchen
Burnetts, including the marriage contract alluded to in
the text and given at length in the Appendix.

(2) ALEXANDER, who had a bond from his father in 1691
calling him second son.

(3) JoHN, who was minister of Cluny from 1719 to 1741,
married Agnes, daughter of George Skene, minister of
Kinkell, and died in 1741, his wife surviving him till
1785. In his will, to which his widow had confirmation
in 1742, seven sons of the marriage are enumerated—
Charles, Robert, George, Francis, Andrew, Alexander,
and John ; and five daughters—]Jean, Mary, Margaret,
Catherine, and Agnes. The sole survivor of the sons
in 1791 seems to have been Alexander, who had been
minister of Footdee from 1765 to 1773, and with him
expired the descendants in the male line of the Sauchen
line of the family.

(1) ANNE, married, 1st, Andrew Burnet, physician in
Aberdeen ; 2ndly, Dr. John Gordon, minister of St.
Paul’s, then one of the licensed Episcopal chapels in
Aberdeen. That lady had, on 13th’ April, 1772, as
widow of Dr. Andrew Burnet and wife of Dr. John
Gordon, sasine on a post-nuptial contract of an annuity
from Clopelle (?), parish of Fetteresso. Her will, to
which her niece, Mrs. Scott, was confirmed executrix,
contains much of the information here given about this
generation of the Burnetts of Sauchen.

(2) KATHERINE, married, before 1732, Robert Calder.

(3) JEAN, married, before 1739, John Lunan.

K



66 THE FAMILY OF BURNETT OF LEYS.

I1. WiLLIAM, at King’s College in 1645, and M.A. 1649, is designed
“ Master William ” in his father’s will.

ITI. JAMES, in the proceedings in a family lawsuit, is mentioned as alive
in 1666 (Burnet ». Fraser, 7th February, 1673 ; Mor. 13470), and
is probably the “James Burnet of Leyes” encountered by General
Patrick Gordon, first in the train of the Waywode of Kiew in
1659, and afterwards (in 1665), apparently in pecuniary straits.
“James Burnet of Leyes has most earnestly entreated me for the
lend of five pound Sterling. I send a note to Mr. Peter Webster
to deliver him the money” (Diary of General Patrick Gordon,

pp- 30, 94).

[. MARGARET, married John Kennedy of Kermucks (Sasine, 22nd
July, 1673, to Mr. Robert Burnett of Muchalls. Aberdeenshire
Sasines).

II. ELIZABETH, married, 1st, Sir Robert Douglas of Tilliwhilly
{Sasine to her, 31st May, 1666, Aberdeenshire Sasines, and
Burnet v. Fraser uz supra); 2ndly, Fullerton of Kinnaber.

I[I. ANNE, married almost immediately after her father’s death
Andrew Cant, son of the famous Covenanting minister. The
younger Andrew was then minister of Liberton, embraced
Episcopacy and became one of the clergy of Edinburgh, and
principal of Edinburgh University.

I'V. HELEN, unmarried at the time of her father’s death. According
to Douglas, Sir Thomas' youngest daughter married “Colonel
Barron of Strachan.”

In June, 1648, Sir Thomas Burnett’s eldest son died, leaving his three
sons and two daughters (already enumerated) under his guardianship.

In 1651 and 1652 Sir Thomas employed himself much in settling the
affairs of his family, making provisions to the extent of 10,000 marks for
the sons and unmarried daughters of his second marriage, secured to
them after the fashion of the time by leases of lands, which he held in
wadset ; and entering all these writs verbatim in a “ private register”
kept by him in his own handwriting. In December, 1652, a ycar before
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his death, he made his will* Composed and written by himself, it
combines the most businesslike precision with the most characteristic
individuality. Wills in those days often began with.a profession of faith,
but the exordium is here unusually full and emphatic. “I leave my soul
to God the Father Almighty, maker of heaven and earth, and to Jesus
Christ his only Sonne our Lord (and I believe my Lord and Redeemer
and Only Saviour), and to the Holy Ghost (my Sanctifier and Comforter),
proceeding from the Father and from the Sonne, One God and Three
Persones, Co-essentiall, Co-equall and Co-eternall, Blessed for ever and
ever: and my body to be buried in my predecessouris Ile and buriall-
place, now adjoyned to the church of Banchory-Ternan.” He makes his
oye and apparent heir Alexander his executor, or failing him and the
heirs male of his body Alexander’s brother Thomas, or failing them his
next heir male “that falls to succeed by the lawes of this Kingdom.”
There is an enumeration of his debts to strangers, to his children and
grandchildren in virtue of deeds of provision, to the “ man’s scoole” and
“woman’s scoole” and hospital of Banchory, &c. Then comes the
following provision as to his tenantry :—* Furthermore, becaus partly
throw evill seasones and evill cropes, partly also throw the great troubles
in the country, divers tenants diversely trubled and molested by burning,
plundering, quarterings, have been made unable to pay their full duities
yearly according to their severall assedationes: so that many rests and
byrun duities are in their hands, which all, if they should be exactly
taken up by my aires and exequitours, they should not only be unable to
labour the ground, but also altogether depauperat themselves, and their
children forced to begg ; therefore I ordain be ther presents that all
byrune duities, fearmes, sowmes of money, or whatsoever comptes and
reackoning betwixt me and them for ground duty, be simpliciter and
full discharged, lyk as I be the tenor hereof simpliciter and fully and
wholly discharges them all, excepting only the wholl and full yeir’s duity
wherin I happin to die and depart this lyfe ; with this special provision
and condition that such tenants as gets all their byrune duities thus quytt
and wholly forgiven them remove not out of my ground without my aire
and successour his leive asked and given, otherwayis such as will needs
remove without leive asked and given, I ordeen them to pay all their

*The full text, printed in the Appendix, may be referred to for the family provisions made
by it.
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duities before their removall ; for my intention in quytting the byrun
duities is to make them the more able to labour my ground, and the
more thankfully to pay my aire and successour his ground duity in tyme
cumming, and not that they should depart and inrich uther men’s ground
with the goods and gier due to me and myne. And least good tenants,
who shall not be resting byrune duities, should have occasioun to grudge
and compleane that they got no benefit for good payment, but that the
wost payers faire best at my hands, therfor for their incouriadgment to
continew still good payers, I ordein by ther presents, that all such as
shall be resting no byrun duities preceeding the yeire I happin to die
and depairt this lyfe in, gett that wholl yeir’s duity which of right would
belong to my exequitrie, quytt and fric to themselves, or the halfe
thairofe be quytt to such as are resting the halfe, or within the half of
the former yeir's duity together with the said resting duity less or more,
being alwayes within or no more than halfe of the former yeir's duity
as said is” What follows suggests, if not a misgiving about the
character of his oye and heir, at least an anxicty that he should be
under efficient guardianship. “ And becaus my present eldest oye and
apparent heir and successour is of tender yeirs, minor, of non-age and not
atteined to the age of majority, unable to governe be him selfe, and not
of solid, rype, judgment, nor knowledge to decerne whoes counsell to use
for the well of the house and family he is to succeed to, therfor I ordeen
him (if it be needfull for arder of law to choise curatours) that he choise
non other but this following, as he would wishe his owen good and my
blessing, and to eschew my curse, being approven frends to me and my
hous, lyk as 1 be thir presents nominat them tutours and curatours
testamentalls, and non others, viz, my son Mr, Robert Burnet, advocate,
whom 1 nominat curatour sine guo non, and in caise of his deceise the
tyme of his minority, Thomas Burnet of Sauchen in his vice curatour
sine guo non, and still one of his curatours howsoever, Mr. William
Burnet and James Burnet, my sonnes, Sir Robert Douglasse of
Tilliquilly, Knycht, Sir Alexander Cuming of Coulter, Knycht, the
leard of Skeen, the leard of Eght, the leard of Inneralochie, and the
leard of Pitlurge, by whoes advyce and counsall 1 ordeen him to rull all
his affairs, and without whos counsall had and obteened at least the most
part of them, togither with my said sonne Mr. Robert Burnet, advocat,
or in caise of his death (which God forbid) Thomas Burnet of Sauchen,
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curatours siue guo non, I ordeen him to do nothing, either concerning his
estat, or the waring of his owen person in marradge or at scool, or in
decision of any question, if any shall happen to aryse, between him and
my children males or fameles, or my deere and loving spouse Dame Jeane
Moncreiffe” For prevention of dispute between “ her and him and his
mother Jean Arbuthnot, who stands in present possession of the most
part of her conjunct fie lands wherein she was infeft by me” Sir
Thomas puts it in the option of his widow to accept 1000 merks yearly
in lieu of the rent of these lands, in which she is to continue infeft for her
* security. If she accept this alternative, a sum not exceeding 200 merks
yearly is to be paid as her house rent “in any borrestoun shee pleaseth
to dwell in within Scotland.” She is also to have 1ooo pounds of the
readiest money found “in any of my studdies,” or out of the executry,
 together also with sex bedden of clothes and two stand of napprie for
plenishing of her owen house, and that of the nixt best clothes (sex of the
best bedden being laid by to my said air and successour first), and two
stand of napprie of the nixt best (two stand being first laid by to him),”
and that by advice of his curators “in case of bairnes heranent,” and in
satisfaction of all she can claim, excepting a certain provision of 500
merks rent of Balbrydies, as already secured by lease “which I had
added to her former conjunct fie lands for her good behaviour” What
follows would be spoiled by abridgement. “ And beceause female
children often miscarie after their father’s decease by seduction, or by
unkyndly rapts, or by willfull selfe choises, or some such unlucky way to
the dishonour of the parents and houses they are come off, and to their
owen hurt, shame, and infamy, whereby God is offended, and their
parents and frends greeved, therfor I ordeen by thir presents my
daughters which shall happen to be unmarried the tyme of my death,
to stay and remain with their mother the said Dame Jean Moncreiffe,
and she to have for their interteenment in meat and clothes yeirly, so
long as they remain with her unmarried, 300 merks money forsaid . .

and after her deceise so long as they or any of them happines to remain
unmarried, to stay and remain with my said air and successour upon the
lyke conditiounes on either syd: And I ordeen my saids daughters to
marry be the speciall advyse of their said mother, their brethren both on
their mother and father’s syde, and with the speciall consent, counsall
and advyse of the above my approved friends and now nominal curatours
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testimonialls to my said air and successour, at least the most part of
them consenting, and that under no lesse pain than the annulling and
annichelatting their above written assedationes and takis of the lands
sett to them for their provision and patrimony (which of them soever
faileth herein) as though the saids assedations (or such of them failzeing
herein) had neaver been made. Finally, all the gold and silver within
any of the two boxes of iron within any of my studdies or papers in
them, or in any leatheren baggis, declaring any borrowed gold, or
moneyis out of them, I ordain to be distributed be my said air and
successour with advyse of the curatoures above written, to the most
misterfull, poore labourers within all my lands, wherever they be, as their
several need and necessities shall be found to requeir, and any other
poore householders, widowes, or fatherles, within my whole lands and
specially within the parochin of Banchory Ternan above mentioned and
to such misterfull poore as criple, blind, lame as shall fall to be at my
corps interring and buriall the same day ; and the said gold and silver
not to be imployed any other way, under a cursse and malediction,
becaus I had dedicated the same and laid it by for that use. Lastly, |
declare and ordein my bookes of my collectiones of preachings be
distributed among my wholl children and oyes male and femele to ech
as they shell find their severall names written, the first figured leaffe of
every ons booke to whom I have ordeen it to be given ; and if there fall
any of them to be undirected by any name on the first figured folio as
said is, let it be given to my said air, and successour, his eldest brother or
sister next to him sclfe unserved befor: requiring every on that getts
any of them, that as they wish the blessing of God and myne, that they
read them once or twyce over in recompence of my pains in writting
and directing them to their good, if it be the will of God to blisse thes
my silly travells to the comfort and cternall good of their souls, that the
glory of all may be only to God. And withall I declare that every on
of my owen childrens’ provisiones and assedationes shall be found in the
first of the foresaids bookes wherein their names are first written folio 1.
Moreover I leave to Thomas Douglasse, son lauchfull to umgquhell
Alexander Douglasse sometyme in Balbrydie, begotton on his second
wife Katherine Skeen, fouer scor punds Scotts money ; also I leave to
Katheren Blackhall, daughter to umquhill Jean Clark (all sometyme in
Leyis), fouer scor punds Scotts money ; moreover I leave to the gentleman
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ryder that shall happin to be my servant in the first rank for the tyme at
my death, an hunderth merks usual money of this realme, to my wyfis
gentlewoman for the time forty punds money aforesaid, to the Stewart
for the tyme alsmuch, to the cooke for the tyme alsmuch, to my grieve
or principall officiar for the tyme alsmuch ; to every on of the rest of my
household servants men and women a peice, or to ech of them twenty
pounds overhead ; and this to be payed to them of the readiest of my
exequitry goods and gear, my said spous Dame Jeane Moncreffe being
first payit of the foresaid thousand punds left to her, as said is, and that
by and attouer their severall fees which shall happen to be resting to
them the tyme of my deceasse, which I ordeen to be thankfully payit to
them without hearing, as lykwayes merchant compts and small unwritten
debts that can be proven justly owing to any living, I ordeen all to be
payed be my said air and successour without hearing, as he would wish
God to blisse him, and my blissing to overtake him and his. And this I
doe declare to be my testament and latter will, which I ordeen my said
air and successour be advyse forsaid to fullfiil and put to dire execution
in all points (especially in as far as concerns my said spouse, Dame Jean
Moncreffe), that he would neither wrong her himselfe nor suffer her to be
wronged by any, but that he defend her and not greive her, as he would
wish the blissing of God and myn, and as he would eschew the cursse of
God and my malediction, and as he would wish to be obeyed himselfe by
his owen children (if any he shall have) in the lyk caise according to the
tenour of this present will, which I declare to be seasoned with no double
or doubtsome curiosity (which I did ever abhore in myselfe and others),
but with trew sincerity and simplicity, as the words in my ignorant and
rude maner are set downe, having God and a good conscience befor my
eyes. And if any doubt shall happen to aryse, I ordeen the same to be
resolved and composed by the amicable decreet and determination of my
sonnes being of perfect age, with any thrie or fouer of my forsaids
approven frends nominat by me curatours forsaids, and in caise of not
agreement, I ordeen Mr. Robert Burnet my sonne above written szne guo
non curatour forsaid, to be oversman for the final decerning and decreeting
and concluding any such doubt and controversie.”

The date of Sir Thomas Burnett’s death is given in the retour of his
grandson and heir as 27th June, 1653. His portrait at Crathes—by the
eminent Scottish painter, George Jamesone — represents him with a
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thoughtful and refined but earnest and manly face. It might probably
be about 1632 that Jamesone painted this portrait, as well as four others
at Crathes, representing Sir Thomas’ sister, Janet, Lady of Skene, and
his daughter, Jean, Lady of Monymusk, with their respective husbands.®

XIV.

SikR ALEXANDER BURNETT OF LEVS, 2nd BARONET (1653-63).
“«When I heard,” the laird of Brodie in his Diary says, “that the lord of
Leyis Burnet, being a sober, grave man, had a successor so profane,
dissolute, and naughty, my hart said,  What doe I travel for under the
sun. How is it true of Solomon, men know not what shall come after
them, whether a wyse man or a fool.’” As the young’laird of Leys who
succeeded his grandfather in 1653, and was in possession but ten years,
was then but a second year’s student at King’s College, let us charitably
hope that Brodie’s language was stronger than the occasion warranted.

Sir Alexander Burnett was served heir 1oth March, 1654. He had
not succeeded, as his grandfather did, to an unembarrassed estate. Sir
Thomas’ debts and obligations both to strangers and to his own family
were considerable, and to discharge them it was found necessary to wadset
parts of the property. One of these wadsets, given when Sir Alexander
was under age, with advice and consent of his curators, tells us who the
curators whom he had chosen were, namely, his maternal uncle, Lord
Arbuthnot, Sir Robert Douglas of Tillewhilly, William Coutts of Cluny,
and Mr. Alexander Burnett of Craigmyle. They are, with one exception,
not those whom his grandfather had directed him to choose; but the
absence of his uncle, Thomas Burnett of Sauchen (who had been named,

* Mr. Bulloch, the author of the life of Jamesone, states that the painter returned to Scotland
in 1620, and founds this statement upon the fact that we find well-authenticated portraits by him
all through the twenties of the 17th century. Amongst others, there is another portrait of Sir
Thomas Burnet, an undoubted Jamesone, in the Hall of Marischal College, Aberdeen. This
portrait is thus described by Mr. Bulloch in his catalogue of Jamesone’s works :—*“18. Sir
Thomas Burnet of Leys (*anno 1624 ; netatis 33°). A characteristic portrait, representing a
ruddy-bronzed country gentleman, with erisp auburn hair, wearing the conventional, stiff, white
linen ruff, with lace edging. In the upper right comner is a shield, emblazoned with a saltier,
crenated, gules, between a bugle horn, a rake (or Y-shaped figure), a trident, and a fleur-de-lis.”
The account of the subject of this portrait which follows is unfortunately very incorrect. If this
portrait was painted in 1624, when Sir Thomas was thirty-three years old, the portrait at Crathes
must have been painted about twenty years later, as it represents a man between fifty and sixty.
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failing his uncle, Robert Burnett, a sine guo non), is accounted for by the
circumstance that he is the wadsetter, and that the lands are those of
which he had a tack in security of his portion of 10,000 marks. Mis-
management, however, or extravagance is suggested when the debt to
Alexander Burnett of Countesswells, stated in Sir Thomas’ will at
8000 marks, has risen to 20,000, for which sum, in 1658, Sir Alexander,
newly of age, has to give him a wadset over Leys. In 1662, the year
before his death, Sir Alexander gives a redeemable conveyance of
Muchalls to Master Robert Burnett of Cowtoun (fourth son of James
Burnett of Craigmyle, the 1st Baronet’s brother), of which the latter had
actual possession for the next sixteen years, and was generally styled
Robert Burnett of Muchalls. “Heard,” writes Brodie on 8th May, 1663,
“that Leys Burnet was dead. Youth, strength, and vigour could not
preserve from death.” Dying at the early age of 26, he left six children
by his wife, Elizabeth Coutts, of the family of Coutts of Auchtercoull,*
who afterwards married David Ramsay of Balmain. The exordium of
his testament, dated 3oth January, 1663, recommends his “soul to God
to be presented in Jesus Christ in readiness to the great God His grace,
by whose mercies I hope to be saved,” and ordains his body to be
“honourably buried in the quire of the Kirk of Banchory.” Mr. Robert
Burnett, advocate, his uncle, and Mr. Robert Burnett of Muchalls, are
appointed executors, and also tutors to his children. He leaves to Robert,
his second son, 8000 marks; to William, his third son, 6000 marks; to his
daughters, Elizabeth, 6000, Jean, 4000, and Margaret, 4000 marks. The
amount of his executry as given up is £1108 13s. 4d.

I. THOMAS, third baronet, of whom below.

I1. ROBERT, being unmentioned, except in his father’s will, probably
died young.

II1. WILLIAM, Sir Alexander’s third son, acquired the lands of Balfour
and Woodtoun, in the parishes of Fettercairn and Edzell, in 1685,
by purchase from Stratoun of Lauriston. On 8th December, 1687,

* ¢ The lands of Auchtercoull, which formed part of the Earldom of Mar, were granted by
the King in 1433 to Mr. William Coutts and his heirs. They were held by the family, who
intermarried with Irvine of Drum, Forbes of Towie, Ross of Auchlossen, Burnett of Leys, ctc.,
till 1635, when the Earl of Mar recovered them from William Coutts.”—Stodart’s Scoitish Arms,
II., p. 298

L
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he infefted his wife, Margaret Douglas, in an annual of 13 chalders
of victual from the Mains of Balfour and Newdosk. That lady
was daughter and co-heir of William Douglas, advocate, and
Margaret, daughter of Gilbert Kirkwood of Pilrig.* She died in
1690 ; and her husband married in England a second wife,
Margaret Easton. William Burnett seems to have been a man
of a rather choleric temperament. In 1688 he figures in a brawl
in Fettercairn church. Claiming for his lands of Balfour not
only the seats in Fettercairn church, which Straton had used, but
certain further accommodation, namely, a “laigh desk ” occupied
by the Earl of Southesk, he one Sunday assembled his thirty-
three tenants, marched them into the church, and took possession
of the “laigh desk,” a proceeding for which he was summoned
before the Privy Council and fined. In the standing army raised
by authority of Parliament in 1689, he had a commission as
lieutenant of the troop commanded by Lord Newbottle. It
appears from the records of Parliament that in the rising of the
Jacobite Highlanders his lands of Balfour were three times
plundered and laid waste—first by Farquharson of Invery and
his men, then by the Earl of Dunfermline, and lastly by the
laird of Keppoch’s brother, when he (Burnett) came over with
the prisoners taken at Cromdale, also that his furniture, books,
ete, were on one of these occasions burned. A Commission was
granted to the Sheriffs within whose jurisdictions the persons
liable for the damage dwelt, to take evidence and report ; and
eventually, in 1693, the damage sustained by him and his tenants
was modified to £1ooo Sterling. In 1700, Major William
Burnett was killed in a duel with a Captain Maclean in the
fields near Marylebone. The following memorial and opinion
from Sir Edward Northey, attorney for Major Burnett’s second,
Colonel Rice, give some account of the circumstances which
brought about his death :—

“Major Burnet, Captain Maclean, and Captain Winram,

b‘c_in;,r in a coach together ready to goe out to the feilds, Colonel
Rice passing by was called in" by Major Burnet, who was his

The marriage contract of William Douglas and Margaret Kirkwood, dated December,

1671, is at Crathes.
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freind, to goe along with him, which he accordingly did, and went
into the coach, and, after quitting the same, they all four walked
towards Marybone. As they walked along, Captain Maclean
and Major Burnet, after some words between them, drew their
swords, which Colonel Rice perceiving, he run to part them with
his sword in his hand, but before he came up to them Burnet
was killed, whereupon Maclean and Captain Winram went away;
but Colonel Rice stayed to look after his dead friend, and received
his papers, money and rings. Quaere, whether Colonel Rice, on
the presumption of his being second to Burnet that was killed
(making the worst of the case), is guilty of murder or manslaughter?

“I conceive the second to the person that is killed is not in
any sort to answer for the death, and is neither guilty of man-
slaughter nor of murder ; for what he did was to defend him and
not to hurt him ; therefor there is no reason to indict him for the
death of the person killed ; indeed, all the four were doeing an
unlawful act; but the second, being in aid of the person killed,
did neither murder, kill, nor assent to the killing him.

“ EDWARD NORTHEY.
“1 June, 1700.”

A letter to the deceased’s brother, Sir Thomas Burnett, from
his cousin, the Bishop of Salisbury, has been preserved at
Crathes :—

“ BRADFORD I June 1700.
“Right Honorable

“I cannot expresse to you how much I was struck with
the sad account of your poor Brothers unhappy end which Mr.
Mills writ to me that very night. I dare not let my selfe think
too much of it. He was not in a state fit to die suddenly and
the manner is dismall, but God’s waies are past finding out. 1
have dealt often very roundly with him, and have seen him but
very little of late. By what I understand from Mr. Mills he is
deep in debt to whom I writ immediatly offering him all sort of
assistance as he needed it. He is a very honest and a very
diligent able man so I am confident he will deal faithfully by the
poor young orphans. I understand at least one halfe of the 3000
1ib. is engaged. You do very worthily to look after them, since
they have none to take care of them besides your selfe. I
beleive I shall not see the King but I do not apprehend any
pardon will be granted. I pray God to blesse and preserve you
and your family. I wish the rising generation would consider
the sad example of a poor Gentleman that gave fair hopes and
had a prosperous beginning but grew to be sadly engaged. I
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am with all possible Respect Right honorable Your most humble
and most obedient servant
“GI. SARUM.”
The children referred to in the foregoing letter, all by his
first marriage, who were taken charge of by Sir Thomas Burnett,
were :—

1. THOMAS, served heir portioner general, gth December,
1701, to his maternal grandmother, Rachel Kirkwood,
and, on 6th June, 1706, heir portioner special to his
grandfather, William Douglas, in £2000 Scots, secured
over the lands and barony of Chirnside. There are
numerous papers at Crathes regarding the affairs of this
Thomas and his sisters, including the sale of Balfour and
litigations arising out of it, also claims made in connexion
with a mortgage for £1400 over lands in Shropshire.

1. EL1ZABETH, who married Mr, Alexander Shanks, minister
of Drumoak.

2. RACHEL, born 1690.

I. ELIZABETH, married Alexander Ogilvie, son of John Ogilvie of
Kempcarne. Contract at Crathes, dated 22nd and 24th April,
167.

[I. JEAN.

111. MARGARET, Sir Alexander’s youngest daughter, married, 1st, in
1686,* her cousin, Alexander Burnett of Monboddo, by whom
she was grandmother of Lord Monboddo ; and in her widowhood
she married Dr. Andrew Burnett, one of the clergy of Aberdeen,t

* 2204l Seplember, 1686, Sasine to Margaret Burnett, sister to Sir Thomas Burnett of Leys,
by her intended husband, Alexander Burnett, eldest son of James Burnett of Monboddo, with
consent of his father, of liferent of Lagavin. Aberdeenshire Sasines.

1 have not been able to trace the pedigree of this Andrew Burnett with any certainty. He
mity perhaps have been identical with Andrew, son of Andrew Burnett (known as *“ Dunkirker ?),
merchant in Aberdeen, and purchaser of Kirkhill, who is recorded to have been baptised August
oth, 1663, It was the fashion among Presbyterians to ignore degrees such as his, which had
been conferred by the theologieal faculty of Aberdeen University, who had been cjected at the
Revolution.  Andrew Burnett seems to have had also a degree as Doctor of Medicine. [Dr.
Andrew Burnett was son of James Burnett, burgess.  See Kasti Acad. Marise., ii., 240. For
his medical degree, see Of. and Grad. of King's Coll., p. 122.)
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whose career is a curious illustration of the state of ecclesiastical
affairs there. Dr. Burnett, who was an uncompromising adherent
of Episcopacy, was appointed one of the ministers of St. Nicholas
Church in 1687. On the re-introduction of Presbyterianism, in
1689, Parliament and the General Assembly found Aberdeen as
unmanageable as it had been in Covenanting times. It was
found necessary to appoint a Committee of the Assembly to
erect Presbyterianism in the north, with power to take the oaths
of such ministers as were willing to conform. For protesting
against the appointment of this Committee, Dr. Burnett was
suspended or deposed on 1st July, 1695, by an Act of Parliament,
which prohibited him from exercising his functions anywhere till
he had taken the oath of allegiance and subscribed the assurance,
and sentenced him to imprisonment till he found security not to
pass north of the Forth. After finding the required caution, he
got the restriction of residence taken off, returned to Aberdeen,
where, sheltered no doubt by his brother-in-law, Leys, and by
the general feeling of the country, he officiated regularly in
Trinity Church, and opposed the settlement of two different
ministers, on the ground that there was no vacancy, inasmuch as
his sentence was only one of suspension. On 2gth December,
1715, he was one of those who presented, at Fetteresso, to “his
Majesty King James the Eighth” a “humble address of the
Episcopal clergy of the diocese of Aberdeen.” A contemporary
authority tells us that, in September, 1715, “ the new magistrates
went to St. Nicholas Church, where Dr. George Garne preached
in the forenoon, and Robert Blair in the afternoon, and ever
since, with Dr. Burnet, have done the same” (Analecta Scotica,
I, 234). The result was the libelling and deposition of Burnett ;
but the strong Episcopal leanings of the inhabitants of Aberdeen
obliged the Presbytery to apply for the aid of the magistrates to
compel the attendance of the witnesses who appeared against
him. The Presbytery records, however, shew that the sentence
of deposition was disregarded by Burnett and others who were
in a similar position, who “continue in and about this city of
Aberdeen, though now under sentence of deposition from the
holy ministry, to convene congregations of people, and to preach
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and exerce other parts of the ministeriall function in the said
meetings, and that without praying for our rightful sovereign
King George, which unaccountable practice the Presbytery
cannot but look upon to be of very dangerous consequence to
the interest of both Church and State ; they did therefore and do
appoint the Reverend Mr. Francis Melvill and Principal Blackwell
to apply as soon as may be to the honourable magistrates of the
said burgh for their prosecuting according to law all the foresaid
persons, so that such dangerous practices may be effectually
prevented in time coming.” The baptisms of “five children of
Mr. Andrew Burnett and Margaret Burnett his lady ” appear in the
register of Nicholas Parish, Aberdeen, in the years 1692, 1693,
1604, and 1703. Dr. Burnett married, as a second wife, Elizabeth
Reid, widow of Adam Maltman, merchant in Aberdeen. He
was dead, as also was his eldest son Robert, who survived him,
before 1723.

XV.

SIR THOMAS BURNETT OF LEVS, 3rd BARONET (1663-1714). Sir
Thomas was in pupillarity on his father’s death, in 1663. The Earl
Marischal had a gift of his ward and marriage, 22nd March, 1663. On
21st April, 1664, a dispensation and commission under the quarter Seal
was granted to the Earl Marischal and his deputies the Sheriffs of
Aberdeen and Kincardine to serve him heir to his father, Sir Alexander,
at Stonehaven. He was served heir on 19th May, 1664, Invery and
Cluny, however, which had been in his father’s retour, not being in his.
Invery had been wadsetted in 1652 to Moir of Kermucks, but was re-
deemed in 1673. In 1666 he made up his titles by Precept of Clare Constat
from Mr. George Burnett to Wester Slowie and the other lands held of
the parson of Kincardine. His estates were in a very encumbered state
from the debts and extravagances of his predecessor ; but the younger
of the two Master Robert Burnetts, under whose guardianship his father
had placed him, seems to have faithfully discharged his trust, both as
tutor and apparently also as curator after his ward had attained
pupillarity, so that Sir Thomas’ affairs, on his reaching majority, were in
a tolerably prosperous condition. This guardian was fourth son of
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James Burnett of Craigmyle, brother of the first baronet, and variously
designed as of Muchalls, of Elrick, of Colpny, of Cowie, of Cowtown, and
of Creggie, but was perhaps best known as the “ Tutor of Leys.” He
will be further alluded to in connexion with his relations with the next
baronet.

In 1677, being still under age, Sir Thomas married, in opposition,
it would seem, to his guardian’s wish, his cousin Margaret, second
daughter of Robert, 2nd Viscount Arbuthnot (by Lady Elizabeth Keith,
daughter of William, 7th Earl Marischal), whom, on the 29th June of
that year he infeft in the liferent of Muchalls. Through Arbuthnot
influence he was induced to raise a suit against the tutor to account for
rents and profits, which ended very favourably for the latter, a large
balance being found due to him, which he recovered from Sir Thomas,
obtaining a full discharge of his receipts and accounts, signed by Lord
Arbuthnot and his other curator.

Sir Thomas was Commissioner to the Scottish Parliament for
Kincardineshire throughout the reigns of William and Anne, from 1689
to 1707, in the former reign in conjunction with Alexander Arbuthnot
of Knox, his wife’s uncle. As a firm supporter of King William and the
Revolution settlement, he was appointed to posts of responsibility,
indicating that he was much in the confidence of the Government. We
find him, in 1689, subscribing the Act declaratory of the legality of the
Meeting of Estates summoned by the Prince of Orange, and the letter
of congratulation to King Willlam; and in the proceedings of this
convention we find him one of the Committee appointed to put the
country in a state of defence, and also for deciding disputed elections.
In consideration of the alleged arbitrary interference with the elections
of burgh magistrates by King James, new elections are appointed to be
held for each burgh, to be supervised by certain “overseers,” those for
Aberdeen being Sir Thomas Burnett of Leys, along with Sir Alexander
Bannerman of Elsick, Sir John Forbes of Craigievar, James Moir of
Stonywood, and George Paton of Grandholm. In the Parliament of
1690 he was one of a Committee of nine of each estate for the plantation
of kirks and valuation of teinds; and of a commission appointed to see
that the Principal, Professors, and Regents of the Universities subscribe
the Confession of Faith, take the oath of allegiance, and be persons of
pious, peaceable, and loyal conversations ; and, the various offices of State
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having been put into commission, he was one of four persons chosen to
administer the office of Clerk Register. On the discovery of plots for
the King's assassination, he was one of the signatories to the association
in defence of King William. On 27th July, 1698, the records of
Parliament tell that Sir Thomas Burnett was excused from necessary
absence ; but the following letter was sent him on oth August following
by the Earl of Tullibardine (afterwards Duke of Athole), one of the
principal Secretaries of State for Scotland :—
“Edr 9 Agust 16g8.

“ Sir,

“] receaved yours concerning the money I owe yow, but being
past the tearme of lambas befor I had your letter, I could not gett it in
time, but against Martimas next or soon after the tearme yow may
expect it. But I desyre yow will mind me again sometyme befor.

“1 am very glad your Lady is safly brought to bed, and since I
understand the parliament will yet sitt a 4th night, I wish yow would
come here so soon as yow can, for [ cannot forgett what I have heard
Duke Hamilton say, that members that desyre the good of their country
ought not to be absent, for tho they cannot gett all the good done they
wish, yet they may prevent hurt; wee have a designe of bringing in
severall good laws, which I know yow would be sorie not to have a hand
in, which is all I shall now add hoping to sece yow soon, who am

“Your affectionate humble servant
“ TULLIBARDINE.”

In 1701 he opposed the proposal of making an addition to the
standing army which Parliament adopted ; and in the same Parliament,
during the discussions regarding the colony of New Caledonia in Darien,
when the question was raised whether the Company’s right should be
made the subject of an address to the King or of an Act of Parliament,
and the former alternative was carried by a majority of 108 to 84, Sir
Thomas Burnett was one of the dissentients and protestors. Shortly
before the death of King William there was an intention of raising him
to the peerage, This appears from the following excerpt from a letter
from Robert Pringle, one of the Secretaries of State, to the Earl of
Marchmont, then Chancellor :—

“ Whitehall June 5 1701.
Ve are in expectation every day of some more creations, as of
Argyle to be Duke, Lothian and Annandale to be Marqueses, the two
Secretaries Earls, and, its said, Lees Burnett a Lord. The King I hear
has condescended to these, but delays signing the patents.”

“ Y
¥
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In 1703 Sir Thomas made a protest against the Act allowing the
importation of French wines and brandies as dishonourable to her
Majesty, inconsistent with the grand alliance in which she is engaged,
and prejudicial to the honour, safety, interest, and trade of this kingdom.
His votes recorded in connexion with the Union are in favour of the first
article and of the whole measure as carried ; and his name appears as
one of the opponents of a elause proposed, but not carried, that all Peers
of Scotland, whether representative Peers or not, should be entitled to sit
covered in the House of Lords of Great Britain. On February 13th,
1707, he was elected a member of the Parliament of Great Britain, but
he seems never to have presented his commission or sat. Regarding his
election as a member of the Scottish Privy Council, constituted in terms
of the Union, the following letter has been preserved from the afterwards
attainted Earl of Mar, then Keeper of the Signet : —

€51,

“The Queen has been pleased to Grant a new Commission for
Constituting a Privy Council in Scotland Conform to the Articles of the
Union, And you being of the number, her Maty has ordered me to
signify to you and the rest of the Councilors who are named, That ’tis
her pleasure that you meet at Edinr and qualify yourselves as soon as
possible, That the publick affairs may not Suffer thro’ the want of a
Council to whom all Proclamations and Orders concerning the Govern-
ment are to be directed and published by you in Scotland. I write this
by Command, and I am,

£ 5ir;
“Your most humble servant,

“ Whitehall, May 21st, 1707. “MAR.”
“Sir Thos. Burnet of Leyes.”

In July of the same year Sir Thomas received the following letter
from Lord Loudon, Joint Secretary for Scotland :—

ST
“The Queen has been pleased to grant a new Commission for
Constituting the Court of Excheqr in Scotland conform to the Articles
of Union, and you being of the number I am directed by Her Maty to
give you notice thereof, to the end you may qualify yourself as soon as
M
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conveniently can that affairs which lye before that Court may have the
necessary despatch for the benefit of all concerned.

“I am,
« Sr’
“Yr most humble servant,
“Whitehall, July, 1707.” “ LOUDOUN.”

In the following year Mar writes to Sir Thomas in somewhat
mysterious terms, the expression “what was designed for you did not
succeed,” probably referring to the rumoured peerage :—

“Sir,

“1 think myself oblidged to let you know that y™ concern at
London was not forgot, tho’ what was designed for you did not succeed
as we wisht, wh was rather the Treasurer’s fault nor ours. I know my
Lord Seafield wryts the particulars of it to you, therefore I shall not
trouble you with them til meeting, and then I'm sure you will be
satisfied of it yrself. When it was seen that what was designed for you
could not be done my Lord Treasurer assured us that you should be
taken cair of another way as much to yr advantage, weh I think you may
depend on. [ assure you when its in my power to do you any service it
shall not be wanting, and I shall keep my Lord Treasurer in mind of his
promise, for I'll see him ere long. 1 will never forget yr friendship for
us who are in friendship together and we were to blaim if we do not all in
our power to serve you. 1 hope we’ll sce you here ere long, and I am
sincearlie

“Yr most humble servant,
“ Edinb., May 26th, 1708.” “ MAR.”

From 1695 to 1702 Sir Thomas Burnett was engaged in an
unpleasant dispute with the Earl of Sutherland regarding the affairs
of the Arbuthnot family. Lady Burnett’s brother, Robert, 3rd Viscount
Arbuthnot, after marrying a daughter of George, Earl of Sutherland,
had died in August, 1604, leaving a large family. In 1695 the Earl,
then, and for some years later, unable, from illness, to take his place in
Parliament, adopted the unusual step of bringing before Parliament,
instead of before the ordinary Courts of law, a complaint against Leys
and his colleague in the representation of Kincardineshire, Robert
Arbuthnot of Knox, granduncle of the children, for mismanaging the
family estates and neglecting the education of the young people. Then
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after all seemed satisfactorily settled by an arrangement in pursuance of
which Knox was served tutor-at-law, coming under certain stipulations
with regard to accounts, a fresh complaint was made the next year that
the stipulations in question had not been adhered to, and that. the
tutor-at-law had, through misrepresentation, procured from the Privy
Council an unnecessary restriction of the children’s aliment from 5000
marks to 2500. It was further alleged that Knox and Sir Thomas
had accused the Earl of having “embezzled and carried away goods
and moveables from Arbuthnot in lock-fast trunks” and that “when
the Earle in obedience to a charge given him to go north for
seeing the writs and evidents of the estate inventared, he the said Sir
Thomas, did, after the Earle’s arrival, shift the matter for eleven dayes
time with so many ridiculous pretences and affected scruples, and with
more banter and laughter than did become,” that, the tutor having at
length inventoried the whole estate, he took possession. of the writs of
the personal estate without inventory or seal. The petition contained a
further assertion that Knox was “notoriously insolvent,” and that Sir
Thomas “is said to have given the fee of his estate to his son.” Leys
and Knox in their reply wondered “ how any one can have the confidence
in the Earl’s absence to give a representation to the Parliament in the
Earl’s name stuffed with so many calumnious and unjust reflections.”
They denied the breach of agreement, pointed out the causes which
necessitated the modification of the aliment, explained'the so-called
personal insinuations against the Earl to be no more than an assertion
by the tutor of his right to have an inventory of the plenishing which
had been carried away, and suggested that the proper forum for deciding
any questions between them and the Earl was not Parliament, but the
Court of Session. Parliament accordingly referred the dispute to the
common course of law. The legal proceedings that followed are briefly
reported by Lord Fountainhall, to the effect that the acts of the tutor-at-
law, and of Leys as his adviser and cautioner, were approved, and that
the carrying off of the lock-fast boxes with Lady Arbuthnot’s wearing
apparel had not been represented by either of them in any such light as
could be the foundation of an action of damages for defamation at the
Earl’s instance.

Sir Thomas’ habitual intercourse with the Court and higher nobility
of Scotland had naturally accustomed him to the comforts and luxuries
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which, in the course of the seventeenth century, had been gradually
finding their way into the mansions of the south of Scotland; and he
was thus led to desiderate at Crathes many of those requirements of a
modern mansion which were not thought of at the time of its erection.
He consequently built a large three-storeyed symmetrical addition to the
eastward, containing, inter alia, a new doorway and entrance hall, a wide
straight or scale staircase, extending up to the top of the building, a
drawing-room, business room, and spacious bedrooms. The architect of
the “ Laigh house,” as it was called, had certainly no thought of making
it harmonise in design with the old castle. He had, indeed, so completely
emancipated himself from the last surviving traditions of the old Scotch
style that his work looks at first sight more like a building of the
beginning of the nineteenth, than the beginning of the eighteenth,
century. The stair is rather a handsome one of its kind ; and the absence
of all pretence of medi®valism about the drawing-room almost enhances
the effect of the fine old hall, now the dining-room, when approached
from it.

By Dame Margaret Arbuthnot Sir Thomas had the following sixteen
children. His whole issue, including those that died young, are said to
have been twenty-one in number :—

I. ALEXANDER, his successor.

I1. ROBERT, an honorary burgess of Aberdeen, 8th January, 1689 ;
dead before 1697.

I1I. WiLLiAM of Criggie, baptised 10oth December, 1683, married
Jean, third daughter and co-heir of Robert Burnet, the “tutor
of Leys,” and was father of—

(1) Sir Thomas Burnett, 6th baronet.

(2) James, who married Anne, daughter of Sir William
Purves of that Ilk.

(1) Margaret, who married, 27th April, 1735, Rev. John
Aitken, minister of Montrose (Montrose Parish
Register),

(2) , married Smith, merchant, Aberdeen.

(3) Helen, who married, 1st (1733), William Fraser, advocate

in Aberdeen, younger son of Francis Fraser of Findrack ;
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2ndly (contr. 16th September, 1758), Peter Reid,
merchant in Aberdeen.

THOMAS, baptised 27th May, 1686 (Banchory Parish Register),
made an honorary burgess of Aberdeen, 8th January, 1689.

. JoHN, baptised October 10, 1688 (Aberdeen Register), honorary

burgess of Aberdeen, 8th January, 1689.

CHARLES, baptised 1st August, 1691 (Aberdeen Register),
advocate at the Scottish Bar. Alive 1717 ; died unmarried.

JAMES, baptised 16th October, 1693 (Aberdeen Register).
ROBERT, baptised July 6, 1697 (Aberdeen Register).
LEWwIs, baptised 6th February, 1700.

John, James, Robert and Lewis seem all to have died young.

. KATHERINE, married, 31st August, 1712, Sir William Seton of

Pitmedden, Bart., and had issue ; died 1749.

MARY, married, 2nd October, 1712 (Banchory Parish Register),
Sir John Carnegie of Pitarrow, Bart. (contr. at Crathes, dated
31st August, 1712, where she is called second daughter).

ELIZABETH, baptised 1oth April, 1685 (Aberdeen Register);
died young.

ELIZABETH, baptised 11th August, 1692 (Aberdeen Register),
married (1715) George Beattie, merchant, Montrose (con-
tract at Crathes).

. JEAN, born 1698 ; married 7th October, 1722 (Banchory Register),

George Lauder of Pitscandlie, second son of Robert Lauder of
Beilmonth.

MARGARET, baptised 2o0th July, 1696 (Aberdeen Register),
married (1721) James Ogilvie of Melros, Co. Banff.

HELEN, baptised 23rd July, 1698 (Aberdeen Register). Her
birth is alluded to in a letter of Lord Tullibardine, above
quoted. According to the Burnett pedigree in Douglas’
Baronage, which gives but three daughters to Sir Thomas,
the youngest daughter (unnamed) married Allardice of that
Ilk.
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On sth March, 1700, Sir Thomas entailed his whole lands on a series
of heirs male, only bringing in his own heirs female on the failure of
the whole series of descendants of the first baronet, and of his brothers,
James of Craigmyle and Robert.* While there were the usual irritant
and resolutive clauses, the entailer reserved to himself power to alter or
cancel. The deed was recorded in the Register of Tailzies soon after its
date ; but, as the original was not found on Sir Thomas’ death, it was
held by the Coutt, in 1720, that he must be presumed to have cancelled it.

Whatever may be said of Sir Thomas’ management of the affairs of
the country, or of the Arbuthnot family, he canhot be acquitted of a
reckless expenditure in his own concerns that brought them into a state
of great confusion. That he had some time before his death become
conscious that his affairs were in a very embarassed condition is indicated
by provisions in one of the settlements made by him on his daughter-in-
law (in 1705) for the contingency of the total exclusion of his eldest son
from the succession.

Sir Thomas died, January, 1714 ; his widow outlived him 30 years,
dying at Aberdeen in July, 1744, aged 82.

XVIL

SIR ALEXANDER BURNETT OF LEYS, 4th BARONET (1714-1758).
Born in 1679, Alexander Burnett, younger of Leys, married, in 1697, at
the age of ecighteen, Helen, eldest daughter of the then deceased Robert
Burnett of Cowtoun, who had been guardian of his father in pupillarity
and minority.

The “Tutor of Leys,” who has been already alluded to, is so much
mixed up with the affairs of the head of the ‘family, that, though his
proper genealogical place is later, some account of him is due here. His
father, James Burnett, immediate younger brother of the 1st Baronet of
Leys, acquired Craigmyle and other considerable estates by marriage.
Robert was born in 1620, apparently at Muchalls; and, though but a
fourth son, seems to have had a considerable patrimony. He acquired

" The genealogical order of succession is strictly observed, with one exception—the omission
of the laird of Sanchen. Yet he and his son, as long as the line of Sauchen subsisted, were
heirs male and heirs to the baronetcy.
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further means through his first wife, whom he married on 22nd December,
1646, Jean, daughter of Mr. John Mortimer, bailie of Aberdeen, by
whom he had noiissue. From 1650 onwards the public records shew him
acquiring one estate after another; sometimes in property. Elrick, in the
parish of New Machar, which afterwards fell into the hands of a different
line of Burnetts, was impignorated to him by Sir Walter Innes of
Balveny in 1650; Colpnay, in the parish of Belhevie, by Elphinston
of Glack; and he had, as has been seen, possession of Muchalls, on a
similar title, from 1662 to 1678. He apprized Cowie in 1674 ; acquired
Cowtoun, in the parish of Fetteresso, his principal estate, in 1683,

and Criggie (now known as Ecclesgreig) by adjudication from Robert

Graham in 1686. For a younger son, his career was a successful one.
In 1664 he entered on his tutory of Sir Thomas Burpett. In the same
year he sat, along with Patrick Forbes, Bishop of Aberdeen, Lord
Pitsligo, James Gordon, the parson of Rothiemay, and others, under a
Commission, dated Whitehall, 16th January, 1664, to visit King's College,
and was one of the most active and constant in his attendance of the
Commissioners (Fasti Aberd,, 315). In or before 1680,* he had become
a convert to the tenets of Quakerism: but he is not to be confounded
with his namesake, Robert Burnett of Lethenty and Countesswells,
whose sufferings for his adhcesion to the Society of Friends are narrated
in Jaffray’s Diary. His first wife, Jean Mortimer, was alive in May,
1678, but dead before 1682, when, at the age of 62, he- married Helen
Arbuthnot (after his death, wife of John Sandilands, merchant' in
Aberdeen)., The issue of this second marriage were three. daughters,
Helen, Agnes, and Jean; and their father seems to have early.made up
his mind that he was to have no son, and that his inheritance was to
become by marriage the property of  the heir of Leys. On 28th
November, 1685, when he had been but three years married, and only
two of his three daughters had been born, he entered into an agreement -
with Sir Thomas Burnett, obliging himself and his heirs to pay, to
Alexander; eldest son of the latter (or, in case of his death, to his second
son) a& marriage portion of £60,000 Scots with his elder daughter (or
failing her by decease,; with his second daughter), the said apparent heir

* Oh 28th February, 1680, in the case of Robert Bumett, tutor of Leys, the Lords found
that Quakers should not be held confessed on account of refusing to swear, but allowed them to
declare the truth in their own terms as in the presence of God,—Fountainkall Reports, i., 94-
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of Leys being put into possession of the fee of Leys. A year and a half
later, and within a fortnight of his death, Mr. Robert Burnett, having
now three daughters, the eldest aged four, made the following will :—

“The Testament and Latterwill of Robert Burnett, designed of
Cowtoun, made and subscribed with his Hand, the sixteinth day of
Aprile, 1687 years. I, Robert Burnett of Cowtoun, being presently sick,
[but] both of moderate Health and of ripe Understanding, but not
knowing the day of God's visitation, when it shall please him to call me
out of this outward Life, doe dispone of all my worldly affairs as after
follows. And first I declare That I am and has been an great Sinner,
and does beg Mercy and Pardon of the merciful eternal Creator and
being of all, That in and through Jesus Christ his son he will be reconciled
with me, upon my unfeigned repentance, and true Resolutions of
Ammendment, And that he will Assist me to get the Victory over the
Devill, the World, and the Flesh, to persevere in true faith, Repentance
and Obedience unto the End of the Combat In the strength of his dear
Son, without whom I can do nothing; And as to my Profession 1 do
declair myself to be of the profession of the people called Quakers in
derisione, Owning Revelation, without which I cannot know neither the
ffather, the Son, nor the Spirit, with[out] whose guidings all my thoughts,
Words, Deeds, Prayers are dead, and will perish with me, and whosoever
without this Guide undertakes to do, work, preach and praise God, with
and in their own will are rejected till he come in upon their Hearts with
true Repentance and Obedience to his will and Faith in Jesus Christ our
Saviour, the word and the Son of God. And I beleeve that all those
who give themselves up to be guided by him, the light of the world, shall
daily increase, and come at last to cease from their own Works, and shall
enjoy an Serene Sabbath of Rest, and then in such an one all outward
types are Ceased, and God to them is all in all. Unto the mercy and
Will of God I sink down, renouncing my own works, faith and duties,
beseeching him out of his tender mercy to penitent sinners to pardon all
my sins and mispent Life in Rebellion against his Light, and to be
reconciled with me through the life, Sufferings, Death and Resurrection
of Jesus Christ his Son my Saviour, to whom [ flee for mercy.

“And as to my worldly affairs, I leave my body to be interred where
firiends shall think convenient, And Sir Thomas Burnett of Leyes,
Robert Burnet of Glenbervie, and James Burnett of Kair my Executours,
and I leave to Helen, Agnes, and Jean Burnett, my Daughters and Airs
to my Estate and Lands, if my Wife be not with an man Child, and the
said Robert to be Intromittour and Comptable to the other two Tutours,
and Elsick and John Cowie, and in respect upon the Conditions following
I am willing That the said Sir Thomas Burnet marry his eldest son,
Alexander or Robert Burnett in Case of his Decease, or the succeeding
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Heir to Leyes haill Estate at her age of fourteen years or sooner, and he
to leave [have] with her all the Lands of Cowtoun, Monquichy, Glentoun,
and pendicles, Together with seven years rent of my Lands of Creigie,
Bridgtoun, Methers, Snadoun, Spittell, and all 1 possess in the Parochin
of Ecclesgreig and Aberluthnot, To whom I do Grant an Tack and
assedation thereof and the said Helen Burnet, and failing of her by death,
to ane of the surviving sisters, whom the said Alexander or Robert
Burnett his sons shall marry, the entry to be and begine at Whitesunday
or Martinmas immediately after my Death, She or they paying yearly to
my Heirs male or female [ ] half marks of dutie yearly with the
payment of publick Burdens and Law Expenses, the two part and the
other two Daughters the third part, and if any of our Bairns die their
Portion to come to Leys, and if they all live and yt proportionally the
rest their part of her Jointure, And this I do in respect I have long ago
burdened my Heirs female with the payment of Sixty thousand pounds
to Sir Thomas Burnett of Leyis In case my Daughter Helen, Agnas or
Jean do refuse to marry the son of the said Sir Thomas as said'is who
shall be heir to all his father’s Estate and Heritage, And In case the heir
of the said Sir Thomas at his Age of Eighteen years refuse to marry any
of my said Daughters, being living eldest son for the time, I declair the
said Bond of Sixty thousand pounds null and void In respect it is granted
only upon thir Terms whilk is of the Datc at Creigie the twenty eight
day of November, one thousand six hundred and eighty five years, And
as for my other two Daughters I ordain Agnes to marry Robert Burnett,
eldest son to Glenbervie, and Jean to marry Robert Burnet, son to James
Burnet foresaid of Kair, at the age of Eighteen years or sooner, And if
they refusec to marry the said Robert Burnets Then [ burthen their
proportion of the Lands that shall fall to them by my decease with
payment of Twenty thousand pounds to be paid to Sir Thomas Burnett
as said is if his heir and son marry my said eldest daughter living at her
twelve or fourteen years of age or sooner, And I leave my said three
Daughters to be educate in Bed, and board and Cloathing and Education
with their mother, Helen Arbuthnot, till their age of seven years, and
after that to be educate with Glenbervy or the Laird of Leyes ffor the
whilk I ordain an hundred merks to be paid yearly to my said wife, and
her to maintain them the first Two years for my household and plenishing,
whilk I ordain my Executours to give her, Except Jewells, Silver Work,
and Cabinets, but her to have six silver spoons, and for that Cause also I
ordain her to get five hundred merks of money at and within fourteen
days after my Death, and her to gett all my gold to be only keeped by
her and equally distributed to my Daughters at their marriage. Also I
ordain her to gett the House and Inner [maner] place of Creigie, with
the Garden and Inclosures, free there to dwell in ay and while within an
month after she shall marry, and the samen to be prysed at my Death to
N
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her, and she bound to leave all as sufficient at her removall, Debts resting
by me whilk I ordain my Executours to pay Item I am resting to
Brothertoun two thousand ane hundredth and three sex merks money
and an Quarter’s annuall at Whitsunday next Item I am resting to
Abergeldie when he releeves Creigie of Cowill to Lord Carss six thousand
and seven hundred merks Item I am resting to John Gordon pounds
Scots money Item to Agnes Gordon upon Band an hundreth pound
Item to Anne Keith in Edinburgh spouse to William Taillor ane thousand
merks to be given to an poor firiend to whom I promised it and none to
Controall or have Claim to this Donation But the person to whom Anne
Keith shall give it either publickly or privately Item 1 am resting the
yearly annuall rent of an thousand. merks to be paid to Bailie Skeen and
be him distributed yearly to needed and poor friends in and about
Belhelvie, and after his Decease to be paid to an honest friend yearly for
that effect Item I leave the Children of Umquhile Mr. David Anderson
and Katharine Blackhall, who was minister in Middleburgh in Zealand,
four hundred merks Item I leave to ilk Servant within my House ten
merks, Except James Lighton, whom I ordain to get only fourty shillings
Scots, and to pay them the ffees that is resting to them. Moreover I
ordain my Executours to Buy Over Crigie from Major Keith, and [make]
payment [out] of my money and Eik to Agnes and Helens Portions,
And T ordain Robert Burnet, Kair's son, to marry Jean Burnet, my
youngest Daughter, Conditionally my Brother make him out Twenty
Chalders of victual of free rent as he promised to me, and him to gett all
the Lands of Crigie, Methers Hill of Crigie, Greenhills Milne and Lands
of Crigie and Gaupieshaugh and multures of Over Crigie itself. Also I
ordain Robert Burnett, Glenbervie’s son, to get with my Daughter Agnes
Bridgtoun, Snadoun, Spittell and pertinents, And to get from my Brother
or his son Fifteen thousand merks in Compensation of the other Eight
Chalder of victual, whilk makes out Kair twenty Chalder, also when the
Seven years’ Tack granted by thir presents to the Laird of Leyes is run
out I ordain the yearly rent of my Lands to come into the haill living
Daughters proportionallie till they be married, and if any of them be by
Death called, her portion to be equally distributed and given to the
Living, and if it please the Lord to Call them all let Leyes, Glenbervie
and Kair brook according to this Division, Except Three hundred merks
of additional Jointure, which I ordain them to give my Wife To witt ilk
one Chalder of Victual or Money. Sic subscribitur. R. Burnett, Sir
Thomas Burnett consents, Mr. R. Burnet consents, J» Burnet consents.
Alexr Thom, witness ; James Lightone, witness.”

The laird of Cowtoun died in the same month, and confirmation was
obtained of his will in the Commissariot of St. Andrews on 6th August,
1687.  His cldest davghter, Helen, was (as above) married in 1697, at
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the age of 14,to Alexander Burnett, younger of Leys, and her “ share of
her father’s fortune amounted to £7000 sterling, her father having left
her the barony of Cowtoun, and seven years’ full rent of his other estate,
a very opulent fortune in those days.”*

On the 3rd November, 1704, a postnuptial contract was entered into
between Alexander and Helen Burnett, to which Sir Thomas was a
party, by which Helen made over Cowtoun (then of the yearly rent of
30 chalders of victual) and her third as heir-portioner of her father’s other
lands, to Sir Thomas, who, in consequence, became bound to infeft her,
in the event of her surviving her husband, in 33 chalders of victual out of
his own estate, and to give her husband the fee of Leys, and to put both
spouses in immediate possession of 36 chalders yearly out of Muchalls.
It was probably his growing conviction of the encumbered state of his
own affairs that led Sir Thomas, in the following year (16th April, 1705),
to enter into an obligation that, in the event of his doing any fact or
deed by which his son should be excluded from his succession, he should
be recompensed for his surrender of Cowtoun by 40,000 Scots paid to
him, his heirs, or assignees.

Sir Samuel Forbes of Foveran, describing Crathes in 1714, immediately
after the death of Sir Thomas Burnett, says, “ The house of Crathess is
well built, well planted with natural and artificial wood ; the gardens
produce delicate fruit; the soil is warm, the victual substantious and
weighty. Sir Thomas entered with a faire and free estate, by the
assistance of a kindlie tutor ; had ample casualties from the Government,
yet left his affairs difficulted to his son, Sir Alexander, whose commenda-
tion ’twill be to retrieve the incumbrances” (Collections for the Shires of
Aberdeen and Banff, i,, 38). Sir Thomas Burnett’s affairs indeed turned
out, on his demise, in 1714, to be in a worse condition than had been
contemplated. At a family council, held a few days after his death, the
full extent of the embarrassments being as yet unknown, Sir Alexander
became a party to an agreement with his mother and wife that he should

*The second daughter, Agnes, married, in 1701, in accordance with her father’s will,
Thomas Burnett of Glenbervie. The third daughter, Jean, unable to fulfil her father's wish
in consequence of the death, in 1695, of her destined husband (younger son of her uncle,
James Burnett of Monboddo), married William, younger son of Sir Thomas Burnett of Leys,
afterwards known as William Burnett of Criggie, and was ancestress of the sixth and later
baronets of Leys.



92 THE FAMILY OF BURNETT OF LEYS.

serve heir to his father in his whole lands, disburden them by the sale of
Muchalls, that the Dowager lady should assign to a trustee one-third of
her fortune to pay her late husband’s most pressing creditors, that the
younger Lady Burnett should renounce 1300 marks of her jointure for
the maintenace and education of her children, and that Sir Alexander
should settle the whole real estate belonging to him at the time of his
wife's death on himself and the heirs male of his body, whom failing his
other heirs rhale. But it soon transpired that the debts exceeded the
estate ; and Sir Alexander, acting by legal advice, gave up all thoughts
of making up his title to his father’s estate in the usual way, and
betook himself to the expedient of a service cum beneficio inventaric
(the effect of which is that the heir thus serving cannot be subjected
to payment of debts beyond-the extent of the estate given up in
inventory), followed by a claim for the £40,000 Scots (42000 sterling)
due to him under his father’s obligation of 16th April, 1705, made
through means of a confidential trustee and in the character of an
adjudging creditor. With the £2000 sterling received under this
adjudication, and £6673 received as the price of Muchalls, sold to
Thomas Fullerton, the trustee in question, James Ferguson of Pitfour
was enabled to purchase, on favourable terms, the more con-
siderable debts affecting the estate. The decree of adjudication and
lands were conveyed by Pitfour to Sir Alexander Burnett and his
assignees whatsoever. The estate of Leys was thus saved, but Muchalls
(as well as Cowtoun) sacrificed, a result not attained without a consider-
able amount of litigation with creditors, and a suit with the Dowager
lady, who offered strenuous opposition to the sale of Muchalls, on which
her jointure was secured.

Shortly after Sir Alexander succeeded to the property the rebellion of
1715 broke out, and he received the following letter from the Earl
Marischall :—

“To the Hon. Sir Alexander Burnett
of Leyes, Barronett.
“ Sr’

“These are in his Maj. name and alithe, by vertue off a power
given me by ye Earle of Marr, whom his Maj. hath been pleased to
intrust with the direction of his affaires in this his ancient Kingdome of
Scotland, to require you with your best horses and armes, and what
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men you can raise to meet me at Stonhyve on Saturday next, October
Ist, at one o'clock, ffor which this shall be yovr warrand. ffrom
« Sr’
“Your hum. Servt,
“Ellon, Sepr 25, 1715.” “ MARISCHALL.”

From what we know of Sir Alexander’s political opinions and
leanings, we may safely assume that he did not attend at the appointed
rendezvous at Stonhyve! The state of his own affairs would have
effectually precluded any idea of raising horses and men for King
James, even if he had the wish to do so.

Thomas, the elder son, a youth of great promise, was killed by a
splinter of rock in the course of operations carried on by Sir Alexander
with the view of draining the Loch of Leys. The remaining son, Robert,
was unmarried, and the question began to be mooted, which emerged in
the next generation, whether the family estates, which Sir Alexander
had saved through his wife’s fortune, and his own good management,
should, failing Robert, go to Sir Alexander’s daughters, or to his brother,
William Burnett of Criggie. Both the old investitures and Sir Thomas’
entail of 1700 gave the preference to heirs male, Criggie, prompted, it is
said, by his mother, the elder Lady Burnett, a lady of much vigour of
character, endeavoured, in 1709, by means of an action of Proving the
tenor to resuscitate the entail of 1700, not to the extent of bringing its
irritancies into effect, but to that of securing the succession to heirs male.
After much very persistent litigation, the Court found that, inasmuch as
the Entail was not found in Sir Thomas’ repositories at the time of his
death, he must be presumed to have exercised his reserved power of
cancelling it. Sir Alexander’s views may perhaps be gathered from the
fact of the adjudications under which he held being taken to heirs of line,
from his opposing the revival of the entail, and from the circumstance
that, in bestowing the fee of certain parts of the estate, including Crathes
and lands adjacent, on his son Robert, in 1740, 1745, and 1746, he
disponed them to him, his heirs and assignees.

Sir Alexander’s success in clearing the estate from debt was probably
less due to his personal business capacities than to his choice of competent
advisers, He was not, like his father, a public character or man of the
world, nor can he be numbered among the more gifted members of the
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family. He seems to have been a kind-hearted, benevolent man, with
much simplicity of character, and some ludicrous peculiarities, including
a nervous dislike to anything to which he was unused, and what was
locally called “boodie fear,” a dread of ghosts.

Sir Alexander died at Crathes on the 4th February, 1758, in his 8oth
year. His wife, the Tutor of Leys’ daughter, had predeceased him, also
at Crathes, on 2nd March, 1740; and his mother, Margaret Arbuthnot,
had survived till July, 1744, when she died at Aberdeen at the age of 82.
Both his daughters were also dead, each having left a son.

Sir Alexander and Helen Burnett had the following children :—
I. Thomas, killed as explained above.

I1. Robert, baptized 17th May, 1720 (Banchory Register), successor
to his father as 5th Baronet.

I. Helen, married, 21st June, 1733, George Burnett of Kemnay
(great-grandson of the often already mentioned James Burnett
of Craigmyle, brother of the 1st Baronet of Leys), died at
Kemnay 21st September, 1750, having had issue as below
(Banchory Register).

I1. Jean, baptized 18th October, 1714 (Banchory Register); died young.

I11. Katherine, baptized 27th February, 1716 (Banchory Register);
died young.

IV. Mary, baptized 2nd April, 1719 (/bid.); married (contract dated
24th June, 1742), Alexander Aberdein of Cairnbulg, provost
of Aberdeen. Their only son, Robert Aberdein, long the
oldest member of the Faculty of Advocates, died in London
at a great age.

XVIL

SIk ROBERT BURNETT OF LEYS, sth BARONET (1758-59). The
only surviving son of Sir Robert, born 1720, succeeded his father 4th
February, 1758. In consequence of the confusion that existed about
the state of the succession, he made up his titles to his father’s estates by
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service as heir male and of line. He survived his father little more than
a year, dying unmarried in August, 1759.

George Burnett of Kemnay, on behalf of his son, then abroad as
Chargé &’ Affaires at the Court of Berlin, claimed the succession ; so did
Sir Thomas, the new Baronet, son of William Burnett of Criggie, who
was now dead. Both were at Crathes at Sir Robert’s funeral ; and it is
said that each, regarding the other as his guest, treated him with the
most polite hospitality. This, however, could not last; and, one day,
Kemnay locked up the Castle, and carried off the great door key, which
has ever since remained in possession of his descendants. Then came a
protracted lawsuit, or rather three lawsuits, between the heir male and the
heir of line. Robert Aberdein, the junior heir-portioner, appears nowhere
in the proceedings, as he had settled any claim that he could make by a
compromise with Sir Thomas. One of Kemnay’s suits was founded on
Sir Alexander’s title by adjudication. The £40,000 Scots settled on
Sir Alexander as a surrogate for Cowtoun was payable to his heirs and
assigns, and these, it was pleaded, gave the heir of line a claim on the
estates, even supposing them to be carried in virtue of Sir Alexander’s
service cum beneficio inventariz to the heir male. Then the fee of a large
portion of the estate, including Crathes, had been conveyed by Sir
Alexander to his son Robert and his heirs whatsoever. A separate
claim was made as to Standingstones, conveyed by Sir Alexander
to his son Robert, his heirs and assigns, and conveyed by Sir Robert,
during his short period of possession, to his nephew, Alexander
Burnett, his heirs and assigns, by a disposition originally meant to confer
a vote. But seven days before his death, the back-bond being unsigned,
Sir Robert gave a mandate to his factor that the conveyance should be
made absolute, and the intended back-bond should not be granted. The
three cases were hotly litigated in the Court of Session, and decided in
favour of the heir male. That, founded on the title by adjudication, was
carried by appeal to the House of Lords, and the judgment of the Court
below affirmed on 3oth April, 1766, with costs. The key was doubtless
soon replaced by Sir Robert Burnett, but the original remains at Kemnay,
like the hunting horn at Crathes, a symbol or memento of as shortlived
a possession of Crathes Castle as Alexander Burnard’s was of the
forestership of Drum.
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XVIIL

Sik THOMAS BURNETT OF LEYS, 6th BARONET (1759-83). Thomas,
son of William Burnett of Criggie, by Jean, youngest daughter of the
“Tutor of Leys,” was served heir special to his father in Criggie on 6th
May, 1748, and heir male special to his cousin, Sir Robert Burnett in
Leys and Pittenkeirie, on 17th January, 1761. His possession ceased to
be contested in 1766; and on 7th August, 1767, he obtained from the
Court of Session a decree against Alexander Burnett, younger, of
Kemnay, and Robert Aberdein, as the late Sir Robert’s heirs of line,
finding the estates to belong to the pursuer as heir male under the
investitures. Standingstones was re-disponed to him by Kemnay, junior,
reserving his superiority. An inventory of houschold furniture, taken
immediately on Sir Thomas’ succession, which may have interest for
some readers, will be found in the Appendix. He married, in 1754,
Katherine, daughter of Charles Ramsay, third son of Sir Charles Ramsay
of Balmain, and had issue :(—

I. ROBERT, his successor.

Il. ALEXANDER, of whom separately as Sir Alexander Ramsay, Bart.,
of Balmain,

II1. THOMAS, b. 1757, twin to Alexander.

IV. WILLIAM (General), b. 1762. Was appointed to a company in the
14th Regiment in 1784, with which he served in the campaign in
Flanders in 1793, under the Duke of York. In January, 1796,
he was promoted Lieut.-Colonel, and in April, 1797, commanded
the regiment in the attack on Porto Rico under Sir Ralph
Abercromby. In 1803 he was promoted Colonel in the army
and A, D.C. to the King, George I11.; Major-General, July, 1810;
Licut.-General in June, 1814; General, January, 1837. He
acquired Arbeadie, on the north side of the Dee, from his brother,
Sir Robert Burnett, and half the estate of Blackhall, on the south
side of the Dee, by a transaction with the trustees of Sir Edward
Bannerman of Elsick. General Burnett settled on Deeside on
his retirement from the army, and died unmarried, in 1839. The
letters of the General from the seat of war, in 1793, to his brother,
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Sir Robert Burnett, and his description of the manoeuvres carried
out at a camp of exercise near Bagshot, in the previous year, are
interesting to the military reader, as containing incidents which
came under his own observation. The scene of the peace
manoeuvres which he describes is the same as that on which our
own troops exercise at present, and is in the immediate vicinity
of the great camp at Aldershot. The mistakes committed there
one hundred years ago, which he criticizes, are precisely those
which call forth the reprobation of the Umpire staff of the
present day. The military history of 1792 repeats itself in 1892,
with, perhaps, the single exception of a position being carried
“at the bayonets’ point, with the band playing the Grenadiers’
march,” a performance hardly applicable to modern warfare.

I. CATHERINE, married Alexander Forbes of Schivas.

Sir Thomas Burnett died at Crathes, 26th July, 1783.

XIX.

SIR ROBERT BURNETT OF LEVS, 7th BARONET (1783-1837). Born
2oth December, 1755. Entered the army on the 23rd December, 1771.
Appointed to the 21st Royal North British Fusiliers, 2z1st February,
1772, and served with the regiment in the first American War, Was
taken prisoner at Saratoga, when General Burgoyne surrendered to
General Gates, in 1777.

On his father’s death Sir Robert left the army, and, on the 16th
September, 1785, he married Margaret, 4th daughter of General Robert
Dalrymple of Westhall. In 1807 Sir Robert purchased Mills of Drum,
part of the upper barony of Culter, from the trustees of James Duff, Esq,,
of Fetteresso. He died, January, 1837, and his widow on 18th March,
1849. They had issue :—

I. THOMAS, who succeeded his father as 8th Baronet.
II. ALEXANDER, 9th Baronet.

III. ROBERT, born 24th January, 1793. Killed by an accident, 5th
September, 1801.
0
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IV, WiLLIAM, born 1st August, 1798, Entered the Royal Navy in
1811, and served in the Northumberland and Ramillies during
the French and American wars, under Sir George Cockburn,
Sir Henry Hotham, and Sir Thomas Hardy. In the attacks on
the towns of Washington and New Orleans he was employed in
the boats of the squadron. Promoted to the rank of Lieutenant
after the peace, he was appointed to the Seringapatam frigate,
and mentioned in despatches for gallant conduct in attacking
and capturing with the boats of that frigate a superior force of
Greek pirates. As first Licutenant-Commander of the Blanche
frigate, under Commodore ‘Farquhar, in the West Indies, he was
again mentioned in despatches for meritorious service on shore,
in the Island of Jamaica, with the seamen and marines of the
Blancke, during an insurrection in that island. On his return
home, in 1834, he was promoted post captain. He died at
Portsmouth, unmarried, on the 16th April, 1840, whilst fitting out
The Magicienne, 24 guns, to which he had been appointed. A
monument is erected to his memory in the garrison church there.

V. JAMES HORN, 1oth Baronet.

I. MARY, born 16th September, 1786, died, unmarried, gth February,
18356.

I1. KATHERINE, born 16th December, 1791.

[TI. MARGARET, born gth April, 1796, married, 28th April, 1826, her
cousin-german, Thomas, second son of Sir Alexander Ramsay,
Bart.,, of Balmain, and died 17th January, 1828.

XX.

SIR THOMAS BURNETT OF LEVS, 8th BARONET (1837-49). Born
22nd August, 1788, and succeeded his father, January, 1837. Before
succeeding to the family property, he contested the parliamentary
representation of Kincardineshire, in 1832, against the sitting member,
General the Hon, Hugh Arbuthnott. For his services on that occasion
he was presented with a silver centre piece by the Liberal electors of the
county, Sir Thomas was a prominent agriculturist and breeder of
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Aberdeenshire polled cattle. He held the post of Lord Lieutenant of
Kincardineshire from 1847 till his death. He died, unmarried, 16th
February, 1849, and was succeeded by his brother,

XXL

SIR ALEXANDER BURNETT OF LEVS, oth BARONET (1849-56).
Born 17th December, 1789. In the H.E.I.C. Service. Died, unmarried,
2oth March, 1856.

XXIIL

SIR JAMES HORN BURNETT OF LEYS, 1oth BARONET (1856-76).
The youngest son of Sir Robert Burnett, 7th Baronet. He was born
22nd June, 1801, admitted a member of the Society of Writers to the
Signet, gth July, 1824, and succeeded his brother, Sir Alexander, 20th
March, 1856. He held the post of Lord Licutenant of Kincardineshire
from December, 1863, till his death, 17th December, 1876. He married
(1st), 3rd February, 1831, Caroline Margaret, daughter of Charles
Spearman of Thornley Hall, Co. Durham, by whom he had :—

I. ROBERT, 11th Baronet.
II. CHARLES SPEARMAN, born 6th July, 1835 ; died 21st June, 1836.

He married (2nd), on the 12th July, 1837, his cousin-german, Lauderdale
(who died 4th November, 1888), youngest daughter of Sir Alexander
Ramsay of Balmain, and widow of David Duncan, Esq., of Rosemount,
Co. Forfar, by whom he had :—

I. THOMAS, 12th Baronet.

Il. ALEXANDER EDWIN, born 17th December, 1842; died 8th August,
1897. Member of the Society of Writers to the Signet.

I. ELIZABETH BANNERMAN, married, 2nd February, 1869, George
John Pitt Taylor, 78th Highlanders, and has one son and three
daughters. She died 22nd February, 1877.

Sir James died 17th September, 1876.
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XXIIL

Sik ROBERT BURNETT OF LEYS, 11th BARONET (1876-1894). Born
28th August, 1833. Educated at Christ Church, Oxford. Married, 1864,
Matilda Josephine (who died 25th April, 1888), daughter of James
Murphy, Esg., of New York, and had issue :—

I. JaAMES LAUDERDALE, died, 1874, in infancy.

Sir Robert died 15th January, 1894.

XXIV.

SiIk THoMAS BURNETT OF LEYS, 12th BARONET, succeeded his
brother in 1894. Born 27th November, 1840; Lieut.-Colonel and
Colonel, Royal Horse Artillery; married, 2nd June, 1875, Mary Elizabeth,
eldest daughter of James Cumine, Esq., of Rattray, Co. Aberdeen, and
Harriet Hay Cumine, daughter of Thomas Burnett, of the Monboddo
branch, and has issue :—

I. JAMES LAUDERDALE GILBERT, born 1st April, 1880. 2nd
Lieutenant, Gordon Highlanders.

II. ALEXANDER EDWIN, born 26th April, 1881.
I. ETHEL.

1I. MARY BERTHA.



CHAPTER III.

RAMSAYS OF BALMAIN.

PATERNALLY BURNETTS.

K.

IR ALEXANDER RAMSAY oOF BALMAIN, ist BART. Through

the already mentioned marriage of Sir Thomas Burnett,6th Baronet of
Leys, with the sister of Sir Alexander Ramsay, 6th Baronet of Balmain,
the Burnetts became heirs of line of the Ramsays of Balmain. The last
named family were the descendants of John Ramsay, the favourite of
James 111, who, being with that King at Lauder Bridge, in July, 1482,
escaped, on the plea of his youth, the doom of execution dealt out by the
Earl of Angus and his adherents to Cochrane, Roger, and the rest of
that King’s attendants. The King soon afterwards created him Lord
Bothwell. After being, along with other adherents of his predecessor,
forfeited by James IV., he was allowed to return to Scotland, restored to
a large part of his estates, though not to his title, and received into royal
favour, he still, however, keeping up a confidential correspondence with
Henry VIL, informing him of all the secrets of the Scottish Court. The
lands of Balmain, Fasque, and others, in Kincardineshire, erected into a
barony in his favour in 1510, were inherited by his descendants, of whom
Sir Gilbert was made a Baronet of Nova Scotia in 1625, Sir Alexander
Ramsay, 6th baronet, died s.p. in 1806 ; and in virtue of his settlement
his estates passed to the immediate younger brother of his heir of line,
viz., Alexander, second son of Sir Thomas Burnett of Leys. Born 3ist
July, 1757, he was admitted to the Scottish Bar, and became Sheriff
of Kincardineshire in 1779. On 14th October, 1782, he married Elizabeth
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(who survived till December, 1844), daughter of Sir Alexander Banner-
man of Elsick, 4th Baronet, and after the death s.p. of Sir Edward
Bannerman, sth Baronet, co-heiress with her sister, Mrs. Russell, of
extensive lands in the valley of the Feugh, including the whole parish of
Strachan, of which the southern portion was Mrs, Burnett’s, “Both
sisters,” says the late Cosmo Innes in his memoir of Dean Ramsay, “ were
eminently handsome. I have a tradition of the young ladies, when they
first came from their York school to Edinburgh, being followed and
gazed at by passengers in the streets for their beauty; and there are
many still living in Edinburgh who long after gazed with admiration on
the fine old !ady, the Dean’s mother, bending over her embroidery frame
in her window in Darnaway Street.”* The Sheriff, on the ground of
delicate health, travelled a good deal in the south of Europe, but was
suddenly drawn northwards by the outbreak of the French Revolution.
On his succession to Balmain he gave up his Sheriffship, in which Adam
Gillies succeeded him, and settled for the short remainder of his life at
Fasque, where he built an almost palatial mansion, at a cost of £30,000.
He assumed the surname of Ramsay by royal licence, and corresponding
arms, by warrant of the Lord Lyon, and was created a Baronet of the
United Kingdom on 13th May, 1806, as Sir Alexander Ramsay of
Balmain.t+ He died at Fasque on 17th May, 1810, having had the
following issue, who, in general, retained the surname of Ramsay,
altogether dropping Burnett :—

I. ALEXANDER, 2nd Baronet.
I1. DAVID, died between 1807 and 1816.

II1. THOMAS, born 24th February, 1786. Captain, 47th Regiment. He
married (1st), oth November, 1816, Jane (who died Nov., 1823),
second daughter of Patrick Cruickshank, of Stracathro, and had
by her :—

* C. Tones” Memoir of Dean Ramsay, prefixed to 22nd edition of ¢ Reminiscences of Scottish
Life and Character.”

+The old Balmain Baronetcy continued (o exist down to 1859 in the person of a collateral
relation, Sir Thomas Ramsay, probably the last descendant in the male line of the forfeited
Lord Bothwell. On his death, the Ramsay Baronetey of 1625 became, as far as is known,
extinet,
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1. WILLIAM, born 1820, who resumed the name of Burnett
before Ramsay. Succeeded, by settlement of his grand-
uncle, General William Burnett, to Arbeadie, on the north
side of the Dee, and to the southern half of the Blackhall
estate, extending towards Strachan. Captain, Rifle
Brigade ; Lieut.-Colonel, Forfar and Kincardine Militia ;
married, 24th July, 1854, Anne, daughter of Duncan
Davidson of Inchmarlo, and died 6th November, 1865,
having had issue:—

(1) THOMAS BURNETT-RAMSAY, of Banchory Lodge,
born 29th March, 1862 ; Captain, Rifle Brigade.
(1) FRANCES MARY, married, 20th August, 1879, W.
D. Robinson-Douglas of Orchardtoun, Co. Kirk-
cudbright.
(2) KATHERINE JANE.
(3) ANNIE ELIZABETH.
(4) INA MARGARET, died 15th April, 1889.
1. ELIZABETH MARGERIE, married, 1858, Rev. Alexander J.
Murray, Jersey, and has issue.
2. CATHERINE FORBES, killed by an accident, 1843.
3. JANE, married, 1852, Dr, Thom, and has issue,
Captain Thomas Ramsay, married, 2nd, 28th April, 1826, his
cousin-german, Margaret, second daughter of Sir Robert Burnett

of Leys, 7th Baronet, and had issue, a son Thomas, born 1828,
died 1836.

IV. ROBERT, Captain, 14th Foot, married, May, 1817, Margaret (who
died 1840), third daughter of Patrick Cruickshank of Stracathro,
and died 20th December, 1846, having had issue :—

I. ROBERT, born 1818, married, 1855, Susan, youngest daughter
of William Fullerton-Lindsay-Carnegie of Spynie and
Bogtack, and has issue :—

(1) MARMADUKE FRANCIS, born 1860.
(2) ROBERT CHRISTIAN, born 1861.
(3) EDWARD LAUDERDALE, born 1865.
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(4) ARTHUR DOUGLAS, born 1868.

(5) NORMAN, born 1869.

(1) AGNES MABEL ALICE,

(2) MINA MARY.

(3) EDITH PATRICIA.
ALEXANDER, born 1823, died 1857.
MARMADUKE, born 1834, died 1865,
ELLEN.

EL1ZABETH PATRICIA, married, 1877, Major Francis Fenwick
Laye, goth Regiment, who died 1881.

)

o aRlagl-

V. EDWARD BANNERMAN, LL.D,, in holy orders, dean of Edinburgh,

born 3oth January, 1793, married, in 1829, Isabella, daughter of
Rupert Cochrane of Halifax, Nova Scotia, who died 23rd July,
1858. He died s.p. 27th December, 1872. Edward was educated
at Durham School and Cambridge University, and was ordained
in 1816. After serving as curate at Rodden and Buckland in
Somersetshire, he removed to Edinburgh, where he spent the
rest of his life. His first appointment there was as curate to the
Rev. R. Q. Shannon, St. George’s, York Place, where he remained
for five and a-half years; then he became incumbent for one
year of the curious old church, St. Paul’s, Carrubbers Close, now
replaced by a new and handsome edifice, and finally settled down
in 1827 at St. John the Evangelist, Princes Street, first as curate
to Bishop Sandford, and afterwards as incumbent, being also
made Dean of the Diocese in 1846. Dean Ramsay was a man
of considerable accomplishments; he wrote with great facility
and excellent style; was an admirable reader and elocutionist ;
an ardent florist in his youth, and to the very last an enthusiastic
as well as a highly cultivated musician. He possessed great
skill as a flautist, sang well, and understood perfectly the con-
struction and mechanism of the organ, while as an authority on
all matters connected with the works of Handel he was con-
sidered hardly second to any man of his day. His lectures
on that composer, whose genius he admired beyond measure,
delivered to the members of the Edinburgh Philosophical
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Institution, and published in 1862, will be found well worthy of
a careful perusal. Added to these gifts, the Dean possessed
very courteous, genial manners, a strong sense of humour, and a
singularly tolerant, kindly disposition to those who held different
religious opinions from his own, so it is not to be wondered at
that he soon became very popular in Edinburgh, and his house
the resort of many distinguished strangers, as well as the most
able and learned of his fellow citizens of all creeds. It is only
right to mention that he was no less loved and esteemed as a
clergyman, than liked as a companion and friend. His sermons
were able and careful compositions, and his beautiful voice and
thorough knowledge of elocution added much to their effect:
he took a keen interest in the welfare of his congregation,
knowing each member personally, while the sick and poor never
appealed to the good Dean in vain. Although he had taken
orders in England, he completely identified himself with the
church of his adoption, and was practically the founder of the
Scottish Episcopal Church Society, which, though afterwards
superseded by another and more comprehensive organization,
did excellent work in its day. Perhaps the general public best
know Dean Ramsay by his “ Reminiscences of Scottish Life and
Character,” which is admitted to be, upon the whole, the best
collection of Scotch stories ever published. But it must be
admitted that the book owes much of its popularity to the skill
with which the author has made a kind of connected narrative
to run through the whole, turning it more into a pleasant
account of old Scotch life and manners than a mere string of
stories not always of equal merit. First delivered in the form of
a lecture, the “ Reminiscences” were published in book form in
1857 ; edition after edition was called for, each containing much
new matter, till the 22nd was reached, in the preparation of
which the author died; it was published in 1874, with an
interesting memoir of the Dean by the late Professor Cosmo
Innes. In 1829, Dean Ramsay married Miss Isabella Cochrane,
a lady of marked talent and strength of character, who died
without issue in 1858, predeceasing her husband, whose death
did not occur till 27th December, 1872, by fourteen years ; few
P
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men have been more missed in the Scottish Episcopal Church,
or in Edinburgh Society. Besides the Reminiscences and
Lectures on Handel before referred to, he was author of a
Church Catechism, at one time much used, “ The Christian Life”
(1861), “Pulpit Table Talk” (1866), and many published
sermons. It is worthy of note that in 1844 Dean Ramsay was
offered and declined the Bishopric of New Brunswick, in 1847
the Bishopric of Glasgow, and in 1862 the Coadjutor Bishopric
of Edinburgh.

V1. MARMADUKE. Fellow and tutor of Jesus College, Cambridge.

He died s.p.

VII. WiLLIAM, Rear Admiral, R.N,, and K.C,B, born 27th May,

1793.

“ Admiral Sir Wm. Ramsay, K.C.B,, received his early educa-
tion at Durham School and Gosport Naval Academy. When
only thirteen years of age he entered the Royal Navy, and on
board H.M.S. A/lbion was present at the battle of Navarino.
Subsequently, as a lieutenant he commanded the brig Black Joke,
and in that vessecl, on the 22nd April, 1831, captured off the
coast of Africa a large slaver named the Maranerito, and was
thus enabled to release 496 slaves. The story of this capture is
interesting, and occupies a prominent place in “Giffard’s Deeds
of Naval Daring.” While the Black foke was at Fernando Po
Lieutenant Ramsay learned that a large Spanish slave brig,
carrying one large pivot and four broadside guns, and having a
complement of 70 picked men, was in the Old Calabar river.
Notwithstanding that the Black Joke had only one pivot gun and
one canonade, with a complement of 44 officers and men, Mr.
Ramsay made sail for Old Calabar, and commenced a strict
blockade. The blockade lasted for three days, and, on the fourth
day, after a running fight, Mr. Ramsay boarded and captured the
Spanish slaver. Of the men on board the slaver, 15 were killed
or drowned, 4 severely wounded, and several slightly wounded,
while the Black Joke lost only one man, Mr. Ramsay and his
mate being wounded. The captured slaves were in a deplorable
state, no less than 26 of them being found suffocated. In
recognition of this daring act Mr. Ramsay and his mate were
speedily promoted. In 1845 Mr. (then Captain) Ramsay was
appointed to the command of Z/e Zerrible, which was at that
time the largest steam vessel in the navy. He retained that
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appointment for four years, during which time he acted as
senior naval officer in the Adriatic. During the Crimean war he
commanded 7%e Hogue, line of battle ship, in the Baltic, and was
present at the capture of Bomarsund. At the conclusion of the
war he was made Companion of the Bath, and was thanked by
the Secretary of War, and, in 1854, he was granted a Captain’s
good service pension. The letter from Sir James Graham,
conveying intimation of the pension, contained the following
words :— You have served long, honourably, and well, and this
unsolicited reward is due in justice to your merits and honourable
good conduct on many and trying occasions In 1857, Captain
Ramsay was chairman of the Committee on Steam Machinery.
His promotion in the Navy was as follows :—Lieutenant in 1821,
Commander in 1831, Captain in 1838, Vice-Admiral in 1864, and
Admiral in 1870. In 1869 he received the distinction of K.C.B,,
and still more recently he had conferred upon him an Admiral’s
good service pension, the first which had fallen vacant since his
promotion to that rank. Sir William was the author of the
article on ‘ Seamanship’ in the eighth edition of the ¢ Encyclo-
paedia Britannica.” During the latter part of his life he resided
in Edinburgh, with his brother the Dean, and took an active
interest in many of the city’s philanthropic institutions, and was
well known for the generosity of his disposition. He was a
director of the Institution for Training Homeless Girls, and of
the Industrial Brigade. He died in Edinburgh on the 3rd
December, 1871.”

The above sketch of the Admiral’s services is taken from the

Scotsman of the 4th December, 1871.

. EDWIN HEWGILL, born 1804, died unmarried.

. ELIZABETH, born 17th September, 1783, married 7th April, 1808,
Alexander Renny Tailyeour of Borrowfield, Co. Kincardine,
and had issue.

CATHERINE, died in infancy.

HELEN, died in infancy.

MARY, died in infancy.

FRANCES, died in infancy.

LAUDERDALE, married (1st), 1oth July, 1832, David Duncan of
Rosemount, Forfarshire; (2nd), 12th July, 1837, Sir J. H.
Burnett, 10th Baronet of Leys; died 4th November, 1888.
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SIR ALEXANDER RAMSAY, z2nd BARONET, born 14th February, 178s.
He married (1st), 1st August, 1811, Jane, eldest daughter and co-heiress
of James Russell of Blackhall, Co. Kincardine. She died in 1819. By
this lady he had three sons and two daughters :—

I. ALEXANDER, 3rd Baronet.
II. WiLL1AM, born 1814, died 1840.

[II. FraNcrs, born 1815. Served in the Royal Artillery. He married,
in 1848, Georgina Hay, third daughter of William Foreman
Home of Wedderburn, and has :—

. WILLIAM ALEXANDER, born sth December, 1848. Colonel,
4th Hussars. Married, 2nd September, 1873, Susan
Newcombe, daughter of William Minchiner of Clontarf,
Co. Dublin.

2. FRANCIS FARQUHARSON, born 28th July, 1855 ; died 7th
April, 1898. Captain, Gordon Highlanders (92nd).

1. FANNY JANE.

I. MARrY, married (1st), in 1837, the Rev. Bruges Lambert of
Misterton, Co. Somerset, who died 1843; and (2nd), 25th
February, 1845, John Sparks of Crewkerne, Somerset.

I1. EL1ZABETH, married (1st) John Carr, second son of John Carr of
Dunstanhill, Co. Durham, who died 1856 ; (2nd), in 1860, Charles

Murray Barstow, who died in 1885. She died 14th February,
1887.

Sir Alexander Ramsay married (2nd), 26th December, 1822, Elizabeth,
second daughter of William Lord Panmure, by whom he had four sons
and three daughters. She died 12th September, 1852 :—

I. Fox MAULE, born 18th March, 1824. Captain in the s56th
Regiment ; died, unmarried, 15th March, 1860.

1. EbwARD BANNERMAN, born 16th February, 1830. Major-General,
Madras Staff Corps ; died, urimarried, 25th December, 1833.
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III. GEORGE DALHOUSIE, born 23rd May, 1828. Secretary to his
uncle, Lord Panmure, then Secretary of State for War ; Director
of Army Clothing Department, and a K.C.B.; married, 23rd
April, 1864, Eleanor Julia Charteris, daughter of John Cranford,

F.R.S, and has issue :—
1. ALEXANDER PANMURE OSWALD, born 15th April, 1867 ;
died 16th February, 1897.

1. EL1IZABETH EDITH, born 27th July, 1865 ; married, 11th
January, 1894, the Rev. Barton R. V. Mills, and has issue.

IV. MARMADUKE, born 1837 ; died 1893. Colonel, Bengal Staff Corps ;
married, 1858, Anne, daughter of Lieut.-General Innes, and has:
1. MARMADUKE, born 1859.
2. ALEXANDER, born 1866.
1. ELIZABETH MAULE.
I. PATRICIA, married, 14th May, 1872, W. John de Courcey Agnew,
Commander, R.N.
II. CHRISTINA, married, 14th February, 1859, Major Charles Elliot,
C.B,, Madras Staff Corps, youngest son of James Elliot of
Wolflee, and died 13th March, 1873.

III. GEORGINA HARVEY, married, 2oth April, 1861, Lieut.-General
Sir R. J. Hay, K.C.B,, R.A, second son of Admiral Hay of

Belton, Co. Haddington.
Sir Alexander died 26th April, 1852, and was succeeded by his son.

III1

SIR ALEXANDER RAMSAY, 3rd BARONET, born 26th May, 1813,
some time M.P. for Rochdale. He married, 29th December, 1835, Ellen
Matilda, eldest daughter of John Entwisle of Foxholes, Co. Lancashire,
and had:—

I. ALEXANDER ENTWISLE, who succeeded him as 4th Baronet.



110 THE FAMILY OF BURNETT OF LEYS.

II. Hucn FrANCIS, born 23rd September, 1838; married, 24th
February, 1868, Jane Maria, daughter of General F. H. Sundys,
Bengal Army, and has :—

1. HuGH ENTWISLE, born 1871.

. NORL BANNERMAN, born 1875.

. RHODA BEATRICE.

. SYBIL.

3. OLIVE.

]

-

(]

I11. Jonn, late Captain, Royal' Engineers, born 3oth June, 1843;
married 5th September, 1876, Florence Mary, daughter of Richard
J. Hilton of Preston House, Faversham, and has :—

1. HECTOR ALEXANDER, born 1878.

. NORMAN, born 1880.

3. JOHN RICHARD, born 1883.

1. ETHEL.

2, HiLpA.

3. EVELYN.

W

IV. BERTIN, born 13th October, 1850 ; married, 1881, Kate, daughter
of Dr. David King, U.S.A,, and has issue—Hallie, Ellen, and
Ethel.

I. ELLEN AUGUSTA, married, 2nd December, 1885, Ernest de S.
Hamilton Brown, son of Major George Brown, D.L., of Comber
House, Co. Londonderry.

Sir Alexander died 3rd March, 1875,

IV.

SIR ALEXANDER ENTWISLE RAMSAY, 4th BARONET. Born 14th
January, 1837 ; married, 22nd January, 1863, Octavia, youngest daughter
of Thomas Haigh of Elm Hall, near Liverpool, and has :—

I. ALEXANDER HAIGH, born 1st January, 1866 ; died 3oth December,
1870.
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I1. HERBERT, born gth February, 1868.
II1. ARTHUR, born gth January, 1871.
I. HELEN GEORGINA,
II. NORA MABEL,
III. FLORENCE AUGUSTA.

He married (2nd), 1oth August, 1880, Caroline Charlotte, youngest
daughter of Thomas James Ireland, of Owsden Hall, Co. Suffolk, and
has :—

I. GILBERT IRELAND, born 31st May, 1881. 2nd Lieutenant, Royal
Artillery.



CHAPTER 1IV.

BURNETTS OF CRAIGMYLE.

L

AMES BURNETT oOF CRAIGMYLE. James Burnett, son of Alex.
J Burnett of Leys,and immediate younger brother of Sir Thomas Burnett,

ist Baronet, could have been little younger than his brother Thomas.
In terms, apparently, of a family compact made in 1598, when both were
in pupillarity, he married, in 1608, when he could not have been above
eighteen, Elizabeth Burnett, daughter and heir of Thomas Burnet of
Craigmyle and Tillihaikie. This Thomas was grandson and representative
of William Burnett of Craigour, Campbell, and Tillihaikie, who fell at
Pinkie in 1547, ancestor (through a younger line) of the Burnetts of
Campbell, Elrick, &c. These lines of Burnetts are often alluded to as
cadets of Leys, and they doubtless were so, though the compiler has
failed to trace them further back than William, who fell at Pinkie.
Thomas Burnet abovenamed seems to have acquired Craigmyle through
his mother, heiress of a family of Craigmyle of that Ilk, who appear on
record in the 15th century as holding Craigmyle directly from the Crown,
though they afterwards had the Earls of Huntly interposed as superiors.
In November, 1608, Thomas Burnet resigned his lands of Craigmyle,
Pitmedden, and the Mill of Craigmyle into the hands of the Earl of
Huntly, superior, in favour of his daughter, Elizabeth, and her husband,
James Burnet, on their marriage. They had sasine on the gth of the
same month, reserving the liferent of half to Thomas. By this marriage
James Burnet was enabled to add to Craigmyle and Pitmedden large
property in the parishes of Kincardine O’Neil, Skene, and Fetteresso,
partly in absolute property, partly in wadset, from the Earl Marischal,



BURNETTS OF CRAIGMYLE: I. JAMES, 113

Sir William Douglas of Glenbervie, and others ; he seems, in fact, to have
become almost as considerable a laird as his brother, Sir Thomas. The
parish records of Fetteresso shew him resident in, and (along with his
brother, Sir Thomas) an elder of, that parish, where the baptisms of six
of his family were registered between 1620 and 1633. It does not,
however, appear whether his place of residence was then Muchalls or
Auquhorthies, wadsetted to him by the Earl Marischal for 3000
marks. On 20th July, 1633, he had a grant of the ward and non-entry
of the lands of the deceased Sir Simon Fraser of Inverallochy.

Like Sir Thomas, he sided with the Covenant, and during the time of
the “Troubles” his name often occurs, as has been already seen, but
nearly always in the capacity of an adviser of moderate counsels, a
peacemaker and negotiator, and an enemy of bloodshed. The cavalier
parson of Rothiemay described him as “a gentleman of great wisdome,
and one who favoured the King, though he dwelt among the Covenanters,
and was loved and respected by all” The Town-Clerk of Aberdeen,
who has rarely a good word to say for a Covenanting laird, describes
Craigmyle as a “peciabill weill set gentleman.” Among occurrences of
1644, in which Craigmyle was concerned, Spalding records the plundering
of his armory of Blackhills, and his effort to make Huntly disband his
troops, events dating shortly before his death, which occurred in the latter
part of 1644 or beginning of 1645.

Besides other issue, who died young,* James and Elizabeth Burnett
had the following four sons and two daughters :—

I. ALEXANDER (Mr.), his successor in Craigmyle.
II. THOMAS, of Kemnay,
II1. JAMES, of Lagavin and Monboddo,

IV. ROBERT (Mr.), of Cowtoun, Muchalls, and Criggie, of whom some
account has been given as Tutor of Leys (p. 86). The parish
register of Fetteresso records his baptism as on 18th April, 1620.
He married (1st), 22nd December, 1646, Jean, daughter of Mr.
John Mortimer, bailie of Aberdeen (Aberdeen Parish Register),

}of whom separatim.

*The Fetteresso parish register contains the baptisms of the following children of James
Burnet of Craigmyle :—Robert (the Tutor of Leys), 18th April, 1620; Helen, 21st January,
1623 ; William, 1oth February, 1624 ; Margaret, gth September, 1625; George, Ioth April,
1628 ; and John, 6th June, 1633. None of the sons in this list, except Robert, appear to have
reached maturity.

Q
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by whom he had no issue, and (2nd), ¢. 1682, Helen Arbuthnot,
afterwards wife of John Sandilands. He was tutor testamentary,
and afterwards guardian in his minority of Sir Thomas Burnett
of Leys, 3rd Baronet, in our notice of whom (pp. 86-g0) reference
is made to some details regarding his history, and the deed of
provision and will by which he arranged the marriages of his
three daughters, the children of his old age, who were in infancy
on their father’s death, in 1687. These daughters were (1)
Helen, who inherited far the largest share of his property,
including Cowtoun, and married, in 1697, as provided in her
father’s will, Alexander Burnett, younger of Leys, afterwards Sir
Alexander, 4th Baronet; (2) Agnes, who married (ist), 1701,
according to her father's wish (p. 91), Thomas Burnet of
Glenbervie ; and (2nd) Sir William Nicolson of Glenbervie ; (3)
Jean, who, instead of the husband provided for her, who died in
1695, married William Burnett (afterwards designed “of Criggie”),
and was mother of Sir Thomas Burnett of Leys, 6th Baronet.

I. JEAN, married Robert Arbuthnot of Little Fiddes.*

II. MARY, married (sasine on marr. contr., 1661) Alexander Forbes of

Corsinday—alluded to in a letter of Thomas Burnett of Kemnay
(p. 123), died at Kemnay, and was buried at Midmar, i1st
November, 1700.+

IT.

MR. ALEXANDER BURNETT OF CRAIGMYLE. Eldest son of James

Burnett of Craigmyle; was admitted to the Bar 12th July, 1642
(MS., Adv. Lib.) We find him in 1646 a Commissioner of Supply
for Aberdeenshire, and on the Committee of War for Kincardine. In
the adjustments connected with the Indemnity Act in 1662, the name of
Alexander Burnett of Craigmyle occurs among many others in an
enumeration of persons who were allowed to purchase their indemnity for
acts that might be construed as treason, by the payment of fines, the fine
in his case being £2400 (Acts of P.S, vii, 425). He married, in 1649,

* Bishop Keith’s Biography (Spottiswoode Society). t Kemnay Parish Register,
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Christian, daughter of Thomas Fraser of Strichen, and died c. 1677,
having had issue :—

I. ALEXANDER, his successor.

II. THOMAS, to whom his brother, Alexander Burnett of Craigmyle,
was served tutor on 3rd April, 1678. In 1685 his brother reduced
as irregular an Act before the bailies of Aberdeen, by which he
chose his curators, on the ground that the next of kin, who were
cited, were not within the jurisdiction of the bailies. He died
unmarried.

I. ELIZABETH, married (contr. 8th Feb., 1688), James Gordon of
Corfarroch.

II. ANNE, married George Gordon of Terpersie, died, leaving a son,
Charles.

III. JEAN, born 1667. Her brother, Alexander, was served tutor to
her, 3rd April, 1678. She married her cousin-german, Andrew
Burnett, son of Thomas Burnett of Kemnay.

III.

SIR ALEXANDER BURNETT OF CRAIGMYLE. Eldest son of Mr.
Alexander Burnett, succeeded his father c. 1677. His lands, to which he
made up his titles soon after his succession (besides expeding a general
service to his grandfather), were Craigmyle and Pitmedden, held of the
Earl of Huntly ; Easter Skene, Milboy, Hill of Keir, Rogershill, Garlogie,
&c., held of the Crown, and, in 1678, incorporated in his favour into the
barony of Easter Skene, Craigour, and Mill of Campbell, as also Fordyce,
Cormoir, and Croft of Wester Campbell, called Alehousecroft; all held
of Sir Thomas Burnett of Leys. In 1678 his arms were thus recorded in
the Lyon Register :—Quarterly: 1 and 4, Argent, three holly leaves in
chief vert, and a hunting horn in base sable, garnished gules; 2 and 3
(for Craigmyle) Azure, two garbs in chief and a crescent in base or.
Crest, a dexter hand holding the branch of a palm tree, with the motto,
Quae vernant crescunt,

On 7th September, 1681, he obtained authority from Parliament to
hold two yearly fairs and a weekly market at Kirktown of Skene (Acts
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viii,, 441), and towards the close of 1682 or beginning of 1683 he was
knighted by Charles II. In Mr. William Robertson’s description of the
parish of Kincardine O'Neil (A.D. 1725) he is said to have “built a very
fine loaft in the church of Kincardine, fairly coloured and to be seen
intire.”

By his wife, Nicolas, daughter of Peter Young of Auldbar, he had
three daughters, Isabel, Anne, and Margaret, and his settlements gave
rise, on his death, to considerable litigation. In 1684, when only two of
the three were born, he settled his lands on them by will, provided they
married respectively Thomas and Andrew Burnett, sons of his uncle,
Thomas (of Kemnay).* Then, in 1686, he entailed his lands on the heirs
male of his body, with remainder (passing over his bachelor brother,
Thomas) successively to Thomas Burnett of Kemnay, his eldest uncle,
and the heirs male of his body, to his second uncle, James Burnett of
Monboddo, and the heirs male of his body, whom failing to his third
uncle, Robert Burnett of Criggie (the “Tutor of Leys”), and the heirs
male of his body, whom failing to his own heirs male whatsoever. In
April, 1688, when in Edinburgh, he signed a declaration and obligation
to the effect that, as his uncle Thomas had offended him, he annuls the
entail, and obliges himself, as soon as he returns home, to cancel, destroy,
and tear his name from it. A few months later the uncle at whom he
had taken umbrage died ; and Sir Alexander went home, lived six years,
without carrying out his purpose of cancelling or altering the entail,
which, as well as the obligation, but no later entail, was found in his
repositories at his death. On that event, which occurred in 1694, there
was a competition for the succession to his estates, which lasted several
years. Thomas Burnett of Kemnay, the heir expectant, held that the
refraining from cancelling the entail involved that he had departed from
his hasty resolve, and he applied to the Court for an exhibition of all
entails made by his cousin on heirs male, that he might deliberate
whether to enter heir. “The lords, on the one hand, thought it unreason-
able to expose charter chests to view where such a document as a
revocation indicated the alteration of the tailzier’s mind, and on the other
hand it was dangerous to let parties judge on dubious and ambiguous
clauses ; therefore they took a middle way, ordaining the defenders to
produce all tailzies lying beside the defunct upon oath, and the reporter

* Andrew, it has been seen, married instead the testator’s sister, aunt of these young ladies,
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to peruse the same, and if he finds they do not fall under the revocation
or may be debatable, he is to allow the pursuer inspection thereof, and to
hear them how far they are revoked.” (Fountainhall, I., 785, July 15,
1697.) Monboddo contended that the revocation, if good, could only
exclude Kemnay, and not the remaining heirs of entail, and founded on
the provisions for daughters in the deed of revocation as implying that
the heirs of entail were to be burdened with these provisions. On 7th
December, 1701, a decision was at length given in favour of the daughters.
Sir Alexander Burnett’s widow had been appointed tutrix testamentary
during her viduity, but that condition ceased in 1696 on her re-marriage
to Sir Charles Maitland of Pittrichie, Bart. Sir Charles then applied to
be appointed tutor-dative to his stepdaughters, in respect that the nearest
agnate, Thomas Burnett of Kemnay, did not serve, in which application
he met with some opposition from Thomas’s brother, Andrew (Sess.
Papers, Adv. Lib,, vol. iii,, p. 3375).

Of Sir Alexander Burnett’s three daughters, the second, Anna, died
three years after her father, in 1697, and her inheritance was divided
among her sisters. Isabel, the eldest, married, in 1695 or 1696, John
Farquharson of Invercauld. All her children died young, and her
husband had three subsequent wives, Christian, daughter of Robert
Menzies of that Ilk; Margaret, daughter of Lord James Murray ; and
Jean Forbes of Waterton. He died in 1750, and his brother, Alexander
Farquharson of Monaltrie, became owner of Craigmyle by purchase. Sir
Alexander Burnett’s youngest daughter, Margaret, married (contract
dated 1705, in possession of the town of Aberdeen), (ist) Sir
Charles Maitland of Pittrichie, son of her stepfather, (znd) 1705, Sir
Thomas Erskine of Pittodrie. Her only child, William Erskine, being of
weak mind, was excluded from the succession of Pittodrie, which went to
her- husband’s daughter (by a second marriage, with Anne, daughter of
James, 15th Lord Forbes), who married Colonel Henry Knight.



CHAPTER V.

BURNETTS OF KEMNAY.

L

HOMAS, second son of James Burnett of Craigmyle, is designed

writer in Edinburgh. He married, c. November, 1655, Margaret, only
child of John Pearson, merchant, Edinburgh, by whom he had two sons,
Thomas and Andrew, and a daughter, Rachel (born 1679). In 1688, the
year in which he died, he purchased the estate of Kemnay, on Donside,
from Sir George Nicolson, a Lord of Session, under the title of Lord
Kemnay ; and on 20th July, 1688, had a Crown charter to Thomas
Burnett, writer in Edinburgh, and Thomas, his eldest son, and the heirs
male of his body, whom failing, Andrew, his second son, and heirs male
of his body; whom failing, the heirs whatsoever of the said Thomas
Burnett of the barony of Kemnay, on the resignation of Sir George
Nicolson of Kemnay and his eldest son. The mansion-house of Kemnay,
where he took up his residence, was built by Sir Thomas Crombie in the
middle of the 17th century, in place (on a higher area to the south-east of
it) of an older residence of the time when it belonged to the Auchenlecks
and Douglases of Glenbervie. In its original form it somewhat resembled
Muchalls in plan. Its distinguishing features were an uncommonly wide
spiral staircase, a dining-room with a curious embossed roof, which has
been modernized, and though Kemnay House has been deprived of
much of its original character by exterior changes and additions made at
different times, a few antique rooms remain, as well as the remarkable
staircase alluded to. In the following year Thomas Burnett died, and
was buried in the church of Kemnay, on the 19th February, 1689. His
wife, who had predeceased him by a few months, was also buried at
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Kemnay, on 16th November, 1688. The only children who survived
infancy were—

I. THOMAS, his successor ; and

I1. ANDREW, who married (1697) Jean (daughter of Alex. Burnett of
Craigmyle), his first cousin. He was a W.S. in Edinburgh, and
died in 1726. He and his wife are both buried in St. Nicholas,
Aberdeen (Drum’s Aisle),

The Edinburgh baptismal register shews that they had also the following
issue, who died young:—Robert, born 1662 ; Alexander, born 1668 ;
James, born 1672 ; Margaret, born 1676 ; and Rachel, born 1679.

II.

THOMAS BURNETT OF KEMNAY, son of the last, born 1656, after
studying abroad, was admitted a member of the Scottish Bar. He
does not seem to have practised much as a lawyer, but came soon to
be known in the literary and political circles abroad, as well as at home.
He was one of the remarkable little Court circle at Hanover in the time
of the Electress Sophia. According to Mr. J. M. Kemble, his letters to
the Electress, in the Hanoverian Archives, would fill a volume, and are
full of the most curious gossip on the most various subjects, politics,
theology, philosophy, poetry, literature, and the small talk of the day.
His correspondence with Leibnitz, Locke, and Miss Trotter (afterwards
Mrs. Cockburn) is of a more solid and serious description, and exhibits
Thomas Burnett as a man of original thought, very high principle, and
a vast amount of experience, gained by reading, foreign travel, and
intercourse with distinguished men at home and abroad.

The following letter, selected from a number of others couched in
similar terms, although not of very general interest, will suffice to show
the kindly relations which existed between Thomas Burnett and the
Royal lady and her family.

“ A Hannover ce 1 de gbre (Nov.) 1695.

“ Je ne dois pas me plaindre de votre long silence, puisque vous l'ave
recompensé par une si longue lettre, ou de toulte les Louanges que vous
me donnes, je n’ay mérité que celle de la reconnessance enver les per-
sonnes come vous, qui me teimoignent leur estime. Pour les beau livres
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dont vous me parles de religion et de morale, je crois qu’on n’a pas besoin
de celle qui prouvent la verité de la religion Christiene, puisque dans
tous les pays Christiens, les Princes et les Republicques sont convenus
quelle soit veritable; et pour la morale jay trouvé qu'un bon temperament
est plus utile qu'un beau precepte, l'un est pour la pratique et l'autre
pour la speculation ; pour moy come vous l'aves vue je troualle I'apres
diner pour m'enpecher de dormir, ou une bonne conversation m’est
toujour agréable, come vous vous en estres apercu come vous estres
auec moy. Ma fille me prie aussi de vous faire des amities de sa part et
tésmoigne aussi bien que moy qu’elle est affectionée pour vous come sa
mere. “SOPHIE ELECTRISE.”
“ A Monsieur Burnet
“a Londres.”

Regarding the succession to Craigmyle (see p. 116), in which matter
he considered he had been very badly treated, and with reference to his
affairs generally, he wrote to Sir Thomas, the 3rd Baronet, the following

letter :—
“ London—Westminster,

“12 Sep: (1696).
“ho Sir,

“I received yours at Tunbridge-wels and being upon the coming
back to London could not return you my thanks sooner, I received non
since I was in Holland from you bot this: And I had written to Mony-
musk and Mr. Johne Burnet about that tyme to intreat them (in con-
junction with yourself) to tak such exact account of Mr. Mareshals
actings in my affairs whatsomever as they thought fitt. I never had any
answeir. My comeing to Scotland was most resolutely determined
about the tyme I received informatione of Craigmyles death; Bot
hearing whow unnaturally I was passed by, this blast of unkyndnesse
did beat me back more then any storme could have done that was not
insuperable. Since that tyme the alterationes of the climat and weather
seasing upon me I am become much cheanged in my state of health
which does not permit me to ramble much more back and forwards even
though it were bot to Scotland. My melancholy and hypocondriaque
temper heth contributed much to this bodily indispositione, And ill
treatment from some I reckoned upon for my best freinds heth riveted
that uneasie natural temper which I endeavoured all maner of wayes to
root up. My interest is much the same iff my affairs be rightlie managed
and my inclinationes are indeed much stronger for remaining in this
cuntrey at least for some tyme, and it is the surest rule in medecin
that one is left for body and mynd in the place which they lyk most.
I lyk Scotland well, and wish it well more then any other place, Bot I
should be false and dissembling if 1 said my love to it were from the
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maner of living in it which no wayes suits my humor. I doe acknow-
ledge the honor I have in being descended of your famelie And wold in
gratitude serve the interest of your house with all the passione that
animats both love and ambitione to anething thats great and good.
The decays and extinctiones of our name of late heth made also too
sensible impressiones upon me not to wish the flourishing of the furthest
of your branches. It is natural for the stock to support any of its
branches and for them to adorne and beautifie the common stemme
they spring from. [ hope I shall be still myndfull of this and whatever
I doe with relatione to the disposal of my affairs or persone aither never
to doe any thing contrary to the honor of your famelie. Efter the death
of Craigmyles brother as there wes nothing appeared so natural to
expect as the successione of his estate in the greatest part, with his
daughter: So nothing was more earnestlie desyred by me, and had I
not been fixed at that tyme so much that way that I could not be
diverted, I had not only in my view (bot I may say almost in my offer)
ane opportunitie of making an accessione to my fortune above any thing
I justlie judged his estate could make: Bot I thought the preservatioune
of his famelie aught to prevail whilst he considered litle the support of
his oun estate or my oun. I cannot say [ shall ever meet again with
anything that may mak my interest greater; But I hope by the blessing
of god to preserve what I have wt. as much care as my father did purchase.
Thus far I have made reflectiones on severall things not so much out of
any pleasant remembrance as to satisfie you with ane account of what
temper of mynd I have had, and retains with relatione to past occurrences
and the future conduct of my affairs and persone. In the next place as
I reckon your advyce for a proof of your kyndnesse and of your freindlie
interesting your self in my affairs, So [ doe heartelie thank you therfore
and do most frielie accept of your Mediatione in the first place, of St
John Forbes of Monymuskes, our Cusing Thomas Hay, the parson of
Monymusk, Glenbervie, or any others lesse or more you think fittest to
examine the accounts and manadgments of Mr. Marshel, or any others
that deals in my businesse. [t is bot reasonable that he give account of
his stewardship. I cannot be blamed to have trusted one whom my
father and the whole famelie confided so much into, whom with Provost
Binning they had raised from the first seeds of educatione to any degrees
of capacity and whom I myself thought whyle I was in Scotland honest
and diligent. Iff it be otherwayes since, I wish I had been helped sooner
to sett things to right for I was a stranger both to the cuntrey and to a
cuntrey life: And even though I were upon the place would committ the
care of all to a factor. Iﬂg my litle estate were bot looked to with
moderat care and skill I think I wold find it almost all one of being here
or there. Iff James Mareshall hath manadged honestlie he may be fairly
discharged, if you think fitt; and one appoynted that can have more

R
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immediat inspectione and have lesse of avocationes to other businesse.
I fear his unskilfulnesse and pluralitie of offices maks him more insufficient
for my affairs bot of all this you can easelie discover the whole mistery.
I am so out of humor with my present circumstances That I will be still
more and more pivish and melancholy till [ can (by the blessing of god)
change my position till which tyme I cannot think of any other businesse
bot setlement and then it will be ane easier mater to goe to Scotland or
anywhere else with a choise companion. They are not my freinds bot
the cruclest of enemies who will take pleasure to represent to me ane
bad picture of my affaires without reaching a charitable hand to help
them at the same tyme: And therefore even the trewest informationes
are bot unkynd news out of there mouths, there words are sharp swords
and yours are softer then oyle. 1 wold not mak me self uneasie even
for the losse of all I have iff there were no fault in my self to procure
that misfortune And ane other should not tak pleasure lyk the fly upon
the soare to feed upon ane others misfortunes, The tyme is now expyring
of right of Tutor in Law to Craigmyles daughter and it is almost ane
year since I did renunce in my brothers favors. I know not what is
come of itt for I sent it to Mairshel now as I wold not even envy any of
my Cusins, nor Pitrichie all the estate of Craigmyle which they have
caried away from me by any trew title of Law, so I would not think it
ather just or generous in any of them to dispute with me anything I
have a right clame to: nather doe I expect they will. It should be
strange if Sir Charles Maitland should become lesse my freind by
becoming more a relation. I know not why he might not (if he would)
doe his oun, the pupils and my businesse, all three with satisfactione to
all unlesse interest blind the eyes and byasse the judgment which I trust
in god no particular concern shall make me deal so with others, I hope
also I shall not be 50 dealt by nather. Iff you think I may renunce to
him or any other and that my interest may not suffer therby you need
but to let me know your mynd yranent as also concerning the comission
to examin Mr. Mareshels accounts by a line as soon as you please. Iff
you send me the draught of the comission with the names you think
fitt to insert I shall cause send it doun as you shall appoynt subscryved.
For I inteerly confide in your kyndnesse and freindship which maks me
not to mention particulars bot trust all to your care in the general. I
think I am secure enough in your honour But the interest you have in
the welfare of a cadet of your famelie gives me ane other ground of
reliance, I think also I may expect a kynd concernment in all the other
freinds I have named before who I think may assist you. I think the
cheifest thing to examin is whow the setting of the tacks heth bein
improven or fallen by male administration or the victual sold at for the
other burdings or incumbrances upon the land are known, And the
money remitted to me or drawn by me will exhaust the greatest part of
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his intromissions. I am become more tender at the age 1 am off then
ever my father wes at ane old age and utterly unfitt for any businesse
certain dayes (as he was) according as the weather rules; so that 1 need
much the help of some kynd freind ; And that my affaires were put into
ane good hand ; And it wold be ane furder satisfaction that they were
so manadged in Scotland as not only to please myself bot you especially.
I should be glad to have ane more exact account of the estate both of
Craigmyles and my Cusing Monbodos famelie since there deaths. Iff
you think it were advyseable to sell the right of lawe to the old estate of
Craigmyle which is now part of the joyntour lands of the lady you may
give me your oppinion, [ should think if the lady have sufficient
security for her joyntour aliunde that it wer unreasonable a joyntour
should exhaust the whole of ane old estate bot I know the law is most
favourable to womens joyntures that I know not what advantage 1 shall
mak of that tailzed estate unlesse by selling the right. [ am sure
whowever it stands to reason and all reasonable law that the tailzed
estate cannot be burdened with more than the proportionale part of the
debt. I doe not think I need say anything to you of my brother only I
desyre not to give him the truble of manadging my affaires upon account
of a reason easier supposed then to be named [ may give you a general
one That T never knew a brother manadge to ane other brothers mynd
bot we all knew one Andrew manadge for ane other Thomas of our
name to his sorrow and ruine. I am greived exceedinglie for his cariage
to his aunt Corsindae wherof she lamenteth to me bitterly. We are
fallen certainly into the last and worse tymes. I ad no more at present
bot my dewtifull respects to your worthie lady and all other freinds.

“deir Cusen
“Your most humble and obleidged servant
“T. BURNETT.”

“There is no discourse heir bot of the real designs and inclinationes of
the frensh to a gencral pace in so much that I had ane account from a
person that saw a letter from on of the deputies to the States in Holland
to one of the eminent merchands heir telling in terminis, he had imployed
his tyme, freinds, and money this long tyme to get the best intelligence
of the result of the treatment with the frensh ministers this summer ;
that the particulars were kept secret, Bot that certainly the last meeting
the great article of acknowledging the king of England by the Frensh
was aggreed to.”

“Sir T. B, fr. Mar. of Tul.”

When the death of the Duke of Gloucester opened to the Electress
the possible prospect of succession to the throne, he returned home
charged with secret instructions to carry her sentiments to some of the
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leading men in England. He went thence to Paris a few months before
the war of the Spanish Succession broke out. The recognition by
Louis XIV. of the Pretender, on James IL’s death, had caused a great
ferment in England, and was the immediate cause of Anne’s declaration
of war against France in May, 1702. At the instance of some of the
adherents of the Court of St. Germains, to whom he had become
obnoxious from his relations with the Electress, Burnett was suddenly
arrested on some frivolous pretext whilst copying a monumental inscrip-
tion, and hurried off to the Bastille, where he remained for a year and a
half. Accidents at length made his situation known to the Electress,
and through the powerful advocacy of her niece, the Duchess of Orleans,
he was restored to liberty about the close of 1703.

On his release from the Bastille, Thomas Burnett went to Geneva,
where he received letters of congratulation from his powerful patronesses
in reply to his thanks for their exertions on his behalf. The Electress
writes :—

“ A Hannover 16th de Fevrier 1704.

“La nouvelle que vous m’avés mandee, Monsieur, touchant votre
elargissement de la Bastille, aussi bien que votre heureuse arrivée a
Geneve, m’a ét¢ dautant plus agreeable que je suis ravie de vous savoir
a l'abri de ceux qui vous ont traité avec tant d’injustice. Je vous suis
cependant fort obligée des sentiments obligeans que vous me témoignés
a ce sujet, ct en méme temps fort aise d’avoir eu moyen de marquer a
quel point je m’interesse pour vous. Vous ne devés pas non plus douter
que je m’embrasse encore volontiers les occasions qui se presenteront de
vous donner des preuves de mon estime.

“Votre tres-affectionée
“SoPHIE ELECTRISE.”
The Queen of Prussia writes :—
“ A Hannover ce 16¢ de Fevrier 1704.

“Les remercimens que vous me faites, Monsieur, surpassent de
beaucoup le plasir que j'ai pu vous faire en contribuant par mes offices
a votre clargissement, et cela d’autant plus que c’est aux bontés de
Madame que vous devez principalement attribuer vétre liberté.  Je ne
laisse cependant pas de me rejouir avec vous de vous savoir si heureuse-
ment sorti de ce labyrinthe, et me reserve de vous en feliciter de bouche,
quand je vous verrai I'ét¢ prochain & Lutzebourg, ou je vous invite
d’avance. Au reste, vous devés étre persuadé que je prendrai toujours
part a ce qui poura vous regarder, et que j'aurai unec joye particuliere de
vous obliger dans les occasions qui s’en presenteront.

“ SOPHIE CHARLOTTE."



BURNETTS OF KEMNAY : IIl. GEORGE. 125

The Duchess of Orleans, daughter of the Elector Palatine, and
married to the Duke of Orleans, brother of Louis the fourteenth, to
whom he was principally indebted for his release, also writes to him :—

“Monsieur, Jai recu la lettre que vous m’avez escritte, les sentimens
de reconnoissance que vous avez du soin que j'ay pris de contribuer a la
liberté dont vous jouissez me renouvellent le plasir que jay eu alors de
vous en faire ; mais je n’avois garde de manquer & m’employer pour vous,
m’ayant este recommandé par des personnes qui me sont si chere, et qui
vous estiment. Je souhaite que votre contentement ne soit alteré par
aucune traverses, et vous assure qu'en toutes occasions je vous
temoigneray que je suis veritablement,

“ Monsieur,
“Votre bien bonne amie,
“ELISABETH CHARLOTTE.”
“ A Monsieur Burnet de Kemnay.”

In the year 1713, at the age of about 57, Thomas Burnett of Kemnay
married a young and beautiful wife, Elizabeth, daughter of Richard
Brickenden, of Inkpen, Berks, known in her family as “ Betty Brickenden,”
and settled at Kemnay. The remarrying of this lady, after his death,
with her sons’ tutor, gave offence to Mr. Burnett’s relations, and her
children were taken to Crathes and brought up by Sir Alexander
Burnett. In course of time the tutor, Dr. George Lamont, became a
distinguished physician in London, and at his death, at a great age, in
1795, his property passed to Mrs, Lamont’s grandson, Secretary Burnett
of Kemnay. This partly consisted of property in Kent, which Mr.
Burnett immediately sold, but, if retained, would have been of great
value, as Tunbridge Wells has since been built upon it. There are
portraits at Kemnay of “Betty Brickenden,” her second husband, Dr.
Lamont, and her brothers, one known as “ Beau Brickenden,” the richness
of whose costume illustrates the style affected by the exquisites of that
age. “Betty Brickenden” lies in St. Pancras Churchyard with her
daughter. Mr. Burnett died on the 26th February, 1729, leaving, besides
a daughter, Anne (b. 1717, d. 1787), a son, born 29th September, 1714.

II1.

GEORGE BURNETT OF KEMNAY, Thomas’s only son, married (1), at
the age of 20, the daughter of his cousin and guardian, Sir Alexander



126 THE FAMILY OF BURNETT OF LEYS.

Burnett of Leys, a lady whose worth and accomplishments were long
remembered in the country, and have been celebrated in verse. The
following lines describing her, after the fashion of the day, under a
pseudonym of “ Peggy,” occur in a poem called “ Don,” said to have been
originally written in 1655, but reprinted with addenda, and dedicated to
Hugh Rose of (? Kilravock), by a Colonel Forbes, in 1742 :—
“Mind Kemnay's seat, how beautifully placed,

With shady woods and flowery gardens graced ;

Sce how the feathered choir extend their throats

By nature taught—hark how they swell their notes.

Yet when fair Peggy, mistress of the grove,

Joins her sweet voice to sing the praise of love,

The birds sit listening to the wondrous song ;

The river calms and smoothly glides along ;

The gentle zephyrs with her tresses play,

And from her balmy breath steal sweets away.”
The lady died 215t September, 1750. He married (2) (October 25, 1751),
Janet, daughter of James Dyce of Disblair, who died 16th July, 1802,
without issue. Both wives lie in the same grave in Kemnay churchyard.

Kemnay House, when George Burnett took up his residence there,
was bleak and cheerless in its surroundings ; before his death the pleasure
grounds were reputed to be among the most beautiful in Scotland.

The Wilderness, an ornamental plantation of fine trees, including
larches, then a novelty, with a labyrinth of grass walks, a pond and a
“hermitage,” was an excellent specimen of the style of the day. This, as
well as the formal parterres and flower gardens, got into a neglected
condition in the beginning of the present century, during the minority of
the late Mr. Burnett, and the changes since made in them have taken
from their quaint character, The long straight avenue of beech trees,
meeting overhead, which now forms the principal approach, is still
unequalled in the district. George Burnett had also a great reputation
in his day as an agricultural improver. A man of active temperament
and strong will, he took a leading part in politics and county business,
and was reputed to be a strict disciplinarian in his own house and
elsewhere.

On the death of Sir Robert Burnett of Leys, only son of Sir
Alexander, who was in delicate health at the time of his father’s death,
and only survived him for about a year, a competition for the succession
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to the Leys Estates arose between Sir Thomas Burnett and the only son
of George Burnett of Kemnay, as heir of line through his mother, the
question turning on whether Sir Alexander had effectually altered the
investiture from personal to heirs general. The protracted litigation
which ensued has been fully dealt with in the history of the main line of
the family.

George Burnett left issue (1) Alexander, his successor; (2) Helen,
1734-1810; (3) Anne, 1736-1782; (4) Jane, 1739-1764; (5) Elizabeth,
1738- ; (6) Mary, 1747-1802. These five daughters were reputed
beauties in their day, and were sent on Aorseback from Kemnay to
Edinburgh every year to a school there, with a man servant to take care
of them! Jane was the only one married (to Alexander Dunbar of
Boath), and is buried at Auldearn.

IV.

ALEXANDER BURNETT OF KEMNAY was born 3rd July, 1735, and
succeeded his father in 1780. He had received part of his early
education at Leyden, and, in 1756, when Mr. Mitchell of Thainston
(afterwards Sir Andrew) was appointed Ambassador to the Prussian
Courts, he went abroad with him as Secretary. He attended Frederick
the Great, by whom he was held in high regard, during the campaigns
of the Seven Years’ War, conducted the correspondence during Mitchell’s
absence in 1765, and after Mitchell’'s death remained for a year at
Berlin as Chargé d’Affaires. There is a beautiful full-length portrait
of him at Kemnay, by Angelica Kaufmann. He married, in 1781,
Christian (who died 14th February, 1842), daughter of John Leslie,
Professor of Greek in Aberdeen University, by Christian, daughter and
heiress of Hugh Fraser of Powis, Co. Aberdeen. Besides his successor,
John, born in 1786, Mr. Burnett had a son George, who died in infancy,
and four daughters—

I. HELEN, born igth December, 1784, married, April, 1805, Dr. James
Bannerman, Professor of Medicine in the University of Aberdeen,
second son of Sir Alexander Bannerman of Elsick, and died
s.p. April, 1864.

II. ELIZABETH, born gth December, 1788 ; died, unmarried, 18th July,
1806,
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111. CHRISTIAN, born 17th October, 1789; died, unmarried, gth May, 1874.
1V. LAMONT, born 2nd June, 1791 ; died, unmarried, 27th September,
1842.
He died 30th December, 1802.

V.

Joun BURNETT OoF KEMNAY, father of the present proprietor, did
much by judicious improvements and encouragement of his tenantry to
increase the value of his property, and by the extensive woods which he
planted added greatly to its amenity.

He married, in 1814, Mary (who died March 1, 1872), daughter of
Charles Stuart, of Dunearn, Co. Fife, and died 22nd of December, 1847,
having six sons and two daughters—

I. ALEXANDER GEORGE, born 6th November,- 1816, the present

proprietor.

II. CHARLES JOHN, born 18th August, 1820.

I11. GEORGE, born gth March, 1822, admitted to the Scottish bar 1843,
appointed Lyon King of Arms 1866 ; married, at Dresden, 13th
August, 1870, his cousin Alison, daughter of John Alexander
Stuart, son of Charles Stuart of Dunearn, and has a son, John
George [now of Powis, Aberdeenshire], born 3oth March, 1876,
and a daughter Alice Christina, born 19th September, 1874.

IV. STUART MOUBRAY, born sth July, 1824; died, unmarried, gth
January, 1893.

V. HENRY MARTYN, born 2nd April, 1826 ; died 12th July, 1881.

VI. ERSKINE WILLIAM, born 16th December, 1828 ; died, unmarried,
31st October, 1848,

I. MARY ERSKINE, born sth May, 1815 ; died 25th April, 18g0.

[I. CHRISTINA LESLIE, born 1st September, 1818 ; died, unmarried,
2oth October, 1866.

Vi

ALEXANDER GEORGE OF KEMNAY, the present proprietor, succeeded
his father in 1847. He married, 4th September, 1849, Letitia Amelia
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(who died 3oth April, 1855), daughter of William Kendall of Bourton,
Gloucestershire, by whom he had two sons and two daughters :—

I. JoHN ALEXANDER, born 12th August, 1852; married, in 1877,
Charlotte Susan, daughter of Arthur Forbes Gordon of Rayne,
and has four sons and two daughters,

II. WiLLiaM KENDALL, born 6th February, 1854. Admitted
Advocate in Aberdeen, 1880. Married, in 1883, Margretta
Mary, daughter of Dr. J. C. L. Carson of Coleraine, and has
one son and three daughters.

I. LETITIA WILKINS, born 27th November, 1850.
II. AMELIA, born 22nd April, 1855.

Mr. Burnett married (2nd), 1877, Anna, daughter of the Rev. E.
Pledge, who died September, 1885 (by whom he had three sons and one
daughter) ; and (3rd), 1893, Emily Julia, daughter of Joseph Burch,
Tuddenham Hall, Ipswich.



CHAPTER VL
BURNETTS OF CRIMOND.

OBERT BURNETT, LorD CRIMOND, 1592-1661. Besides James

of Craigmyle, the first Baronet of Leys had another brother of

note, the father of the celebrated prelate, whose name is more widely

known than that of any of the other members of the Burnett family.

Robert Burnett of Crimond was an eminent lawyer at the Scottish bar,

of great learning, and high moral and religious principle. Unlike his

two brothers, he was an opponent of the Covenant, and that although
his wife was a sister of Johnston of Warristoun.

He was born in 1592, and was sent abroad at an early age to prosecute
his study of the law. He spent seven years in France, and in 1611 writes
to his elder brother, Thomas, complaining of the difficulties he found in
maintaining himself abroad :—

“Louing Brother

“1 meruell weriec much that sene I am in france ze haue
neuer daingzeid to wreit vnto me, I hauing wreit vnto zow so oft, albeit
I knaw ze micht haue haid the commoditie and occasion werie oft. I am
now no more wt Mr Gilbert bot left him the 16 of September, efter I haid
passed my courss ouer againe, quhairin I profited werie weil God be
praised. I haue gotten ane condition of my meat and 4o libb, qlk will
not in this countrey fournise me cloths for half ane zeir. And zit it is as
good ane condition as is in this countrey for ane priuat condition. The
natur of it is such (as of all vthirs in france) that I haue not half ane
hour in the day to reid in ane priuat studie, and so I am compelled to
tyne and spend the best of my age, and most meit for studies in teaching
bairns, quhen I sould imploy it in studicing to the Lawis, bot I protest
befor God the causs is not in me, for I must rather tyne my time so, then
die for hunger. My father dealls our hardlie wt me, and haid rather [
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neglected my studies, then that I cost some siluer til him in imploying
my tyme veill. Give he continue in that resolution, he will compell me
to take ane resolution that will not please him, and bind my self for euer
in france, qlk I haid done or now haid not my vncle impesched me. I
haue not leasour now to wreit vato zow langer. I haue wreit ane letter
to my father quhilk if he consider weil, will moue him to send me siluer.
I pray zow most earnestlie wreitt wnto me at the nixt occasion all zour
awin estat and if ze be married or no, and desyr my brother James to
wreitt to me, seeing I wrot so oft till him. I rest recommending zow and
all zour trauells to the protection of God.
“I pray zow recommend me to my sisters.
“Zour most Louing brother
“from Castres ~ “R. BURNET.”

“the 24 of Novemb. 1611.”

He was admitted to the Scottish bar on the 2oth February, 1617, and
married his first wife in 1620. That his career at the bar was a successful
one is evinced by the fact that in 1628 he acquired Banachtie and Mill of
Bourtie from William Seton of Meldrum, and, in 1634, Crimond (which
afterwards became his residence, and from which he took his territorial
appellation), in Aberdeenshire, from John Johnston of that Ilk. When
the “troubles” in Scotland broke out in 1637, Robert Burnett (we are
told by his grandson in his life of Bishop Burnett), although he had
censured the conduct of the Bishops with much warmth, soon saw that
instead of the reformation of the Episcopal order, it was the order itself
which was struck at, and opposed the violent and unjust proceedings of
the Assembly, and refused to subscribe to the Solemn League and
Covenant. In consequence of this opposition, he had to leave the
kingdom on three occasions, and to remain in exile at one time for five
years. Whilst the General Assembly was sitting at Glasgow in 1637,
engaged in passing sentences of deposition and excommunication against
the Bishops, Robert Burnet, who was then in Paris, wrote to his brother-
in-law, Archibald Johnston of Warristoun, protesting against the injustice
of the sentence passed upon Sydserfe, Bishop of Galloway. This letter
will be found in a note to Gordon’s Scots Affairs, Vol. IL,, p. 97 (Spalding
Club Series), and is taken from Lord Hailes’ Memorials and Letters
relating to the Reign of Charles the I. It is well worthy of reproduction
here, as breathing that spirit of toleration and impatience of injustice
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which he transmitted to his son Gilbert, Bishop of Salisbury. He writes
as follows :—

“ For Mr. Sydeserf, sometime Bishop of Galloway, he came here five
or six weeks ago, and by [without] my knowledge, by the address of
other Scotsmen, he took his chamber in the house where I am, and has
been since my being here. I could have wished he had not come here,
as long as 1 had been here, rather to have satisfied other men’s scruples,
whom I have no intention to offend, than my own ; for the Lord is my
witness, to whom I must answer in the last day, I think there was never
a more unjust sentence of excommunication than that which was pro-
nounced against some of these Bishops, and particularly against this man,
since the creation of the world ; and I am persuaded, that those who did
excommunicate him did rather excommunicate themselves from God,
than him; for I have known him these twenty-nine years, and I have
never known any wickedness or unconscientious dealings in him ; and I
know him to be a learneder and more conscientious man (although I will
not purge him of infirmities more than others) than any of those who
were upon his excommunication. And, alas, Brother! what would you
be at, that now when you have beggared him, and chased him by club-
law out of the country, would you have him reduced to despair, and will
you exact that every man, yea against his conscience, shall approve your
deeds, how unjust soever, yea out of the country? . . . As I wrote to
you before, none of the ministers of Paris would believe me, that you
would or durst excommunicate any for not subscribing that Covenant;
and the ministers declared to him, that, notwithstanding his excommuni-
cation, they would admit him to the communion, since his excommuni-
cation was not for any crime, but par raison d’etat seulement; but he
communicates with the English. All Scots and English here, both of
one party and other, respect him; and I assure you he defends the
Protestant religion stoutly against Papists, and none of our Scots Papists
dare meddle with him, after they had once essayed him. Be not too
violent then, and do as you would be done to, for you know not how the
world will turn yet.”

On his return to Scotland, which was connived at probably owing to
his relationship with Warristoun, he lived in retirement on his estate in
Aberdeenshire, as his principles would not permit him to accept employ-
ment offered him under Cromwell. At the restoration he was made a
Judge of the Court of Session in 1661, under the title of Lord Crimond,
but ke lived only a few months to enjoy his judicial dignity, dying in
August of the same year. Brodie of Brodie in his diary pays the
following tribute to his memory :—“27th August, 1661. I heard that
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Good Mr. Rob. Burnet, Crimond, was removed by death ; * The righteous
are taken away and perishing, none considering or laying it to bart, that
they ar taken away from the euel to come.’”

Lord Crimond’s will is curious and characteristic, and abounds in
praise of his wife, and good advice to his sons. He leaves his books to
be divided amongst his three sons, and his widow, who is to have one-
third of his moveables, is left tutrix to his sons.

He married, in 1620, Beatrix (who died in 1622), youngest daughter
and co-heir of William Maule of Glaster, son of Robert Maule of Pan-
mure, and had by her one daughter, Bethia (born 1622, died 1624).
Lord Crimond married, 2ndly, Rachel, daughter of James Johnston,
merchant in Edinburgh (by Elizabeth, daughter of Sir Thomas Craig,
the distinguished jurist), and sister of Sir Archibald Johnston, Lord
Warristoun, and had by her five sons and three daughters—

1. ALEXANDER, born 1629 ; died young.

II. ROBERT, born 1630. Admitted to the Scottish bar, 1656 ; died,
unmarried, 1662.

IT1. JAMES, born 1635 ; died young.

IV. (Sir) THOMAS, born 1638. Physician successively to Charles 1L,
James 11, William IIL, and Anne. Was author of various
medical works of repute in their day, particularly “ Hippocrates
Contractus,” and ® Thesaurus Medicinae Practicae Breviarium.”
He married, in 1662, Janet, daughter of Robert Bruce of Blairhill,
and sister of the Countess of Kincardine, and had a son, Gilbert,
an advocate, and one of the Commissioners of Excise, who
married a daughter of Sir William Hamilton of Preston, and
had a daughter, Anna—the only child that survived him—
married to James Halyburton of Pitcur. Of Sir Thomas’
daughters, one, Helen, was married (1st) to William Crawford,
younger of Auchinames, and (2nd) to Ralph Dundas of Manor
(with numerous descendants). The other, Euphemia, married
James Robertson, advocate, and P. C. S. (one of the Bedlay
family), with issue a daughter Janet, who became Countess of
Kincardine, and from whom the Elgin family are descended.
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V. GILBERT, Bishop of Salisbury, was the youngest son of Lord
Crimond and Rachel Johnston of Warristoun.

It would be beyond the scope of the present narrative to enter into a
detailed history of this celebrated prelate. A life of Bishop Burnet
would mean a history of the Revolution of 1688, and of the stirring
times before and after that event, so interwoven was it with the political
and religious history of the day. Still, a volume devoted to the Burnett
family would hardly be complete without something more than a passing
mention of its most distinguished member. The Deeside family may
well be proud of having produced a son of such eminent talents, un-
swerving honesty of purpose, and, above all, toleration, in a corrupt and
intolerant age.

Honesty was certainly not the prevailing fashion amongst politicians
of his time, and in that respect the Bishop stood out in bold relief
amongst those who, whilst holding office under William and Mary and
their successor, were more or less involved in treasonable correspondence
with the exiled family. The foibles and weaknesses of the Bishop’s
character have been handled with such virulence by his enemies that
posterity can afford to treat them with leniency, counter-balanced as they
are by his many virtues. Many of the most violent lampoons and satires
of the day were directed against him on account of the tolerant spirit he
displayed towards other religious bodies—a trait in his character which
would hardly be considered deserving of censure at the present time.

Gilbert Burnet was born in Edinburgh on the 18th of September,
1643, and baptized on the z1st of the same month. He received his
early education from his father, Lord Crimond, who was then in retire-
ment owing to his refusal to accept preferment under Cromwell, and
under his tuition made marvellous progress. At nine years of age he
could read Latin with ease, and was sent to Marischal College, Aberdeen,
where he studied with great success Greek, Mathematics, and Philosophy,
and was made Master of Arts in 1657, before he was fourteen years of
age. At the age of eighteen, his cousin, Sir Alexander Burnett of Leys,
offered him a family living, which he declined on the grounds that he
was too young to undertake such a charge.

In 1663 he spent six months in England, and visited the Universities
of Oxford and Cambridge, and in the following year he travelled in
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Holland and France, During this tour he mixed with men of all
religious denominations, and acquired that intense hatred to all form of
religious persecution which distinguished him through life. On his return
to Scotland, Sir Robert Fletcher of Saltoun offered him the living of
Saltoun in East Lothian, and in 1665 he was ordained a priest by the
Bishop of Edinburgh, and entered upon his charge. In 1669 he was
appointed Professor of Divinity at the University of Glasgow, and
removed to that town, where he remained for four years and a half, His
position there was by no means a pleasant one, as a man of his moderate
views was acceptable neither to the violent Presbyterians nor to the bigoted
Episcopalians. During his residence at Glasgow, Gilbert Burnet married,
in 1669, Lady Margaret Kennedy, daughter of John, 6th Earl of Cassillis,
by whom he had no family. This lady was an intimate friend of the
Duchess of Hamilton, at whose house he was a frequent guest, and where
he made her acquaintance.

In 1672 he wrote * A Vindication of the Authority, Constitution, and
Laws of the Church and State of Scotland,” and was offered a bishoprick
in Scotland, which he declined, In 1673 he went to London, where he
was received with great favour, and appointed one of the King’s chaplains,
This honorary appointment was, however, of brief duration, as his name
was struck off the list the following year, owing to the representations of
the Duke of Lauderdale that the failure of the Court measures in Scot-
land was due to his opposition. The hostility of this powerful nobleman,
then at the head of affairs in Scotland, rendered his residence in Glasgow
and retention of the professorship a matter of considerable danger to
Burnet's personal liberty, and in 1675 he resigned his chair at the
University, and settled in London. Here he remained nine years, during
which time he became celebrated as a preacher, and was appointed
Chaplain to the Rolls and Lecturer at St. Clement's. In 1679 he
published the first volume of his “History of the Reformation.” At
this time, when the enquiry into the so-called “Popish plot” was pro-
ceeding, he was much consulted by the King, who offered him the
Bishoprick of Chichester, Charles, however, attached such conditions
to the office, as made it impossible for a man of Burnet’s independence
of character to accept, and he accordingly declined it. It was about
this time that he felt it his duty to write to the King a letter of
remonstrance on his mode of life and conduct. This letter strikes the
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keynote of Burnet’s character. In the letter, which is couched in
perfectly respectful and appropriate language, he boldly rebukes the
King for his mode of lite, points out to him how he has lost the affection
of his subjects, and earnestly implores him to reform his Court by
dismissing those about him, “especially the women,” who are the causes
of his sin. There is little cause for wonder, after this outspoken
utterance, that Burnet had few friends in high places. He continues
in lofty and eloquent language his appeal to the King:—

“Sir, This counsel is almost as necessary for your affairs as for your
soul; and altho’ you have highly offended that God who has been
infinitely merciful to you in preserving you at Worcester fight and
during your long exile, and who brought you back so miraculously, yet
He is still good and gracious, and will upon your sincere repentance, and
change of life, pardon all your sins and receive you into favour. Oh!
Sir, what if you should die in the midst of all your sins? At the great
Tribunal, where you must appear, there will be no regard for the crown
you wear; but it will aggravate your punishment that, being in so
eminent a station, you have so much dishonoured God.”

And the writer of this letter is the man upon whom the venal politicians
of the day heaped all the coarsest abuse in their extensive vocabulary,
and accused, forsooth, of being a time server and a place hunter !

1683, the year of the Rye House plot, found Burnet strongly opposed
to the Court party. His friendship for Lord Russell, whom he attended
on the scaffold, and his subsequent vindication of his memory, were
offences not to be forgiven. On his return from a tour in France in 1684,
he was deprived of the Chaplaincy of the Rolls, and discharged from
lecturing at St. Clement’s. On the death of Charles II. he obtained
permission to leave England, where his position had become almost
intolerable, and, after travelling on the Continent for some time, settled
at the Hague, when he formed an attachment to William of Orange,
and his wife Mary, which lasted for the remainder of his life. At the
Hague, in 1688, Gilbert Burnet married his second wife, Mrs. Mary Scott,
who is thus described by her son:—“ A Dutch lady of large fortune and
“noble extraction. Her ancestor on the father’s side was a younger
“brother of the family of Buccleugh, who upon a quarrel in Scotland
“went over to Holland ; his son was a Brigadier General at the siege of
“Middleburgh in 1574, and afterwards Deputy for the Province of
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“Zealand in the Assembly of the States General; his grandson,
“ Appolonius Scot, who was the lady’s grandfather, was President of the
“ High Court. of Justice at the Hague. On the mother’s side, who was
“a De Ruyter, she was related to the principal families in Guelder.”

The successful issue of the Revolution of 1688, to which Gilbert
Burnet’s zeal and energy had in no small degree contributed, landed him
once more on the shores of his native country. In 1689, William
appointed him to the See of Salisbury, after giving a curt refusal to
his application in favour of his friend Dr. Lloyd, then Bishop of St.
Asaph, a characteristic trait in the King’s character. He also made him
Chancellor of the Order of the Garter. During the whole of the reign of
William and Mary, Bishop Burnet occupied a high position in the
estimation of both, although on several occasions his inconvenient habit
of speaking his mind to the King on subjects which did not immediately
concern him, must have sorely tried the patience of that reserved monarch.
While adversity had not depressed the indomitable spirit of the Bishop,
prosperity did not abate his zeal for religious toleration. An instance of
this occurred in his own diocese: he obtained the Royal permission to
connive at the existence of a non-juring meeting house under the shadow
of the Cathedral of Salisbury, and after the preacher there, Dr. Beach,
had delivered a sermon which brought him within a sentence of the law,
not only saved him from punishment, but obtained his pardon without
the form of a public recantation. In matters of religious and civil
toleration the Bishop was at least 150 years in advance of his age.

In 1698 the Bishop lost his second wife by small-pox, and in the
same year undertook the education of the young Duke of Gloucester.
He shortly afterwards married his third wife, Elizabeth (who died
1708), eldest daughter of Sir Richard Blake, Kt., and widow of Robert
Berkeley of Spetchley, Co. Worcester. This lady was authoress of “ A
Method of Devotion,” edited, after her death, by Dr. Goodwyn,
Archbishop of Cashel. In 1699 the Bishop published his “Exposition
of the 39 Articles of the Christian Religion.” During the last five or six
years of his life he retired from public affairs, and resided at St. John’s
Court, Clerkenwell, where he died of pleurisy, on the 17th of March,
1715, in the 72nd year of his age.

The event was announced to Sir Alexander Burnett of Leys by
T
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Gilbert, the Bishop’s nephew, in the following letter, preserved at
Crathes :—
“ Sir,

“T am desired by my Cussine, Mr. William Burnet, to send you
the melanchollie acount of the Bishop of Salisbury’s death, which hapned
the 17 instant, about five in the morning, after six days ilnes of a plurisy.
You have lost a good friend, for he had laid the present circumstances of
your family much to heart. I should be glad of having any occasion to
serve you. My humble service to your mother and lady. Be pleased to
acquaint Kemnay, his brother, and Montboddo.

“] am, with great respect, Sr,
“Edenb., March 23, “Your most humble servant,
raas, “GL BURNET.

The Bishop bequeathed a sum of twenty thousand merks Scots to
the parish of Saltoun, and a like amount to the Marischal College of
Aberdeen, “in remembrance of my education there, and I order the
Lairds of Lyes, as long as that Estate is in the Family of Burnets, to
have every year a Scholar in the first Class of the College . . . as I
do also desire, that to the said Scholarships one of the Name of Burnet
may be preferred, if he is duely qualified for it” (Fasti Acad. Marisc.,
i, 392).

Gilbert Burnet was buried beneath the altar in the old church of
Clerkenwell ; a plain blue slab marked his resting place, on which slab
were his arms carved in relief, surrounded by the Garter, bearing upon it the
familiar motto, “ Honi soit qui mal y pense.” Beneéath this was inscribed
in Roman characters, “ Here lies interred the Right Rev. Father in God,
Gilbert Burnet, D.D., Lord Bishop of Salisbury, Chancellor of the Most
Noble Order of the Garter, who departed this life, March 17, 1714-15, in
the 73rd year of his age.” This slab, which is still entire, the sculpture
upon it being well preserved, is in the vault beneath the church, at the
east end.* On the 7th of September, 1788, the corpse of Burnet was

" The following interesting description of the Bishop's monument is taken from ¢ The
History of Clerkenwell ™ :—

“In the vestibule of St. James Church, on the south side, is a beautiful monument of white
marble, to the me